
 CITY OF HAYS COMMISSION MEETING 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 24, 2013 – 6:30 P.M.  

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Call to order by Chairperson.   
 

2. MINUTES: Consider approval of the minutes from the regular meeting held on          
January 10, 2013. (PAGE 1) 

 
3. FINANCIAL STATEMENT: Consider accepting the Financial Statement for the month of 

December, 2012. (PAGE 5) 
 

4. CITIZEN COMMENTS:  (non-agenda items). 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA:  (Items to be approved by the Commission in one motion, unless 
objections are raised).  
 

Mayoral Appointment (recommendation): Sister Cities Advisory Board (PAGE 65) 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

(No business to review) 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

6. REQUEST BY ELLIS COUNTY – SUPPORT FOR SALES TAX LEGISLATION: 
Consider providing a Letter of Support for Ellis County in support of the necessary 
legislation allowing the County to keep all sales tax proceeds if a sales tax is approved 
regarding funding to build a joint EMS/Rural Fire facility and improvements to the Ellis 
County courthouse and jail. (PAGE 67) 

 
7. RESTRIPING OF 27TH STREET BETWEEN PLUM AND HALL: Consider authorizing the 

removal of on-street parking and the restriping of 27th Street between Plum and Hall to a 
three-lane configuration. (PAGE 81) 

 
8. BIKE HAYS MASTER PLAN: Consider approving the Bike Hays Master Plan.             

(PAGE 99) 
 

9. TRANSPORTATION ENHANCEMENT GRANT APPLICATION – HIKE AND BIKE: 
Consider approving Resolution No. 2013-002 to apply for Transportation Enhancement 
Program funds as part of the Bike Hays Master Plan and authorizing the use of $100,000 
from the Stormwater budget as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap. (PAGE 185) 

 
10. DEVELOPER AGREEMENT – WHEATLAND LOTS: Consider authorizing the City 

Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell Dreher for the construction of sanitary sewer 
and street improvements to serve the lots along Wheatland Avenue. (PAGE 189) 

 



 
11. ENGINEERING AGREEMENT – WATERLINE DESIGN: Consider authorizing the City 

Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw Valley Engineering for engineering services for 
the design of waterline upgrades and replacements to be funded from the Water and 
Sewer Capital reserve funds. (PAGE 195) 

 
12. PROGRESS REPORT 

 
13. REPORT OF THE CITY MANAGER  (PAGE 235) 
 
14. COMMISSION INQUIRIES AND COMMENTS   
 
15. EXECUTIVE SESSION (IF REQUIRED) 

 
16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 

ANY PERSON WITH A DISABILITY NEEDING SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS TO ATTEND THIS MEETING 
SHOULD CONTACT THE CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING 
TIME.  EVERY ATTEMPT WILL BE MADE TO ACCOMMODATE ANY REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE. 



MINUTES OF A MEETING 

OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 

THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 

HELD ON JANUARY 10, 2013 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIRMAN:  The Governing Body of the City of Hays, 

Kansas met in regular session on Thursday, January 10, 2013 at 6:30 p.m. 

   Roll Call:  Present: Troy Hickman 

      Kent Steward 

      Henry Schwaller IV 

      Ron Mellick 

      Eber Phelps 

 Chairperson Hickman declared that a quorum was present and called the 

meeting to order. 

2.  MINUTES: There were no corrections or additions to the minutes of the 

regular session held on December 27, 2012; the minutes stand approved as 

presented. 

3.  CITIZEN COMMENTS:  There were no comments. 

4.  CONSENT AGENDA: Henry Schwaller IV moved, Ron Mellick seconded, that 

Reese Barrick be appointed to the Hays Convention and Visitors Bureau 

Advisory Committee for a three-year term to expire December 1, 2015. 

   Vote: Ayes: Troy Hickman 

     Kent Steward 

     Henry Schwaller IV 

     Ron Mellick 

     Eber Phelps 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

5.  DISBANDMENT OF NEIGHBORHOOD REVITALIZATION/DOWNTOWN 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD:   The Commission asked for a discussion of 

1



the various committees serving Hays to be placed on the January 3, 2013 work 

session agenda.  The discussion regarding these boards and committees 

revolved around the possibility of instituting term limits as well as the necessity of 

each committee.  After review and discussion of the Neighborhood 

Revitalization/Downtown Development Review Board, it was determined that due 

to the many vacancies on the board, and the difficulty in finding qualified, if any, 

members to serve on the board, the procedural details of the board could be 

reviewed by staff with input from the City Commission, thereby disbanding the 

board.  While there are many cities in the state of Kansas that have 

neighborhood revitalization districts, there are no other cities that have a 

neighborhood revitalization board. 

 Henry Schwaller IV moved, Eber Phelps seconded, that Resolution No. 

2013-001, being a resolution eliminating the Neighborhood 

Revitalization/Downtown Development Review Board for the City of Hays, 

Kansas, transferring all of its duties, powers, and responsibilities to the Planning 

and Inspection Department of the City of Hays, Kansas, be approved. 

   Vote: Ayes: Troy Hickman 

     Kent Steward 

     Henry Schwaller IV 

     Ron Mellick 

     Eber Phelps 

6.  ELLIS COUNTY COALITION FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD – 

CITY OF HAYS REPRESENTATIVE:  Henry Schwaller IV moved, Ron Mellick 

seconded, that Kent Steward be chosen as the representative of the City of Hays 

on the Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development Board for 2013. 

   Vote: Ayes: Troy Hickman 

     Kent Steward 

     Henry Schwaller IV 

     Ron Mellick 

     Eber Phelps 

2



 Commissioner Phelps mentioned that he holds an at-large position on the 

Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development Board for another year. 

7.  REPORT OF THE CITY MANAGER:  The City Manager had no additional 

items to report on. 

8.  COMMISSION INQUIRIES AND COMMENTS:   Commissioner Schwaller 

asked if members of the Commission will be part of the Western Kansas 

Congressional delegation that attends annual meetings in Washington D. C. 

 City Manager Toby Dougherty said that some of the Commissioners will 

be attending this year as part of the delegation that represents Hays, Dodge City, 

Garden City, Liberal, Great Bend, Seward County, Ford County, Finney County, 

as well as some other entities including economic development groups and 

Chamber of Commerce groups.   

 Commissioner Schwaller stated he feels the trips are not effective.  The 

cost is very high and only two members of Congress want to meet with us.  It 

might work for other municipalities, but he does not feel that anything is 

accomplished for the City of Hays.  He feels a letter could be just as effective as 

attending the sessions. 

  

 The meeting was adjourned at 6:46 p.m. 

 

 Submitted by:_____________________________________________ 

     Doris Wing – City Clerk 

 

  

3



 

4



City of Hays 
Finance Department 

Memo 
DATE: January 17, 2012 

TO: Toby Dougherty, City Manager 

CC: Paul Briseno, Asst City Manager 

FROM: Kim Rupp, Finance Director 

RE: December 2012 Monthly Financial 

The attached report contains the financial summaries of the revenue and expenditure 
activities of the City of Hays for the month ended December 31, 2012. 

Period to Date Financial Performance 

Revenues in December totaled $1,664,525 a decrease of $550,235 compared to the 
same period as last year.    

• Notable areas of increased revenue compared to December 2011 

o December residential and business water consumption was up a 
combined 29.1% when compared to this time last year.  This results in 
a total increase of $44,664 for the month.  YTD consumption for 
business and residential ended the year up 8.71%.  This translates 
into a YTD total water and conservation revenue increase of 8.85% or 
$256,705. 

• Notable areas of revenue decrease compared to December 2011 

o  Business Licenses for General Government Revenues fell 
approximately $22,800 reflecting the semi-annual permitting process. 

o Another significant decrease in revenue for the General Fund was in 
sales tax collections which is addressed later in this report. 

o Court fines in public safety revenues shows a net decrease for the 
month in excess of $39,000 however this includes a year end auditor 
adjusting journal entry to clear out the receivables.  When comparing 
actual court fine receipts to last year there is a slight increase of 
$1,458.  Court fines increased $36,938 over last year and ended 
2012 at $29,435 above budgeted revenue expectations. 

5



Expenditures in December totaled $1,804,525 which is an increase of $421,527 as compared 
to 2011.    

• Notable areas of expenditure increases compared to December 2011 

o Other contractual for Information Technology rose $18,565 a large 
portion of which was for the Police Dept Enterpol Software 
maintenance contract renewal. 

o Projects for Stormwater management increased as a result of a 
transfer to capital projects to accommodate for future flood control 
projects 

o A transfer to capital improvement reserves in the amount of $500,000 
increased water and sewer non-operating expenditures.  There wasn’t 
a transfer of this nature budgeted or completed last year. 

• Notable areas of expenditure decreases compared to December 2011 

o Airport fund expenditures dropped $335,000 due to a transfer to 
airport improvement this time last year in anticipation of a large project 
at the airport in the near future. 

o City Commission Financial Policy projects fell due to the approved 
transfers out this time last year in the amount of $1,177,000 for the 
41st Street reconstruction project and $615,994 for the new runway 
construction at the airport. 

o Special park and recreation expenditures fell $179,250 for the back 
nine irrigation this time last year. 

MTD sales tax collections for the Sports Complex were $227,641 which was a decrease of 
$27,571 when compared to last year. Total YTD collections are $2,984,766 and ITD 
collections total $9,925,849.  

General Fund sales tax collections in December 2012 were down as compared to 2011.  
MTD general fund sales tax collections were at $555,204 down $67,090 or -10.78% as 
compared to last year.  This brings YTD general fund sales tax collections up $354,056 or 
5.09%.  The six month running average on sales tax collections is now at 4.41%.  

 
The attached report of quarter to date (QTD) sales tax collections by industry classification 
indicates a small decrease of $13,181 or -.55% when comparing the top ten sales tax 
collecting industries for the City of Hays.   These top ten now represent 69.9% of the total city 
wide sales tax collections. 
 
Also attached is a YTD sales tax collections by industry classification report.  Staff was 
curious how this report would compare to the total sales tax collection for the City.  It is 
interesting to note that the growth of 4.89% over the past year almost mirrors that of the sales 
tax growth for the general fund.  One other interest of note is the fact that the largest category 
on this report, General Merchandise Stores, experienced a decrease of -4.76% during the 
past year.  This category represents 18.1% of the total sales tax collections for the City and 
you can tell as illustrated on the report that the other industries experienced good growth over 
the year to make up for it. 
 

6



The Finance/City Clerks office invested $4,000,000 of new or renewing certificates with a 
weighted average interest rate of .1975%. The portfolio of certificates of deposit on 
December 31, 2012 totaled $48,950,000 with a weighted average interest rate of .23%.  The 
total balance of the Money Market account on December 31, 2012 was $500,000 with a 
current yield of .20%.  Total investments are up $5,750,000 when compared to this time last 
year.   

 

7



Total Cash in All Funds $50,008,123.42 

Checking Accounts with Banks $556,623.42 

Money Market Accounts $500,000.00 

Investments $48,950,000.00 

Cash in Office $1,500.00 

TOTAL $50,008,123.42 

General Obligation Bonds $13,970,000.00 

Temporary Notes $0.00 

State Revolving Loan Fund $575,957.53 

Revenue Bonds $3,835,000.00 

Lease Purchase Agreements $1,259,695.27 

$19,640,652.80 

STATEMENT OF CREDITS

STATEMENT OF CURRENT OBLIGATIONS

CASH BALANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENT

CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS

This Document is for Internal Use and Represents Un-audited Figures

As of December 31, 2012

G:\Excel\Financial St.xls

8



Interest Interest

Date Issued Maturity Date Rate at Maturity

Commerce Bank Certificates of Deposit

CD #

143 1,000,000.00                  1/30/2012 12/28/2012 0.18% 1,642.19                

144 500,000.00                     1/30/2012 1/11/2013 0.18% 855.62                   

145 500,000.00                     1/30/2012 1/25/2013 0.18% 890.14                   

816 2,500,000.00                  2/24/2012 2/8/2013 0.16% 3,835.62                

613 2,500,000.00                  3/23/2012 2/22/2013 0.16% 3,682.19                

840 650,000.00                     5/1/2012 3/9/2013 0.13% 722.30                   

841 650,000.00                     5/1/2012 3/23/2013 0.13% 754.71                   

830* 1,000,000.00                  3/30/2012 4/5/2013 0.17% 1,727.94                

963 2,000,000.00                  5/4/2012 4/19/2013 0.17% 3,260.27                

747 500,000.00                     5/30/2012 5/3/2013 0.14% 648.22                   

748 500,000.00                     5/30/2012 5/17/2013 0.14% 675.07                   

32* 1,000,000.00                  6/7/2012 6/14/2013 0.17% 1,732.60                

230* 1,000,000.00                  6/15/2012 6/28/2013 0.17% 1,695.34                

698 1,000,000.00                  6/28/2012 6/28/2013 0.17% 1,769.86                

731* 1,000,000.00                  6/29/2012 7/12/2013 0.17% 1,695.34                

813 1,000,000.00                  7/27/2012 7/16/2013 0.19% 1,842.74                

205 1,000,000.00                  8/10/2012 7/26/2013 0.19% 1,821.92                

931* 1,000,000.00                  8/1/2012 8/9/2013 0.20% 2,043.84                

003 1,000,000.00                  9/7/2012 8/23/2013 0.17% 1,630.14                

652 1,000,000.00                  8/24/2012 8/23/2013 0.21% 2,094.24                

876* 750,000.00                     8/31/2012 9/6/2013 0.21% 1,570.69                

901 1,450,000.00                  10/21/2011 10/21/2013 0.33% 9,583.11                

757 1,000,000.00                  10/5/2012 11/1/2013 0.22% 2,362.74                

348 1,300,000.00                  11/4/2011 11/4/2013 0.31% 8,060.00                

453 1,200,000.00                  10/30/2012 11/30/2013 0.20% 2,597.26                

538* 1,000,000.00                  11/2/2012 12/13/2013 0.20% 2,224.65                

487* 1,000,000.00                  12/3/2012 12/27/2013 0.19% 2,024.93                

486* 1,000,000.00                  12/3/2012 1/10/2014 0.20% 2,208.22                

923* 1,000,000.00                  12/14/2012 2/6/2014 0.20% 2,295.89                

194* 1,000,000.00                  12/24/2012 3/7/2014 0.20% 2,339.73                

050 1,200,000.00                  4/6/2012 4/6/2014 0.25% 5,999.99                

33* 2,000,000.00                  6/7/2012 5/30/2014 0.30% 11,868.49              

Sunflower Bank Certificates of Deposit

CD #

Equity Bank Certificates of Deposit

CD #

558 1,750,000.00                  10/1/2012 10/18/2013 0.25% 4,578.77                

594 1,000,000.00                  10/8/2012 11/15/2013 0.24% 2,649.86                

486 2,000,000.00                  6/1/2012 5/31/2013 0.16% 3,191.23                

531 2,000,000.00                  9/21/2012 9/20/2013 0.28% 5,584.66                

549 1,000,000.00                  9/27/2012 10/4/2013 0.31% 3,159.45                

423 3,000,000.00                  1/23/2012 1/24/2014 0.40% 24,065.74              

540 2,000,000.00                  9/21/2012 2/21/2014 0.38% 10,785.75              

477 1,000,000.00                  5/30/2012 5/16/2014 0.31% 6,200.00                

First National Bank Certificates of Deposit

CD #

Emprise Bank Certificates of Deposit

CD#

Bank of Hays Certificates of Deposit

CD#

48,950,000.00                148,371.45            

Emprise Bank

MMA 0.00

Commerce Bank

MMA 500,000.00 0.20%

Golden Belt Bank - main checking account ending balance is $ 11,120.44.   Annual percentage yield  earned .05%.  

Interest earned was $ 3.36.   Interest paid this year $ 239.98.  

CITY OF HAYS

INVESTMENTS AS OF 

12/31/2012

9



SALES TAX RECEIPTS
City of Hays
General Fund 1.25%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Change from YTD % Change
actual actual actual actual actual 2011 from 2011

January $537,828 $618,869 $539,129 $543,135 $611,353 $68,218 12.56%
February $664,628 $524,074 $496,164 $686,869 $702,298 $15,429 6.80%
March $514,889 $587,117 $551,958 $576,013 $563,583 ($12,430) 3.94%
April $435,457 $482,080 $417,362 $460,066 $509,945 $49,879 5.34%
May  $537,289 $420,206 $519,366 $569,624 $611,234 $41,610 5.74%
June $566,619 $477,236 $522,834 $573,474 $608,325 $34,851 5.79%
July  $534,584 $564,768 $511,370 $570,421 $621,448 $51,027 6.25%
August $568,799 $455,451 $567,989 $555,561 $671,019 $115,458 8.03%
September $572,528 $546,619 $543,507 $573,336 $572,295 ($1,041) 7.11%
October $584,665 $583,108 $592,063 $648,649 $648,340 ($309) 6.30%
November $520,603 $522,049 $525,702 $580,035 $638,490 $58,455 6.65%
December $490,800 $558,861 $541,345 $622,295 $555,204 ($67,091) 5.09%

TOTALS $6,528,689 $6,340,438 $6,328,789 $6,959,478 $7,313,534 $354,056
6.24% ‐2.88% ‐0.18% 9.97%

Total Inc/dec over previous year

January  8.37%
February 8.90%
March 7.59%
April 7.69%
May 7.22%
June 5.79%
July 5.25%
August 8.48%
September 8.84%
October 6.92%
November  7.38%
December 4.41%

2011 ‐ 2012

**General Fund revenues provide funding for City services including police, fire, street, parks, swimming pool
and golf course.  It also provides funding to outside agencies such as Economic Development, Downtown Hays
Development, United Way CARE Council and Fort Hays State Scholarships.

6 month running avg

$6,528,689

$6,340,438 $6,328,789

$6,959,478

$6,000,000

$6,200,000

$6,400,000

$6,600,000

$6,800,000

$7,000,000

2008 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Actual

10



2011 2012 $$ inc/dec % inc/dec % of 2012 Total
452 General Merchandise Stores $703,700 $611,266 ($92,434) -13.14% 18.08%

441 Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers $468,838 $522,502 $53,664 11.45% 15.45%

722 Food Services and Drinking Places $303,684 $322,379 $18,695 6.16% 9.53%

444 Building Material and Garden Supply $278,069 $281,418 $3,349 1.20% 8.32%

445 Food and Beverage $185,160 $176,978 ($8,182) -4.42% 5.23%

517 Telecommunications $92,754 $85,587 ($7,167) -7.73% 2.53%

448 Clothing and Clothing Accessories $111,134 $118,775 $7,641 6.88% 3.51%

423 Merchant Wholesalers, Durable Goods $100,447 $108,870 $8,423 8.39% 3.22%

721 Accommodation $73,499 $74,175 $676 0.92% 2.19%

451 Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book & Music $59,775 $61,929 $2,154 3.60% 1.83%

$2,377,060 $2,363,879 ($13,181) -0.55% 69.90%

Sales Tax Collections by Industry Classification - Top Ten
QTD 2011-2012 Oct, Nov, Dec

11



2011 2012 $$ inc/dec % inc/dec % of 2012 Total
452 General Merchandise Stores $2,553,599 $2,431,989 ($121,610) -4.76% 18.11%

441 Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers $1,730,119 $1,991,187 $261,068 15.09% 14.82%

722 Food Services and Drinking Places $1,145,539 $1,229,659 $84,120 7.34% 9.16%

444 Building Material and Garden Supply $973,747 $1,073,851 $100,104 10.28% 8.00%

445 Food and Beverage $775,093 $804,111 $29,018 3.74% 5.99%

517 Telecommunications $401,984 $369,905 ($32,079) -7.98% 2.75%

448 Clothing and Clothing Accessories $429,351 $465,149 $35,798 8.34% 3.46%

423 Merchant Wholesalers, Durable Goods $397,809 $464,030 $66,221 16.65% 3.45%

721 Accommodation $240,372 $246,443 $6,071 2.53% 1.83%

451 Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book & Music $208,662 $213,391 $4,729 2.27% 1.59%

$8,856,275 $9,289,715 $433,440 4.89% 69.16%

Sales Tax Collections by Industry Classification - Top Ten
YTD 2011-2012

12



MONTHLY   STATEMENT OF CITY TREASURER

12/1/2012 THROUGH 12/31/2012

BALANCE

12/1/2012 RECEIPTS DISBURSEMENTS

BALANCE

12/31/2012FUND

 1,500.00$1,500.00 Cash Drawer $1,500.00 

 5,236,486.30$5,236,486.30 General  743,797.84  1,050,756.43 $4,929,527.71 

 1,000.00$1,000.00 Petty Cash $1,000.00 

 3,221,180.75$3,221,180.75 Reserve Budget Stabilization  0.00  0.00 $3,221,180.75 

 65,711.45$65,711.45 Library $65,711.45 

 174,681.90$174,681.90 Airport  7,211.57  35,168.99 $146,724.48 

 472,221.57$472,221.57 Public Safety Equipment  0.00  388,827.72 $83,393.85 

 1,221,699.33$1,221,699.33 Employee Benefit Contribution  4,052.13  252,920.61 $972,830.85 

 491,704.86$491,704.86 Special Highway  0.00  3,715.79 $487,989.07 

 275,025.31$275,025.31 Special Park & Recreation  39,477.50  4,671.03 $309,831.78 

 157,096.56$157,096.56 Special Alcohol Program  33,627.95  0.00 $190,724.51 

 671,429.04$671,429.04 Convention & Tourism  3,673.31  37,715.62 $637,386.73 

 2,237,619.90$2,237,619.90 New Equipment Reserve  313.86 (369,343.00) $2,607,276.76 

 0.00$0.00 Grants $0.00 

 7,305.78$7,305.78 Library Employee Benefit $7,305.78 

 27,940.39$27,940.39 Golf Course Improvement $27,940.39 

 5,026.93$5,026.93 Park Development - Green Space $5,026.93 

 911,683.57$911,683.57 Sports Complex  227,641.00  1,011.96 $1,138,312.61 

 245,389.19$245,389.19 Stormwater Management  0.00  34,745.74 $210,643.45 

 1,670,706.50$1,670,706.50 Capital Projects  0.00 (330,774.83) $2,001,481.33 

 1,003,150.98$1,003,150.98 Airport Improvement  0.00  3,321.85 $999,829.13 

 298,279.69$298,279.69 Bond & Interest $298,279.69 

 16,369.33$16,369.33 TDD Sales Tax  20,848.25  0.00 $37,217.58 

 136,259.78$136,259.78 Home Depot Econ Dev Bds  13,899.00  0.00 $150,158.78 

 24,608.90$24,608.90 Home Depot Econ Dev Bds (Cash Restr.) $24,608.90 

 0.00$0.00 48th/Roth Ave. - CID $0.00 

$0.00 

 65,352.00$65,352.00 Restricted Cash - 2009 A Bonds $65,352.00 

 22,618,416.72$22,618,416.72 Sales Tax (Cash Reserve)  0.00  24,583.54 $22,593,833.18 

 5,822,571.74$5,822,571.74 Water & Sewer  728,100.32  954,760.51 $5,595,911.55 

 102,030.92$102,030.92 Water & Sewer (Bond & Interest Reserve) $102,030.92 

 118,334.00$118,334.00 Water & Sewer (Bond Reserve Account) $118,334.00 

 948,661.93$948,661.93 Water & Sewer (Capital Reserve)  0.00 (500,000.00) $1,448,661.93 

 429,536.92$429,536.92 Water & Sewer(Reserve 2009A)  0.00 (24,962.92) $454,499.84 

 502,027.75$502,027.75 Solid Waste Fund  2,908.76  54,827.26 $450,109.25 

 412,653.22$412,653.22 Solid Waste Reserve  0.00 (89,023.00) $501,676.22 

 0.00$0.00 Fire Insurance Trust $0.00 

Data date & time 1/17/2013  1:21:52PM

13



BALANCE

12/1/2012 RECEIPTS DISBURSEMENTS

BALANCE

12/31/2012FUND

 0.00$0.00 $0.00 

 107,861.56$107,861.56 Municipal Court Agency Fund  0.00 (13,970.46) $121,832.02 

$50,008,123.42 
$49,701,524.77 

$1,825,551.49 1,518,952.84

Data date & time 1/17/2013  1:21:52PM

14



City of Hays Revenues

Month of December

Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

General

CULTURE & RECREATION REVENUES

Total Revenues

$420,316.00 $34,994.73 $419,718.33 ($597.67)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT REVENUES

Total Revenues

$10,517,197.00 $704,088.11 $11,005,304.06 $488,107.06 

PUBLIC SAFETY REVENUES

Total Revenues

$513,000.00 $1,882.50 $578,547.01 $65,547.01 

PUBLIC WORKS REVENUES

Total Revenues

$9,300.00 $2,375.00 $19,110.00 $9,810.00 

Library

LIBRARY FUND REVENUES

Total Revenues

$1,211,529.00 $0.00 $1,256,680.92 $45,151.92 

Airport

AIRPORT FUND REVENUES

Total Revenues

$337,196.00 $5,496.57 $326,170.40 ($11,025.60)

Employee Benefit

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT REVENUES

Total Revenues

$3,234,778.00 $174.36 $3,487,524.09 $252,746.09 

Special Highway

SPECIAL HIGHWAY REVENUES

Total Revenues

$594,010.00 $0.00 $578,851.68 ($15,158.32)

Special Park & Rec

SPECIAL PRK & REC REVENUES

Total Revenues

$118,813.00 $39,477.50 $152,849.45 $34,036.45 

Special Alcohol Fund

SPECIAL ALCOHOL FUND REVENUES

Total Revenues

$118,813.00 $33,627.95 $137,818.74 $19,005.74 

Convention & Visitors Bureau

CONVENTION & VISITOR'S REVENUE

Total Revenues

$697,000.00 $3,636.93 $796,012.90 $99,012.90 

Library Employee Benefit

LIBRARY EMP. BENEFIT REVENUES

Total Revenues

$169,586.00 $0.00 $174,487.57 $4,901.57 

Risk Management

RISK MANAGEMENT REVENUES

Total Revenues

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Golf Course Improvement

GOLF COURSE IMPR. FUND REVENUE

Total Revenues

$0.00 $0.00 $26,635.00 $26,635.00 

Park Development

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND-REVENUE

Total Revenues

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Sports Complex

SPORTS COMPLEX-REVENUES

Total Revenues

$0.00 $227,641.00 $3,064,765.00 $3,064,765.00 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REVENUES

Total Revenues

$686,000.00 $58,151.54 $776,675.28 $90,675.28 

Bond & Interest

BOND & INTEREST REVENUES

Total Revenues

$1,468,813.00 $0.00 $1,506,080.54 $37,267.54 

Period (Month) =  12.00

15



Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

TDD Sales Tax

TDD SLS TAX   REVENUES

Total Revenues

($56,562.92) $20,848.25 $222,570.62 $279,133.54 

Home Depot Economic Dev Bonds

H DEPOT-ECON DEV BND-REVENUES

Total Revenues

$206,406.00 $13,899.00 $216,731.72 $10,325.72 

48th/Roth Ave. - CID

48TH/ROTH AVE CID-REVENUES

Total Revenues

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Water & Sewer

WATER & SEWER FUND REVENUES

Total Revenues

$8,051,159.00 $638,207.78 $8,531,515.47 $480,356.47 

Solid Waste

SOLID WASTE FUND REVENUES

Total Revenues

$1,268,900.00 $107,664.80 $1,301,045.81 $32,145.81 

Fire Insurance Trust

FIRE INS TRUST REVENUES

Total Revenues

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Grand Totals $29,566,253.08 $1,892,166.02 $34,579,094.59 $5,012,841.51 

Period (Month) =  12.00

16



City of Hays Expenditures

Month of  December

Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

General

BALLFIELD MAINTENANCE

Total Expenditures $58,300.00 $883.14 $22,823.67 $35,476.33 

BUILDINGS & GROUNDS

Total Expenditures $446,850.00 $61,292.69 $449,101.74 ($2,251.74)

CEMETERIES

Total Expenditures $13,500.00 $142.19 $7,630.88 $5,869.12 

CITY ATTORNEY

Total Expenditures $101,000.00 $9,737.50 $130,573.72 ($29,573.72)

CITY COMMISSION

Total Expenditures $2,966,330.00 $250,894.22 $2,158,528.88 $807,801.12 

CITY MANAGER

Total Expenditures $437,300.00 $34,023.96 $389,716.94 $47,583.06 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Total Expenditures $256,205.00 $532.70 $247,337.72 $8,867.28 

FINANCE/CITY CLERK

Total Expenditures $416,805.00 $37,851.99 $381,900.02 $34,904.98 

FIRE DEPARTMENT

Total Expenditures $1,334,830.00 $129,113.92 $1,275,114.15 $59,715.85 

FLEET MAINTENANCE

Total Expenditures $868,490.00 $72,942.83 $724,194.44 $144,295.56 

GOLF COURSE

Total Expenditures $345,065.00 $17,780.91 $323,166.73 $21,898.27 

HUMAN RESOURCES

Total Expenditures $180,470.00 $17,682.61 $159,573.30 $20,896.70 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Total Expenditures $497,780.00 $65,892.09 $474,713.13 $23,066.87 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNT

Total Expenditures $329,320.00 $11,098.84 $335,582.95 ($6,262.95)

MUNICIPAL COURT

Total Expenditures $144,760.00 $14,934.69 $139,760.93 $4,999.07 

P.W.-GENERAL ADMINISTRATION

Total Expenditures $250,510.00 $24,287.04 $223,154.10 $27,355.90 

PARKS & PLAYGROUNDS

Total Expenditures $832,140.00 $69,690.61 $798,769.49 $33,370.51 

PLANNING INSPECTION ENFORCEMEN

Total Expenditures $287,239.00 $27,540.31 $261,025.87 $26,213.13 

POLICE DEPARTMENT

Total Expenditures $2,511,900.00 $226,449.13 $2,333,139.91 $178,760.09 

PUBLIC WORKS-SERVICE DIVISION

Total Expenditures $832,980.00 $74,230.14 $681,493.12 $151,486.88 

QUALITY OF LIFE

Total Expenditures $33,182.00 $0.00 $33,182.00 $0.00 

SOCIAL SERVICES

Total Expenditures $164,000.00 $0.00 $164,000.00 $0.00 

SWIMMING POOL

Total Expenditures $108,200.00 $8,671.42 $61,806.87 $46,393.13 

Library

LIBRARY FUND EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $1,211,529.00 $0.00 $1,208,288.27 $3,240.73 

Airport

AIRPORT FUND EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $443,174.00 $39,093.56 $309,463.77 $133,710.23 

Employee Benefit

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $3,591,413.00 $249,337.09 $3,489,972.04 $101,440.96 

Special Highway

SPECIAL HIGHWAY EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $667,742.00 $3,715.79 $642,081.03 $25,660.97 

Period (Month) =  12.00

17



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

Special Park & Rec

SPECIAL PRK & REC EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $852,120.00 $670.23 $35,200.99 $816,919.01 

Special Alcohol Fund

SPECIAL ALCOHOL FUND EXPENDITU

Total Expenditures $305,850.00 $0.00 $137,727.00 $168,123.00 

Convention & Visitors Bureau

CVB EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $1,032,046.00 $41,117.16 $658,931.17 $373,114.83 

Library Employee Benefit

LIBRARY EMP. BENEFIT EXPENDITU

Total Expenditures $169,586.00 $0.00 $169,341.02 $244.98 

Risk Management

RISK MGT. FUND EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Golf Course Improvement

GOLF COURSE IMPR. EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $20,017.78 ($20,017.78)

Park Development

PARK DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $5,027.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,027.00 

Sports Complex

SPORTS COMPLEX-EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $0.00 $1,075.38 $35,168.95 ($35,168.95)

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT EXPENDIT

Total Expenditures $841,000.00 $93,026.85 $796,827.22 $44,172.78 

Bond & Interest

BOND & INTEREST EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $1,715,324.00 $0.00 $1,552,727.11 $162,596.89 

TDD Sales Tax

TDD SLS TAX   EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $0.00 $16,369.33 $220,876.20 ($220,876.20)

Home Depot Economic Dev Bonds

H DEPOT ECON DEV BND-EXPENDITU

Total Expenditures $207,993.00 $0.00 $207,992.52 $0.48 

48th/Roth Ave. - CID

48TH/ ROTH AVE CID-EXPENDITURE

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Water & Sewer

DEBT SERVICE

Total Expenditures $855,568.00 $58,245.66 $802,478.63 $53,089.37 

DEBT SERVICE - SALES TAX

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

W/S NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $5,652,774.00 $525,933.39 $2,734,669.35 $2,918,104.65 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT & COLL.

Total Expenditures $932,040.00 $105,527.34 $905,867.08 $26,172.92 

WATER PRODUCTION & DIST.

Total Expenditures $1,518,860.00 $157,725.30 $1,429,293.38 $89,566.62 

Solid Waste

SOLID WASTE FUND EXPENDITURE

Total Expenditures $1,369,112.00 $160,153.83 $1,244,105.67 $125,006.33 

Fire Insurance Trust

FIRE INS TRUST EXPENDITURES

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

$34,788,314.00 $2,607,663.84 $28,377,319.74 $6,410,994.26 
Grand Totals

Period (Month) =  12.00

18



ASSETS:

Cash 4,929,527.71

Petty Cash 1,000.00

Cash Drawer 1,500.00

Reserve-Budget Stabilization 3,221,180.75

Accts. Receivable-Police Court 0.00

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 8,153,208.46

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 76,402.45

Accrued Payroll 123,865.28

Accrued Vacation/PTO 431,708.57

Accrued Sick Leave 34,918.50

Accrued Comp Time

W/H -Payable

State W/H Payable

FICA/Med Payable

KPERS-Payable

Prior Year Encumbrance 0.00

Lease Purchase Agreements 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 666,894.80

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 12,022,679.40

Expenditures -12,683,967.36

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 14,953.42

Fund Balance Unreserved 4,911,467.45

Bdgt Stabilization Reserved Fund Bl 3,221,180.75

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 7,486,313.66

TOTAL LIABILITIES

& FUND BALANCE 8,153,208.46

GENERAL FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

19



ASSETS:

Cash 65,711.45

TOTAL ASSETS 65,711.45

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 1,256,680.92

Expenditures -1,208,288.27

Fund Balance Unreserved 17,318.80
TOTAL FUND BALANCE 65,711.45

LIBRARY FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

20



ASSETS:

Cash 146,724.48

Accts. Receivable- -127.00

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 127.00

TOTAL ASSETS 146,724.48

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 5,639.57

Accrued Payroll 1,410.15

Accrued Vacation/PTO 4,353.45

Accrued Sick Leave Payout

Prior Year Encumbrance 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,403.17

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 326,170.40

Expenditures -309,463.77

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 118,614.68

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 135,321.31

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 146,724.48

AIRPORT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

21



ASSETS:

Cash 83,393.85

TOTAL ASSETS 83,393.85

LIABILITIES:

Accounts Payable 153.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 153.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 443,807.80

Expenditures -506,743.71

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 835.77

Fund Balance Unreserved 145,340.99
TOTAL FUND BALANCE 83,393.85

 PUBLIC SAFETY  EQUIPMENT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

22



ASSETS:

Cash 972,830.85

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 972,830.85

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 99,691.95

TOTAL LIABILITIES 99,691.95

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 3,487,524.09

Expenditures -3,489,972.04

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc

Fund Balance Unreserved 875,586.85

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 873,138.90

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 972,830.85

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

23



ASSETS:

Cash 487,989.07

Grants Receivable 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 487,989.07

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

Due To Other Funds 0.00

Prior Year Encumbrance 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 578,851.68

Expenditures -642,081.03

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 21,098.98

Fund Balance Unreserved 530,119.44

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 487,989.07

TOTAL LIABILITIES

& FUND BALANCE 487,989.07

SPECIAL HIGHWAY FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

24



ASSETS:

Cash 309,831.78

TOTAL ASSETS 309,831.78

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 152,849.45

Expenditures -35,200.99

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 4,121.79

Fund Balance Unreserved 188,061.53

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 309,831.78

TOTAL LIABILITIES

& FUND BALANCE 309,831.78

SPECIAL PARK & RECREATION FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

25



ASSETS:

Cash 190,724.51

TOTAL ASSETS 190,724.51

LIABILITIES

Accrued Payroll

Accrued Vacation

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 137,818.74

Expenditures -137,727.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 190,632.77

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 190,724.51

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 190,724.51

SPECIAL ALCOHOL FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

26



ASSETS:

Cash 637,386.73

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 637,386.73

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 3,437.92

Accrued Payroll 3,753.33

Accrued Vacation/PTO 10,863.96

Accrued Comp Time 0.00

Prior Year Encumbrance 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 18,055.21

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 796,012.90

Expenditures -658,931.17

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 482,249.79

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 619,331.52

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 637,386.73

CONVENTION & VISITOR'S BUREAU FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

27



ASSETS:

Cash 2,607,276.76

TOTAL ASSETS 2,607,276.76

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 743,428.66

Expenditures -278,857.79

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 2,142,705.89

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 2,607,276.76

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 2,607,276.76

NEW EQUIPMENT RESERVE FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

28



ASSETS:

Cash 0.00

Loan Receivable 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 0.00

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 18,720.42

Expenditures -18,720.42

Fund Balance Unreserved

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES
 & FUND BALANCE 0.00

GRANTS- MULTI FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

29



ASSETS:

Cash 7,305.78

TOTAL ASSETS 7,305.78

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 174,487.57

Expenditures -169,341.02

Fund Balance Unreserved 2,159.23
TOTAL FUND BALANCE 7,305.78

LIBRARY EMPLOYEE BENEFIT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

30



ASSETS:

Cash 27,940.39

TOTAL ASSETS 27,940.39

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 26,635.00

Expenditures -20,017.78

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 21,323.17

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 27,940.39

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 27,940.39

GOLF COURSE IMPROVEMENT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

31



ASSETS:

Cash 5,026.93

TOTAL ASSETS 5,026.93

FUND BALANCE

Revenues

Expenditures

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 5,026.93
TOTAL FUND BALANCE 5,026.93

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

32



ASSETS:

Cash 1,138,312.61

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

Due From Other Funds

TOTAL ASSETS 1,138,312.61

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 63.42

TOTAL LIABILITIES 63.42

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 3,064,765.00

Expenditures -35,168.95

Fund Balance Reserved for Encumbrances 72,606.13

Fund Balance Unreserved -1,963,952.99

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 1,138,249.19

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 1,138,312.61

SPORTS COMPLEX FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

33



ASSETS:

Cash 210,643.45

Due From Other Funds

TOTAL ASSETS 210,643.45

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 129.57

Accrued Payroll 1,059.24

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,188.81

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 776,675.28

Expenditures -796,827.22

Fund Balance Reserved for Encumbrances 45,540.66

Fund Balance Unreserved 184,065.92

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 209,454.64

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 210,643.45

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

34



ASSETS:

Cash 2,001,481.33

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

Due From Other Funds 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 2,001,481.33

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 16,897.57

Expenditures 984,404.00

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 54,362.20

Fund Balance Unreserved 945,817.56

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 2,001,481.33

TOTAL LIABILITIES

 & FUND BALANCE 2,001,481.33

CAPITAL PROJECTS  FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

35



ASSETS:

Cash 0.00

Due From Other Funds

TOTAL ASSETS 0.00

LIABILITIES

Due To Other Funds 0.00

Accounts  Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues

Expenditures

Fund Balance Unreserved 0.00

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 0.00

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2001 FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

36



ASSETS:

Cash 999,829.13

Accts. Receivable- 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 999,829.13

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

Due To Other Accounts 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 244,427.00

Expenditures -17,550.36

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 56,285.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 716,667.49

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 999,829.13

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 999,829.13

AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

37



ASSETS:

Cash 298,279.69

Due From Other Funds 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 298,279.69

LIABILITIES

Lease Purchase Agreements 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 1,506,080.54

Expenditures -1,552,727.11

Fund Balance Reserved 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 344,926.26

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 298,279.69

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 298,279.69

BOND & INTEREST  FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

38



ASSETS:

Cash 37,217.58

Due From Other Funds

TOTAL ASSETS 37,217.58

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 16,369.33

TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,369.33

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 222,570.62

Expenditures -220,876.20

Fund Balance Reserved 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 19,153.83

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 20,848.25

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 37,217.58

TRANSPORTATION  DD SALES TAX FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

39



ASSETS:

Cash 150,158.78

Cash-Restricted 24,608.90

TOTAL ASSETS 174,767.68

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 216,731.72

Expenditures -207,992.52

Fund Balance Reserved 0.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 166,028.48

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 174,767.68

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 174,767.68

HOME DEPOT-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BONDS

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

40



ASSETS:

Cash 0.00

Due From Other Funds

TOTAL ASSETS 0.00

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 0.00

Expenditures 0.00

Fund Balance Reserved

Fund Balance Unreserved 0.00

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 0.00

48th & ROTH AVE.-CID

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

41



ASSETS:

Cash 5,595,911.55
Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources
Cash-Water Sales Tax 22,593,833.18
Reserve-Capital Improvement 1,448,661.93
Reserve Bond & Int. Sales Tax
Reserve Bond & Interest W/S 102,030.92
2003 Bond Reserve W/S 118,334.00
2003 Bond Reserve -Sales Tax 0.00
Consumers Accounts Receivable 387,141.94
Issuance Cost-Sales Tax Fund
Issuance Costs Water /Sewer 50,671.56
Restricted Cash-2009A Bond 65,352.00
Reserve-W/S Revenue Bond 2009A 454,499.84
Due From Other Funds 0.00
Land 139,109.47
Land-R-9 Ranch 4,262,039.65
Accum Depreciation- R-9 Ranch -910,998.29
Infrastructure 16,283,528.63
Accum Depreciation-Infrastruct -8,466,159.91
Buildings 11,782,909.54
Accum Depreciation-Bldgs. -6,263,324.17
Machinery & Equipment 11,194,327.94
Accum Dep-Machinery/Equipment -8,724,337.46
Work in Progress-Big Creek 2,082,833.90
Water Sales Tax Expenditures 377,366.76
R-9 Ranch Expenditures 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 52,573,732.98

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 138,596.98
Due To Other Funds
Accrued Payroll 19,421.91
Accrued Vacation/PTO 79,894.72
Sales Tax 1,566.12
State Water Fee 9,571.65
Meter Deposit Payable 206,773.96
Refuse Collection 40,986.87
Accrued Int. Payable-Bonds 58,432.88
State Rev. Loan Payment 575,957.54
G O Bond Payable-Serv. Bldg. 0.00
Bonds Payable-W/S Rev. Bonds 0.00
Bonds Payable-Sales Tax Fund 0.00
Accrued Int. Pybl-Revolv Loan 10,048.50
Contributed Capital 3,215,104.63
Reserve for Bad Debts 3,835,000.00
Bonds Payable-W/S 2009 A 0.00
Advance Developer Fee 0.00
Stormwater Fee 58,149.83
Over & Short -1.77
Prior Year Encumbrance 0.00
Monitoring Well Deposit 4,500.00
Overpayment-Water Sales 0.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,254,003.82

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 8,531,515.47
Expenditures -5,872,308.44
Fund Balance Reserved for Enc 27,364.34
Fund Balance Unreserved 41,788,166.22
Capital Imprv. Reserve Fund Balance -155,008.43

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 44,319,729.16

TOTAL LIABILITIES
52,573,732.98

WATER & SEWER FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

42



ASSETS:

Cash 450,109.25

Reserve Account 501,676.22

Accts. Receivable-Misc. Sources 0.00

Due From Other Funds 38,427.83

Buildings 289,324.00

Machinery & Equipment 1,602,860.00

Accum Dep-Machinery/Equipment -855,607.80

TOTAL ASSETS 2,026,789.50

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 570.53

Accrued Payroll 6,484.55

Accrued Vacation/PTO 23,032.75

Contributed Capital 115,383.00

Lease Purchase Obligation 270,752.00

TOTAL LIABILITIES 416,222.83

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 1,301,045.81

Expenditures -1,244,105.67

Fund Balance Reserved for Enc -60.00

Fund Balance Unreserved 1,141,033.26

Solid Waste Reserve 412,653.27

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 1,610,566.67

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 2,026,789.50

SOLID WASTE FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

43



ASSETS:

Cash 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 0.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 0.00

Expenditures

Fund Balance Unreserved 0.00
TOTAL FUND BALANCE 0.00

FIRE INSURANCE FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

44



ASSETS:

Cash 121,832.02

TOTAL ASSETS 121,832.02

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 805.50

Due To Other Accounts 41,446.00

Bonds Payable 27,791.00

Over & Short -0.50

TOTAL LIABILITIES 70,042.00

FUND BALANCE

Revenues 160,638.31

Expenditures -150,949.02

Fund Balance Unreserved 42,100.73

TOTAL FUND BALANCE 51,790.02

TOTAL LIABILITIES
& FUND BALANCE 121,832.02

MUNICIPAL COURT AGENCY FUND

BALANCE SHEET

12/31/2012

45



City of Hays Revenues

Month of  December

Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

% Collected 

YTD

General

CULTURE & RECREATION REVENUES

GOLF COURSE REVENUE (19,603.40) 301,503.00  1,366.79  281,899.60  93.50%

LOCAL ALCOHOL LIQUOR TAX  19,005.73  118,813.00  33,627.94  137,818.73  116.00%

Total Revenues $420,316.00 $34,994.73 $419,718.33 ($597.67)  99.86%

GENERAL GOVERNMENT REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUILDING PERMITS  33,158.91  55,000.00  2,257.50  88,158.91  160.29%

BUSINESS LICENSES  6,760.00  10,000.00  130.00  16,760.00  167.60%

CITY-COUNTY REVENUE SHARING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CMB & LIQUOR LICENSES  825.00  10,500.00 (150.00)  11,325.00  107.86%

DELINQUENT TAXES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AID/GRANT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

FRANCHISE FEES (72,176.09) 1,486,083.00  112,453.88  1,413,906.91  95.14%

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS  18,242.55  34,425.00  3,305.21  52,667.55  152.99%

LOCAL AD VALOREM TAX REDUCTION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LOCAL SALES TAX  634,856.34  6,653,273.00  556,419.86  7,288,129.34  109.54%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE (3,700.75) 140,000.00  23,443.33  136,299.25  97.36%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER LICENSES (160.00) 300.00  0.00  140.00  46.67%

PET LICENSES (2,519.00) 20,300.00  2,765.00  17,781.00  87.59%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  1,200.00  100.00  1,200.00  100.00%

STATE GOVERNMENT AID/GRANT  8,903.01  0.00  3,363.33  8,903.01  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM AIRPORT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM CVB  0.00  57,000.00  0.00  57,000.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM POOL CONSTRUCTIO  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SOLID WASTE FUND  0.00  245,000.00  0.00  245,000.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL ALCOHOL  0.00  47,059.00  0.00  47,059.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL HIGHWAY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPORTS COMPLEX (249,705.00) 249,705.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM STORMWATER MGT  113,622.09  56,950.00  0.00  170,572.09  299.51%

TRANSFER FROM WATER SLS TAX  0.00  542,827.00  0.00  542,827.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  907,575.00  0.00  907,575.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS-ALL ACCOUNTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $10,517,197.00 $704,088.11 $11,005,304.06 $488,107.06  104.64%

PUBLIC SAFETY REVENUES

ANIMAL CONTROL REVENUE (590.00) 3,000.00  140.00  2,410.00  80.33%

COURT APPOINTED REIMBURSEMENT  9,668.00  0.00  586.50  9,668.00  0.00%

COURT COSTS  27,033.49  60,000.00  9,004.83  87,033.49  145.06%

COURT FINES  29,435.52  450,000.00 (7,848.83)  479,435.52  106.54%

Total Revenues $513,000.00 $1,882.50 $578,547.01 $65,547.01  112.78%

PUBLIC WORKS REVENUES

GRAVE OPENING  4,800.00  3,000.00  800.00  7,800.00  260.00%

SALE OF CEMETERY LOTS  5,010.00  6,300.00  1,575.00  11,310.00  179.52%

Total Revenues $9,300.00 $2,375.00 $19,110.00 $9,810.00  205.48%

Period (Month) =  12.00

46



Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

% Collected 

YTD

Library

LIBRARY FUND REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  465.55  950.00  0.00  1,415.55  149.01%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX (18,050.35) 1,104,740.00  0.00  1,086,689.65  98.37%

DELINQUENT TAXES  34,076.76  0.00  0.00  34,076.76  0.00%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  28,272.11  104,260.00  0.00  132,532.11  127.12%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  387.85  1,579.00  0.00  1,966.85  124.56%

Total Revenues $1,211,529.00 $0.00 $1,256,680.92 $45,151.92  103.73%

Airport

AIRPORT FUND REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  81.14  158.00  0.00  239.14  151.35%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX (3,000.71) 187,176.00  0.00  184,175.29  98.40%

AIRPORT-FUEL SALES (1,936.02) 13,000.00  1,055.74  11,063.98  85.11%

BUSINESS LICENSES (550.00) 6,050.00  0.00  5,500.00  90.91%

DELINQUENT TAXES  6,082.30  0.00  0.00  6,082.30  0.00%

FARMING (LEASES)  2,465.00  16,512.00  0.00  18,977.00  114.93%

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AID/GRANT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LANDING FEES  275.00  4,000.00  392.50  4,275.00  106.88%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE (3,140.95) 10,000.00  860.48  6,859.05  68.59%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  4,733.56  17,377.00  0.00  22,110.56  127.24%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  65.20  263.00  0.00  328.20  124.79%

RENTALS (16,100.12) 82,660.00  3,187.85  66,559.88  80.52%

Total Revenues $337,196.00 $5,496.57 $326,170.40 ($11,025.60)  96.73%

Employee Benefit

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  570.89  1,837.00  0.00  2,407.89  131.08%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX (31,948.57) 1,945,132.00  0.00  1,913,183.43  98.36%

DELINQUENT TAXES  57,783.92  0.00  0.00  57,783.92  0.00%

INSURANCE REFUNDS  139,709.60  0.00  0.00  139,709.60  0.00%

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS  17.70  3,000.00  174.36  3,017.70  100.59%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  44,934.99  0.00  0.00  44,934.99  0.00%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  41,178.77  201,546.00  0.00  242,724.77  120.43%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  498.79  3,052.00  0.00  3,550.79  116.34%

TRANSFER FROM AIRPORT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM CVB  0.00  74,044.00  0.00  74,044.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND  0.00  381,635.00  0.00  381,635.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM RISK MANAGEMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SOLID WASTE FUND  0.00  150,514.00  0.00  150,514.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL ALCOHOL  0.00  18,964.00  0.00  18,964.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL HIGHWAY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPORTS COMPLEX  0.00  16,955.00  0.00  16,955.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM STORMWATER MGT  0.00  20,520.00  0.00  20,520.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  417,579.00  0.00  417,579.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS-ALL ACCOUNTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $3,234,778.00 $174.36 $3,487,524.09 $252,746.09  107.81%

Special Highway

SPECIAL HIGHWAY REVENUES

CONNECTING LINK MAINTENANCE  30.83  44,760.00  0.00  44,790.83  100.07%

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

STATE GASOLINE TAX (15,189.15) 549,250.00  0.00  534,060.85  97.23%

TRANSFER FROM CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $594,010.00 $0.00 $578,851.68 ($15,158.32)  97.45%

Period (Month) =  12.00

47



Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

% Collected 

YTD

Special Park & Rec

SPECIAL PRK & REC REVENUES

LOCAL ALCOHOL LIQUOR TAX  19,005.72  118,813.00  33,627.94  137,818.72  116.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  15,030.73  0.00  5,849.56  15,030.73  0.00%

Total Revenues $118,813.00 $39,477.50 $152,849.45 $34,036.45  128.65%

Special Alcohol Fund

SPECIAL ALCOHOL FUND REVENUES

LOCAL ALCOHOL LIQUOR TAX  19,005.74  118,813.00  33,627.95  137,818.74  116.00%

Total Revenues $118,813.00 $33,627.95 $137,818.74 $19,005.74  116.00%

Convention & Visitors Bureau

CONVENTION & VISITOR'S REVENUE

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  4,735.12  37,000.00  3,636.93  41,735.12  112.80%

TRANSIENT GUEST TAX  94,277.78  660,000.00  0.00  754,277.78  114.28%

Total Revenues $697,000.00 $3,636.93 $796,012.90 $99,012.90  114.21%

Library Employee Benefit

LIBRARY EMP. BENEFIT REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  70.84  123.00  0.00  193.84  157.59%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX (2,633.17) 155,776.00  0.00  153,142.83  98.31%

DELINQUENT TAXES  3,904.33  0.00  0.00  3,904.33  0.00%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  3,511.89  13,483.00  0.00  16,994.89  126.05%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  47.68  204.00  0.00  251.68  123.37%

Total Revenues $169,586.00 $0.00 $174,487.57 $4,901.57  102.89%

Risk Management

RISK MANAGEMENT REVENUES

INSURANCE REFUNDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS-ALL ACCOUNTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Golf Course Improvement

GOLF COURSE IMPR. FUND REVENUE

GOLF COURSE REVENUE  13,130.00  0.00  0.00  13,130.00  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  13,505.00  0.00  0.00  13,505.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $26,635.00 $26,635.00  0.00%

Park Development

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND-REVENUE

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Sports Complex

SPORTS COMPLEX-REVENUES

LOCAL SALES TAX  2,984,765.00  0.00  227,641.00  2,984,765.00  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  80,000.00  0.00  0.00  80,000.00  0.00%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $227,641.00 $3,064,765.00 $3,064,765.00  0.00%

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REVENUES

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  20.00  0.00  0.00  20.00  0.00%

STORMWATER FEE  90,655.28  670,000.00  58,151.54  760,655.28  113.53%

TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND  0.00  16,000.00  0.00  16,000.00  100.00%

TRANSFER FROM WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $686,000.00 $58,151.54 $776,675.28 $90,675.28  113.22%

Period (Month) =  12.00

48



Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

% Collected 

YTD

Bond & Interest

BOND & INTEREST REVENUES

16/20 M TRUCK TAX  665.35  574.00  0.00  1,239.35  215.91%

AD VALOREM PROPERTY TAX (15,040.77) 912,230.00  0.00  897,189.23  98.35%

DELINQUENT TAXES  29,551.64  0.00  0.00  29,551.64  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

MOTOR VEHICLE TAX  30,891.55  62,988.00  0.00  93,879.55  149.04%

RECEIVED FROM  TIF  PROCEEDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE TAX  491.90  954.00  0.00  1,445.90  151.56%

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT TAX (9,292.13) 492,067.00  0.00  482,774.87  98.11%

TRANSFER FROM CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL HIGHWAY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS-ALL ACCOUNTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $1,468,813.00 $0.00 $1,506,080.54 $37,267.54  102.54%

TDD Sales Tax

TDD SLS TAX   REVENUES

LOCAL SALES TAX  279,133.54 (56,562.92)  20,848.25  222,570.62 -393.49%

Total Revenues ($56,562.92) $20,848.25 $222,570.62 $279,133.54 -393.49%

Home Depot Economic Dev Bonds

H DEPOT-ECON DEV BND-REVENUES

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RECEIVED FROM  TIF  PROCEEDS  10,325.72  206,406.00  13,899.00  216,731.72  105.00%

Total Revenues $206,406.00 $13,899.00 $216,731.72 $10,325.72  105.00%

48th/Roth Ave. - CID

48TH/ROTH AVE CID-REVENUES

LOCAL SALES TAX  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Water & Sewer

WATER & SEWER FUND REVENUES

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

FEDERAL & STATE GRANTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS (7,201.39) 27,000.00  1,264.14  19,798.61  73.33%

INTEREST-SALES TAX COLLECTION  353.98  60,000.00  3,487.27  60,353.98  100.59%

LOCAL SALES TAX  270,631.00  2,714,134.00  227,641.00  2,984,765.00  109.97%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  8,591.50  15,000.00  340.00  23,591.50  157.28%

NOTE/BOND PROCEEDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PENALTY  5,396.66  25,000.00  1,651.23  30,396.66  121.59%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

R-9 RANCH REVENUE (182,150.00) 362,150.00  0.00  180,000.00  49.70%

SEWER SERVICE CHARGES  15,645.92  2,020,000.00  162,890.96  2,035,645.92  100.77%

STORMWATER FEE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TAPS-TURN ONS  7,824.70  35,000.00  1,657.24  42,824.70  122.36%

TRANSFER FROM SOLID WASTE FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER FROM SPECIAL HIGHWAY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS-ALL ACCOUNTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

WATER SALES  194,758.53  2,517,875.00  213,998.35  2,712,633.53  107.74%

WATER SALES-CONSERVATION RATE  166,505.57  275,000.00  25,277.59  441,505.57  160.55%

Total Revenues $8,051,159.00 $638,207.78 $8,531,515.47 $480,356.47  105.97%

Period (Month) =  12.00

49



Collections 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Collections 

To Date

Balance

% Collected 

YTD

Solid Waste

SOLID WASTE FUND REVENUES

INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS  207.84  2,000.00  104.61  2,207.84  110.39%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  7,605.28  40,000.00  2,783.15  47,605.28  119.01%

PRIOR YEAR ENCUMBRANCE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REFUSE COLLECTION  24,468.69  1,225,000.00  104,756.04  1,249,468.69  102.00%

YARD WASTE TAGS (136.00) 1,900.00  21.00  1,764.00  92.84%

Total Revenues $1,268,900.00 $107,664.80 $1,301,045.81 $32,145.81  102.53%

Fire Insurance Trust

FIRE INS TRUST REVENUES

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Grand Totals $29,566,253.08 $1,892,166.02 $34,579,094.59 $5,012,841.51  116.95%

Period (Month) =  12.00

50



City of Hays Expenditures

Month of  December

Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

General

BALLFIELD MAINTENANCE

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CHEMICALS  0.00  12,000.00  4,508.75  7,491.25  37.57%

COMMUNICATION  75.86  700.00  532.55  167.45  76.08%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  32.04  2,000.00  778.07  1,221.93  38.90%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  309.36  13,700.00  6,745.14  6,954.86  49.23%

NATURAL GAS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  5,900.00  2,386.55  3,513.45  40.45%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  129.43  9,000.00  4,094.88  4,905.12  45.50%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  100.00  500.00  100.00  400.00  20.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  236.45  14,300.00  3,529.12  10,770.88  24.68%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  200.00  148.61  51.39  74.31%

UNIFORMS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $58,300.00 $883.14 $22,823.67 $35,476.33  39.15%

BUILDINGS & GROUNDS

COMMUNICATION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

ELECTRICITY  53,009.70  350,000.00  396,973.50 (46,973.50)  113.42%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  683.95  6,500.00  1,284.64  5,215.36  19.76%

NATURAL GAS  2,214.15  52,000.00  17,906.31  34,093.69  34.44%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  2,807.39  24,200.00  19,244.71  4,955.29  79.52%

PROJECTS  0.00  4,650.00  210.00  4,440.00  4.52%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  2,577.50  9,500.00  13,482.58 (3,982.58)  141.92%

Total Expenditures $446,850.00 $61,292.69 $449,101.74 ($2,251.74)  100.50%

CEMETERIES

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CHEMICALS  0.00  3,000.00  1,880.88  1,119.12  62.70%

COMMUNICATION  24.72  200.00  146.26  53.74  73.13%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  113.59  1,500.00  400.05  1,099.95  26.67%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  3.88  5,800.00  3,516.76  2,283.24  60.63%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  800.00  799.00  1.00  99.88%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  1,200.00  681.00  519.00  56.75%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  200.00  0.00  200.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  500.00  206.93  293.07  41.39%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  300.00  0.00  300.00  0.00%

UNIFORMS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $13,500.00 $142.19 $7,630.88 $5,869.12  56.53%

CITY ATTORNEY

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  1,000.00  625.00  375.00  62.50%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  9,737.50  100,000.00  129,948.72 (29,948.72)  129.95%

Total Expenditures $101,000.00 $9,737.50 $130,573.72 ($29,573.72)  129.28%

Period (Month) =  12.0051



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

CITY COMMISSION

COMMUNICATION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

FINANCIAL POLICY PROJ-CAPITAL  250,000.00  2,936,830.00  2,140,295.10  796,534.90  72.88%

FINANCIAL POLICY PROJ-CAPITAL  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  37.50  1,500.00  381.00  1,119.00  25.40%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  106.72  500.00  106.72  393.28  21.34%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  3,000.00  50.00  2,950.00  1.67%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  750.00  9,000.00  9,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  15,000.00  8,696.06  6,303.94  57.97%

Total Expenditures $2,966,330.00 $250,894.22 $2,158,528.88 $807,801.12  72.77%

CITY MANAGER

COMMUNICATION  1,507.70  3,500.00  4,533.23 (1,033.23)  129.52%

CONTINGENCY  5,469.72  96,500.00  55,073.88  41,426.12  57.07%

EXPENSE ALLOWANCE-CAR  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  191.03  2,000.00  1,343.42  656.58  67.17%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

ORGANIZATION DEVELOPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  327.00  30,000.00  24,307.36  5,692.64  81.02%

OVERTIME  285.77  3,500.00  1,350.40  2,149.60  38.58%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  24,619.60  274,800.00  278,197.07 (3,397.07)  101.24%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  1,623.14  27,000.00  24,911.58  2,088.42  92.27%

Total Expenditures $437,300.00 $34,023.96 $389,716.94 $47,583.06  89.12%

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT CORP.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

JOB  BOUNTY  0.00  15,000.00  2,400.00  12,600.00  16.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  532.70  241,205.00  244,937.72 (3,732.72)  101.55%

Total Expenditures $256,205.00 $532.70 $247,337.72 $8,867.28  96.54%

FINANCE/CITY CLERK

COMMUNICATION  402.91  1,100.00  1,304.82 (204.82)  118.62%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  5,000.00  2,397.75  2,602.25  47.96%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  0.00  660.00  570.33  89.67  86.41%

INSURANCE & SURETY BONDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  476.85  12,000.00  8,042.04  3,957.96  67.02%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  708.00  8,300.00  3,344.14  4,955.86  40.29%

OVERTIME  0.00  500.00  455.73  44.27  91.15%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  39,500.00  35,005.00  4,495.00  88.62%

PROJECTS  0.00  20,000.00  20,000.00  0.00  100.00%

SALARIES  35,979.83  322,645.00  308,286.47  14,358.53  95.55%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  284.40  7,100.00  2,493.74  4,606.26  35.12%

Total Expenditures $416,805.00 $37,851.99 $381,900.02 $34,904.98  91.63%

Period (Month) =  12.0052



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

FIRE DEPARTMENT

COMMUNICATION  930.58  4,800.00  5,642.55 (842.55)  117.55%

CONTINGENCY  2,973.02  5,000.00  2,973.02  2,026.98  59.46%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  1,496.77  48,000.00  8,041.45  39,958.55  16.75%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  5,244.04 (5,244.04)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  128.13  0.00  4,474.53 (4,474.53)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  2,754.17 (2,754.17)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  3,943.29 (3,943.29)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  625.00 (625.00)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  17.96  0.00  67.07 (67.07)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  49.11 (49.11)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  49.11 (49.11)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  40.00  0.00  5,153.24 (5,153.24)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  37.34 (37.34)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  1,217.83 (1,217.83)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  2,229.28 (2,229.28)  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  3,450.99  30,000.00  29,647.61  352.39  98.83%

GRANT FUNDING  25.07  0.00  0.07 (0.07)  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  800.00  695.45  104.55  86.93%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  55.83  9,200.00  5,865.01  3,334.99  63.75%

OVERTIME  10,589.07  121,160.00  118,085.04  3,074.96  97.46%

PAID PER CALL  1,347.85  20,000.00  18,349.95  1,650.05  91.75%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  2,379.98  27,200.00  26,978.93  221.07  99.19%

SALARIES  103,760.57  1,006,570.00  988,750.55  17,819.45  98.23%

TRAINING CERTIFICATION  0.00  19,200.00  15,101.66  4,098.34  78.65%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  1,524.80  34,000.00  21,467.76  12,532.24  63.14%

UNIFORMS  393.30  8,900.00  7,671.09  1,228.91  86.19%

Total Expenditures $1,334,830.00 $129,113.92 $1,275,114.15 $59,715.85  95.53%

FLEET MAINTENANCE

Total Expenditures $868,490.00 $72,942.83 $724,194.44 $144,295.56  83.39%

GOLF COURSE

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CHEMICALS  0.00  80,000.00  73,456.66  6,543.34  91.82%

COMMUNICATION  417.03  5,800.00  2,005.41  3,794.59  34.58%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  133.64  3,000.00  1,030.09  1,969.91  34.34%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  1,737.74  31,900.00  31,091.42  808.58  97.47%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  1,400.00  896.83  503.17  64.06%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  65.65  400.00  197.39  202.61  49.35%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  2,150.00  33,900.00  27,168.96  6,731.04  80.14%

OVERTIME  49.74  7,000.00  9,597.50 (2,597.50)  137.11%

PRO SHOP CR CARD ACTIVITY  311.85  0.00 (329.88)  329.88  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  411.24  1,500.00  1,855.52 (355.52)  123.70%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  870.80  17,000.00  5,648.10  11,351.90  33.22%

SALARIES  10,468.47  117,265.00  116,392.73  872.27  99.26%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  43,400.00  52,485.25 (9,085.25)  120.93%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  1,164.75  1,600.00  1,164.75  435.25  72.80%

UNIFORMS  0.00  900.00  506.00  394.00  56.22%

Total Expenditures $345,065.00 $17,780.91 $323,166.73 $21,898.27  93.65%

Period (Month) =  12.0053



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

HUMAN RESOURCES

COMMUNICATION  389.96  1,200.00  974.34  225.66  81.20%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  9,500.00  9,500.00  0.00  100.00%

ORGANIZATION DEVELOPMENT  6,063.75  27,500.00  16,813.58  10,686.42  61.14%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  2,500.00  1,521.50  978.50  60.86%

OVERTIME  0.00  250.00  47.32  202.68  18.93%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  3,346.25  44,000.00  39,013.25  4,986.75  88.67%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  7,425.70  89,020.00  87,563.48  1,456.52  98.36%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  456.95  6,500.00  4,139.83  2,360.17  63.69%

Total Expenditures $180,470.00 $17,682.61 $159,573.30 $20,896.70  88.42%

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

COMMUNICATION  770.23  3,400.00  3,166.74  233.26  93.14%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  368.00  9,250.00  8,934.91  315.09  96.59%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  1,502.70  3,500.00  3,106.95  393.05  88.77%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  5,752.17  20,820.00  20,650.23  169.77  99.18%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  3,252.94  14,500.00  14,626.73 (126.73)  100.87%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  25,581.74  157,650.00  146,952.97  10,697.03  93.21%

OVERTIME  249.59  1,200.00  933.98  266.02  77.83%

PROJECTS  0.00  10,000.00  8,014.00  1,986.00  80.14%

SALARIES  25,709.91  261,710.00  258,181.27  3,528.73  98.65%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  2,704.81  15,750.00  10,145.35  5,604.65  64.41%

Total Expenditures $497,780.00 $65,892.09 $474,713.13 $23,066.87  95.37%

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNT

COMMUNICATION  7,720.00  58,000.00  55,033.78  2,966.22  94.89%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

INSURANCE & SURETY BONDS  1,066.11  243,320.00  252,011.51 (8,691.51)  103.57%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  1,603.56  24,500.00  20,725.48  3,774.52  84.59%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  709.17  3,500.00  7,812.18 (4,312.18)  223.21%

Total Expenditures $329,320.00 $11,098.84 $335,582.95 ($6,262.95)  101.90%

MUNICIPAL COURT

INSURANCE & SURETY BONDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  89.37  1,200.00  374.35  825.65  31.20%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  409.23  2,500.00  3,776.26 (1,276.26)  151.05%

OVERTIME  93.99  3,000.00  961.93  2,038.07  32.06%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  2,998.00  33,000.00  30,407.50  2,592.50  92.14%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SAFE RIDE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  11,294.10  104,560.00  104,080.43  479.57  99.54%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  50.00  500.00  160.46  339.54  32.09%

Total Expenditures $144,760.00 $14,934.69 $139,760.93 $4,999.07  96.55%

P.W.-GENERAL ADMINISTRATION

COMMUNICATION  391.09  3,000.00  2,390.19  609.81  79.67%

CONTINGENCY  1,804.80  5,000.00  2,453.05  2,546.95  49.06%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  674.45  4,000.00  3,491.75  508.25  87.29%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  1,143.15  5,000.00  4,564.96  435.04  91.30%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  1,250.00  1,022.60  227.40  81.81%

OVERTIME  0.00  500.00  24.39  475.61  4.88%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  20,000.00  801.95  19,198.05  4.01%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  19,938.55  203,760.00  203,978.28 (218.28)  100.11%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  335.00  8,000.00  4,426.93  3,573.07  55.34%

Total Expenditures $250,510.00 $24,287.04 $223,154.10 $27,355.90  89.08%

Period (Month) =  12.0054



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

PARKS & PLAYGROUNDS

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CHEMICALS  0.00  18,000.00  16,964.85  1,035.15  94.25%

COMMUNICATION  370.43  2,500.00  2,362.21  137.79  94.49%

CONTINGENCY  1,429.84  5,000.00  1,490.51  3,509.49  29.81%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  260.74  8,000.00  6,362.31  1,637.69  79.53%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  3,437.51  42,600.00  34,124.59  8,475.41  80.10%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  6,500.00  4,287.47  2,212.53  65.96%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  64.05  800.00  421.07  378.93  52.63%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  703.16  24,000.00  15,819.07  8,180.93  65.91%

OVERTIME  610.42  10,000.00  17,375.58 (7,375.58)  173.76%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  108.38  3,800.00  403.13  3,396.87  10.61%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  2,184.69  20,600.00  17,067.97  3,532.03  82.85%

SALARIES  59,479.05  577,420.00  568,425.29  8,994.71  98.44%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  97,920.00  102,910.75 (4,990.75)  105.10%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  696.52  9,900.00  6,821.62  3,078.38  68.91%

UNIFORMS  345.82  5,100.00  3,933.07  1,166.93  77.12%

Total Expenditures $832,140.00 $69,690.61 $798,769.49 $33,370.51  95.99%

PLANNING INSPECTION ENFORCEMEN

COMMUNICATION  452.70  4,000.00  2,378.81  1,621.19  59.47%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  600.00  63.97  536.03  10.66%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  285.21  1,500.00  1,062.04  437.96  70.80%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  12.59  0.00  12.59 (12.59)  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  164.91  3,000.00  2,974.10  25.90  99.14%

OVERTIME  197.14  10,000.00  3,448.67  6,551.33  34.49%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  1,407.92  22,300.00  10,452.19  11,847.81  46.87%

SALARIES  23,207.91  223,964.00  220,029.38  3,934.62  98.24%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  1,105.11  11,075.00  12,854.77 (1,779.77)  116.07%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  382.82  9,000.00  6,427.35  2,572.65  71.42%

UNIFORMS  324.00  1,800.00  1,322.00  478.00  73.44%

Total Expenditures $287,239.00 $27,540.31 $261,025.87 $26,213.13  90.87%

Period (Month) =  12.0055



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

POLICE DEPARTMENT

COMMUNICATION  1,541.87  14,200.00  11,467.76  2,732.24  80.76%

CONTINGENCY  1,009.25  5,000.00  3,775.14  1,224.86  75.50%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  470.24  12,000.00  10,231.38  1,768.62  85.26%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  1,043.67  21,000.00  17,473.01  3,526.99  83.20%

GRANT FUNDING  0.00  0.00 (0.60)  0.60  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  522.77  6,000.00  5,587.52  412.48  93.13%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  88.02  2,500.00  2,011.94  488.06  80.48%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  3,656.01  52,000.00  43,028.83  8,971.17  82.75%

OVERTIME  7,060.16  150,000.00  127,407.61  22,592.39  84.94%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  574.00  10,500.00  23,011.56 (12,511.56)  219.16%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  208,473.39  2,201,800.00  2,058,809.60  142,990.40  93.51%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  1,273.52  18,900.00  16,220.98  2,679.02  85.83%

UNIFORMS  736.23  18,000.00  14,115.18  3,884.82  78.42%

Total Expenditures $2,511,900.00 $226,449.13 $2,333,139.91 $178,760.09  92.88%

Period (Month) =  12.0056



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

PUBLIC WORKS-SERVICE DIVISION

COMMUNICATION  193.50  2,600.00  1,282.64  1,317.36  49.33%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  2,340.69  30,000.00  24,804.62  5,195.38  82.68%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  6,765.94  176,000.00  100,316.16  75,683.84  57.00%

GRANT FUNDING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  5,300.00  6,300.00 (1,000.00)  118.87%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  751.94  33,000.00  5,264.02  27,735.98  15.95%

OVERTIME  1,954.28  15,900.00  5,045.88  10,854.12  31.74%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  3,850.00  0.00  3,850.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  1,500.00  1,560.60 (60.60)  104.04%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALARIES  61,808.66  556,830.00  529,076.22  27,753.78  95.02%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  1,800.00  1,558.17  241.83  86.57%

UNIFORMS  415.13  6,200.00  6,284.81 (84.81)  101.37%

Total Expenditures $832,980.00 $74,230.14 $681,493.12 $151,486.88  81.81%

QUALITY OF LIFE

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  33,182.00  33,182.00  0.00  100.00%

Total Expenditures $33,182.00 $0.00 $33,182.00 $0.00  100.00%

SOCIAL SERVICES

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  164,000.00  164,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $164,000.00 $0.00 $164,000.00 $0.00  100.00%

SWIMMING POOL

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CHEMICALS  0.00  36,100.00  25,022.53  11,077.47  69.31%

ELECTRICITY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  317.16  10,000.00  9,529.16  470.84  95.29%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  152.00  10,900.00  5,544.36  5,355.64  50.87%

INSURANCE & SURETY BONDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  1,660.80  9,000.00  1,660.80  7,339.20  18.45%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  6,344.95  36,700.00  17,796.09  18,903.91  48.49%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  196.51  5,500.00  2,253.93  3,246.07  40.98%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $108,200.00 $8,671.42 $61,806.87 $46,393.13  57.12%

Library

LIBRARY FUND EXPENDITURES

NEIGHBORHOOD REVIT REBATE  0.00  5,842.00  6,150.01 (308.01)  105.27%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  1,186,000.00  1,186,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DIST  0.00  19,687.00  16,138.26  3,548.74  81.97%

Total Expenditures $1,211,529.00 $0.00 $1,208,288.27 $3,240.73  99.73%

Airport

Period (Month) =  12.0057



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

AIRPORT FUND EXPENDITURES

COMMUNICATION  312.87  3,120.00  2,167.07  952.93  69.46%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  105,095.00  42,511.92  62,583.08  40.45%

ELECTRICITY  4,615.75  32,260.00  33,250.20 (990.20)  103.07%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  4,125.57  32,500.00  36,341.54 (3,841.54)  111.82%

GRANT FUNDING  8,110.73  0.00  17,982.74 (17,982.74)  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  500.00  0.00  500.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  793.01  10,800.00  4,769.86  6,030.14  44.17%

NEIGHBORHOOD REVIT REBATE  0.00  987.00  1,042.31 (55.31)  105.60%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  2,129.11  24,000.00  19,884.63  4,115.37  82.85%

OVERTIME  845.74  2,000.00  1,713.48  286.52  85.67%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  1,000.00  0.00  1,000.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  65,000.00  0.00  65,000.00  0.00%

PROMOTIONS  8,343.68  15,000.00  11,547.45  3,452.55  76.98%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  1,828.84  22,500.00  21,946.88  553.12  97.54%

SALARIES  7,944.66  104,335.00  97,403.49  6,931.51  93.36%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  0.00  2,137.75 (2,137.75)  0.00%

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DIST  0.00  3,295.00  2,735.16  559.84  83.01%

TRANSFER TO AIRPORT IMPROVEMEN  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO BOND & INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO NEW EQUIP. RESERVE  0.00  6,207.00  6,207.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  13,900.00  7,081.83  6,818.17  50.95%

UNIFORMS  43.60  675.00  740.46 (65.46)  109.70%

Total Expenditures $443,174.00 $39,093.56 $309,463.77 $133,710.23  69.83%

Employee Benefit

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENDITURES

CONTINGENCY  3,480.80  100,000.00  8,820.02  91,179.98  8.82%

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT  91,283.29  871,550.00  870,818.06  731.94  99.92%

HEALTH INSURANCE  94,568.53  1,719,507.00  1,715,056.95  4,450.05  99.74%

NEIGHBORHOOD REVIT REBATE  0.00  10,283.00  10,827.50 (544.50)  105.30%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  42,249.00  43,076.45 (827.45)  101.96%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SOCIAL SECURITY  60,004.47  644,752.00  598,399.98  46,352.02  92.81%

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DIST  0.00  29,756.00  28,412.38  1,343.62  95.48%

TRANSFER TO BOND & INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO RISK MANAGEMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION  0.00  8,428.00  8,043.70  384.30  95.44%

WORKERS COMPENSATION  0.00  164,888.00  206,517.00 (41,629.00)  125.25%

Total Expenditures $3,591,413.00 $249,337.09 $3,489,972.04 $101,440.96  97.18%

Special Highway

Period (Month) =  12.0058



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

SPECIAL HIGHWAY EXPENDITURES

2001 SIDEWALK RAMPS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  2,941.50  617,742.00  575,961.70  41,780.30  93.24%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  120.00 (120.00)  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  24,516.75 (24,516.75)  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  278.69  0.00  16,376.49 (16,376.49)  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  495.60  0.00  22,064.71 (22,064.71)  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  2,536.38 (2,536.38)  0.00%

BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  50,000.00  505.00  49,495.00  1.01%

CORR MGT - GENERAL HAYS RD.  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CORR MGT-REVERSE ACCESS 48-55  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO BOND & INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

VINE ST.-MILL & OVERLAY--13/27  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $667,742.00 $3,715.79 $642,081.03 $25,660.97  96.16%

Special Park & Rec

SPECIAL PRK & REC EXPENDITURES

BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  670.23  852,120.00  35,200.99  816,919.01  4.13%

TRANSFER TO NEW EQUIP. RESERVE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $852,120.00 $670.23 $35,200.99 $816,919.01  4.13%

Special Alcohol Fund

SPECIAL ALCOHOL FUND EXPENDITU

CONTINGENCY  0.00  168,603.00  480.00  168,123.00  0.28%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  71,224.00  71,224.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  18,964.00  18,964.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  47,059.00  47,059.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $305,850.00 $0.00 $137,727.00 $168,123.00  45.03%

Convention & Visitors Bureau

Period (Month) =  12.0059



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

CVB EXPENDITURES

COMMUNICATION  426.18  6,000.00  3,719.19  2,280.81  61.99%

CONTINGENCY  1,888.00  345,172.00  20,965.43  324,206.57  6.07%

ELECTRICITY  1,164.67  9,000.00  8,435.39  564.61  93.73%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GRANT FUNDING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  2,141.75  70,000.00  64,429.71  5,570.29  92.04%

NATURAL GAS  186.68  2,000.00  834.34  1,165.66  41.72%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  352.85  3,000.00  3,309.49 (309.49)  110.32%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  4,080.20  55,000.00  54,200.22  799.78  98.55%

OVERTIME  0.00  1,500.00  264.84  1,235.16  17.66%

PROJECTS  5,637.08  30,000.00  10,018.28  19,981.72  33.39%

PROMOTIONS  498.02  35,000.00  35,459.50 (459.50)  101.31%

RENTALS  0.00  105,000.00  100,582.02  4,417.98  95.79%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  5,000.00  5,109.75 (109.75)  102.20%

SALARIES  23,288.76  215,520.00  203,366.37  12,153.63  94.36%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  10,050.00  7,914.26  2,135.74  78.75%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  74,044.00  74,044.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  57,000.00  57,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO NEW EQUIP. RESERVE  0.00  2,760.00  2,760.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  1,452.97  6,000.00  6,518.38 (518.38)  108.64%

Total Expenditures $1,032,046.00 $41,117.16 $658,931.17 $373,114.83  63.85%

Library Employee Benefit

LIBRARY EMP. BENEFIT EXPENDITU

NEIGHBORHOOD REVIT REBATE  0.00  824.00  866.72 (42.72)  105.18%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  166,200.00  166,200.00  0.00  100.00%

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DIST  0.00  2,562.00  2,274.30  287.70  88.77%

Total Expenditures $169,586.00 $0.00 $169,341.02 $244.98  99.86%

Risk Management

RISK MGT. FUND EXPENDITURES

CONTINGENCY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Golf Course Improvement

GOLF COURSE IMPR. EXPENDITURES

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  0.00  0.00  16,095.34 (16,095.34)  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  773.59 (773.59)  0.00%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  0.00  3,148.85 (3,148.85)  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $20,017.78 ($20,017.78)  0.00%

Park Development

PARK DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

CONTINGENCY  0.00  5,027.00  0.00  5,027.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $5,027.00 $0.00 $0.00 $5,027.00  0.00%

Sports Complex

SPORTS COMPLEX-EXPENDITURES

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  1,075.38  0.00  18,213.95 (18,213.95)  0.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  0.00  16,955.00 (16,955.00)  0.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $1,075.38 $35,168.95 ($35,168.95)  0.00%

Period (Month) =  12.0060



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT EXPENDIT

COMMUNICATION  129.98  650.00  714.96 (64.96)  109.99%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  396.96  7,400.00  693.01  6,706.99  9.37%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  380.00  14,000.00  6,524.40  7,475.60  46.60%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  87,567.47  679,276.00  650,366.84  28,909.16  95.74%

SALARIES  4,552.44  57,160.00  57,250.87 (90.87)  100.16%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  20,520.00  20,520.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  56,950.00  56,950.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO NEW EQUIP. RESERVE  0.00  1,844.00  1,844.00  0.00  100.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  3,000.00  1,798.14  1,201.86  59.94%

UNIFORMS  0.00  200.00  165.00  35.00  82.50%

Total Expenditures $841,000.00 $93,026.85 $796,827.22 $44,172.78  94.75%

Bond & Interest

BOND & INTEREST EXPENDITURES

BOND PRINCIPAL  0.00  1,035,000.00  1,035,000.00  0.00  100.00%

CASH BASIS RESERVE  0.00  60,000.00  0.00  60,000.00  0.00%

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BONDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

INTEREST COUPONS  0.00  516,736.00  499,325.52  17,410.48  96.63%

INTEREST ON TEMPORARY NOTE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

INTEREST ON TIF  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEVY STABILIZATION  0.00  75,000.00  0.00  75,000.00  0.00%

NEIGHBORHOOD REVIT REBATE  0.00  4,824.00  5,077.57 (253.57)  105.26%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DIST  0.00  23,764.00  13,324.02  10,439.98  56.07%

TRANSFER TO RESERVE FOR TIF  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $1,715,324.00 $0.00 $1,552,727.11 $162,596.89  90.52%

TDD Sales Tax

TDD SLS TAX   EXPENDITURES

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  16,369.33  0.00  220,876.20 (220,876.20)  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $16,369.33 $220,876.20 ($220,876.20)  0.00%

Home Depot Economic Dev Bonds

H DEPOT ECON DEV BND-EXPENDITU

BOND PRINCIPAL  0.00  100,000.00  100,000.00  0.00  100.00%

INTEREST COUPONS  0.00  107,993.00  107,992.52  0.48  100.00%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $207,993.00 $0.00 $207,992.52 $0.48  100.00%

48th/Roth Ave. - CID

48TH/ ROTH AVE CID-EXPENDITURE

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

Water & Sewer

DEBT SERVICE

INT-REVENUE BND PAYMENT 2009A  11,629.58  145,055.00  143,221.68  1,833.32  98.74%

INTEREST-REVENUE BOND  0.00  1,120.00  653.31  466.69  58.33%

PRINCIPAL & INT. REVOLVING LOA  33,282.74  399,393.00  401,520.23 (2,127.23)  100.53%

PRINCIPAL PAYMENT-SLS TX  BOND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PWWSD #15  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REV BOND PAYMENT 2009-A  13,333.34  275,000.00  236,666.72  38,333.28  86.06%

REVENUE BOND PAYMENT  0.00  35,000.00  20,416.69  14,583.31  58.33%

SALES TAX BOND ISSUE-INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

UNAMORITIZED 1996 BOND IS.COST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

WATER EXPLORATION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $855,568.00 $58,245.66 $802,478.63 $53,089.37  93.79%

Period (Month) =  12.0061



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

DEBT SERVICE - SALES TAX

PRINCIPAL PAYMENT-SLS TX  BOND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PWWSD #15  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

SALES TAX BOND ISSUE-INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER-SALES TAX RESERVE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

UNAMORITIZED 1996 BOND IS.COST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

WATER EXPLORATION  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

W/S NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURES

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

CLEAN DRINKING WATER FEE  0.00  18,000.00  20,799.46 (2,799.46)  115.55%

CONTINGENCY  1,416.65  100,000.00  20,039.94  79,960.06  20.04%

GRANT FUNDING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

INTEREST ON METER DEPOSITS  20.26  5,000.00  240.67  4,759.33  4.81%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  1,115.75  0.00  14,931.57 (14,931.57)  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  25,000.00  15,800.00  9,200.00  63.20%

R-9  RANCH EXPENDITURES  0.00  250,000.00  125,736.90  124,263.10  50.29%

TRANSFER TO BOND & INTEREST  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO CAPITAL IMPROVEMEN  500,000.00  500,000.00  500,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  417,579.00  417,579.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  907,575.00  907,575.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO NEW EQUIP. RESERVE  0.00  58,218.00  58,218.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO STORMWATER MGT  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER-SALES TAX RESERVE  0.00  2,704,300.00  0.00  2,704,300.00  0.00%

TRNSF TO GEN.  FROM WA SLS TX  0.00  542,827.00  542,827.00  0.00  100.00%

WATER TAPS, HYDRANTS, METERS  23,380.73  124,275.00  110,921.81  13,353.19  89.26%

Total Expenditures $5,652,774.00 $525,933.39 $2,734,669.35 $2,918,104.65  48.38%

WASTEWATER TREATMENT & COLL.

CHEMICALS  3,770.10  65,160.00  82,846.45 (17,686.45)  127.14%

COMMUNICATION  398.20  3,000.00  2,375.70  624.30  79.19%

ELECTRICITY  29,054.99  158,000.00  170,572.83 (12,572.83)  107.96%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  12,899.48  56,420.00  74,052.80 (17,632.80)  131.25%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  2,388.48  22,700.00  16,798.52  5,901.48  74.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

NATURAL GAS  1,541.92  40,520.00  20,981.50  19,538.50  51.78%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  61.25  600.00  472.02  127.98  78.67%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  5,824.62  33,000.00  32,631.50  368.50  98.88%

OVERTIME  2,221.00  15,000.00  28,098.94 (13,098.94)  187.33%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  2,277.00  17,660.00  23,403.13 (5,743.13)  132.52%

PROJECTS  0.00  30,000.00  14,298.29  15,701.71  47.66%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  303.00  5,000.00  4,341.27  658.73  86.83%

SALARIES  43,481.78  461,240.00  423,724.84  37,515.16  91.87%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  945.00  16,250.00  5,245.71  11,004.29  32.28%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  3,410.00  3,004.66  405.34  88.11%

UNIFORMS  360.52  4,080.00  3,018.92  1,061.08  73.99%

Total Expenditures $932,040.00 $105,527.34 $905,867.08 $26,172.92  97.19%

Period (Month) =  12.0062



Expenses 

Current Mo.

Budgeted 

2012

Expenses 

To Date

Balance

% Spent

YTD

WATER PRODUCTION & DIST.

CHEMICALS  38,654.86  466,480.00  450,875.80  15,604.20  96.65%

COMMUNICATION  894.07  4,300.00  5,030.47 (730.47)  116.99%

ELECTRICITY  38,450.54  239,000.00  250,290.93 (11,290.93)  104.72%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  14,637.57  56,140.00  38,883.73  17,256.27  69.26%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  1,548.02  42,000.00  26,502.32  15,497.68  63.10%

INSURANCE & SURETY BONDS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  3,150.00  283.12  2,866.88  8.99%

NATURAL GAS  1,156.93  13,360.00  5,617.63  7,742.37  42.05%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  129.35  1,100.00  446.94  653.06  40.63%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  2,694.35  91,720.00  64,137.63  27,582.37  69.93%

OVERTIME  822.19  22,000.00  23,351.45 (1,351.45)  106.14%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  15,540.00  3,274.57  12,265.43  21.07%

PROJECTS  0.00  18,000.00  0.00  18,000.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  221.81  4,500.00  2,448.03  2,051.97  54.40%

SALARIES  56,311.50  523,120.00  533,740.33 (10,620.33)  102.03%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  1,673.42  9,950.00  18,716.68 (8,766.68)  188.11%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  0.00  3,500.00  2,420.05  1,079.95  69.14%

UNIFORMS  530.69  5,000.00  3,273.70  1,726.30  65.47%

Total Expenditures $1,518,860.00 $157,725.30 $1,429,293.38 $89,566.62  94.10%

Solid Waste

SOLID WASTE FUND EXPENDITURE

COMMUNICATION  159.79  1,190.00  981.33  208.67  82.46%

CONTINGENCY  0.00  5,000.00  214.55  4,785.45  4.29%

DEBT SERVICES  0.00  56,000.00  55,992.80  7.20  99.99%

DEPRECIATION EXPENSE  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

ELECTRICITY  269.83  3,541.00  3,628.38 (87.38)  102.47%

EQUIPMENT EXPENSE  3,650.63  10,900.00  8,239.72  2,660.28  75.59%

GENERAL SUPPLIES & MATERIALS  918.21  23,240.00  18,760.29  4,479.71  80.72%

LEGAL PUBLICATIONS & PRINTING  0.00  2,000.00  361.09  1,638.91  18.05%

NATURAL GAS  86.01  3,084.00  1,225.79  1,858.21  39.75%

NEW EQUIPMENT  0.00  60,000.00  10,400.00  49,600.00  17.33%

OFFICE SUPPLIES  0.00  500.00  39.65  460.35  7.93%

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  28,195.44  376,880.00  325,435.64  51,444.36  86.35%

OVERTIME  264.11  5,500.00  5,733.40 (233.40)  104.24%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

PROJECTS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

RENTALS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

REPAIRS TO BLDGS & STRUCTURES  0.00  3,600.00  2,040.49  1,559.51  56.68%

SALARIES  36,732.34  327,640.00  322,543.54  5,096.46  98.44%

SEASONAL/PART TIME  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFER TO EMPLOYEE BENEFIT  0.00  150,514.00  150,514.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND  0.00  245,000.00  245,000.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO RESERVES  89,023.00  89,023.00  89,023.00  0.00  100.00%

TRANSFER TO WATER/SEWER FUND  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRANSFERS  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

TRAVEL & TRAINING  109.83  800.00  800.81 (0.81)  100.10%

UNIFORMS  744.64  3,500.00  3,171.19  328.81  90.61%

UTILITY-WATER  0.00  1,200.00  0.00  1,200.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $1,369,112.00 $160,153.83 $1,244,105.67 $125,006.33  90.87%

Fire Insurance Trust

FIRE INS TRUST EXPENDITURES

OTHER CONTRACTUAL SERVICES  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00%

Total Expenditures $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  0.00%

$34,788,314.00 $2,607,663.84 $28,377,319.74 $6,410,994.26 Grand Totals  81.57%

Period (Month) =  12.0063



 

64



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

         COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 5         MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 
 
 
TOPIC:           
 
Mayoral Appointment Recommendation  
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Receive Mayor Hickman’s proposed appointment to the Sister Cities Advisory Board.   
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The following proposed appointment will be presented for approval at the February 14, 2013 City 
Commission meeting. 
 
Sister Cities Advisory Board  
 

Mehran Shahidi – 3-year term to expire 1-1-16 (2nd term) 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION: 
 
Mayor Hickman 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
N/A 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Application submitted for this board 

65



CITY OF HAYS 
APPLICATION FOR SERVING ON A CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 
 
 
Email: mehrancons@yahoo.com  
 
Date: 1/6/2013  
 
Name: Mehran Shahidi  
 
Address: 608 E. 16th. Street Hays, Ks 67601  
 
Day Time Phone Number: 408-438-8229  
 
Evening Phone Number: 408-438-8229  
 
Place of Employment: Fort Hays State University  
 
How long have you been a Resident of Hays: 6 years  
 
Name of Board(s) you are interested in serving on: Sister Cities  
 
How much time could you devote per month: 5 Hours  
 
Are you related to anyone who is currently serving on a Board/Committee?: No  
 
If Yes, Explain:  
 
Briefly describe why you are interested in serving on a Board/Committee for the 
City of Hays: As the Director of English as a Second Language at FHSU, since 
2007, I am directly involved with nearly 400 international students representing 
about 23 countries. Cultural diversity is a professional objective as well as a 
personal goal for me with our community. "Sister Cities Committee" is an 
important way to assist in achieving cultural diversity and understanding and to 
grow the number of international residents in our community.  
 
Please list any groups or activities that you participate in, or have previously 
participated in, that demonstrates your involvement in the community: A member 
of Hays Rotary Club A member of the Community Connections task force ( A part 
of The Center For Life Experiences)  
 

66



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6     MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Request by Ellis County – Support for Sales Tax Legislation 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Consider providing a Letter of Support for Ellis County in support of the necessary legislation 
allowing the County to keep all sales tax proceeds if a sales tax is approved regarding 
funding to build a joint EMS/Rural Fire facility and improvements to the Ellis County 
courthouse and jail. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The Hays City Commission has been approached by Ellis County asking for support for 
legislation amending KSA 12-187.  The amendment would allow Ellis County to receive 100% 
of the revenue generated by a special sales tax that Ellis County is planning to put on a ballot 
in 2013.  The special sales tax would be utilized to fund the building of a joint EMS/Rural Fire 
facility as well as improvements to the Ellis County courthouse and jail.  As presented to the 
Hays City Commission, the ballot will have two questions for voters to consider: one dealing 
specifically with the EMS/Rural Fire and one for the courthouse/jail.  According to Ellis 
County, receiving 100% of the sales tax revenue would allow them to pay off one, or both, of 
these projects in an expedited manner, and the sales taxes would sunset upon payment of 
the project(s).   
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Greg Sund, Ellis County Administrator 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
N/A 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Proposed Letter of Support 
Letter and Supporting Materials from Ellis County Administrator Greg Sund 

 

67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



 

80



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 7     MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
27th Street – Restripe to 3-lane Configuration 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Consider removing on-street parking and restriping 27th Street to a 3-lane configuration from 
Hall to Plum. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
Staff was asked to consider the issues regarding a proposal to eliminate on-street parking 
and restripe 27th Street to a 3-lane configuration from Hall to Plum.  This change was 
recommended by the 2004 City Wide Traffic Study, and considered by the City Commission 
in 2008; however, the proposed change was not approved.  Staff has updated traffic counts, 
reviewed crash data, and contacted adjacent property owners.  The recommendation is to 
proceed with eliminating on-street parking and restriping to 3-lanes. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
Don Scheibler, Chief of Police 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
City Staff recommends restriping the section to a 3-lane configuration. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo 
Exhibit A – Traffic Count Map 
Exhibit B – Excerpts of September 11, 2008 City Commission Meeting Minutes 
Exhibit C – Accident Locations Map 
Exhibit D – Sample Letter to Residents 
Exhibit E – Public Comment from Residents 

 
 

81



  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 
    
Work Session: January 3, 2013 
 
Subject: 27th Street – Restripe to 3-lane consideration  
 
Person(s)  Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Responsible: I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
 
 

Summary 
At the October 18, 2012 work session, staff was asked to consider the issues regarding a 
proposal to eliminate on-street parking and restripe 27th Street to a 3-lane configuration 
from Hall to Plum.  This change was recommended by the 2004 City Wide Traffic Study, 
and considered by the City Commission in 2008; however, the proposed change was not 
approved.  Staff has updated traffic counts, reviewed crash data, and contacted adjacent 
property owners.  The recommendation is to proceed with eliminating on-street parking 
and restriping to 3-lanes. 
 

Background  
27th Street is an arterial street running east and west across the city and is, with the 
exception of Vine Street, the most traveled street in Hays.  Exhibit A shows the traffic 
counts of various arterial streets in Hays.  27th Street between Hall and Plum is only two 
lanes, but carries 11,000 vehicles per day (vpd).  The most traffic any other two-lane 
street carries is 7,000 vpd on 8th Street and 13th Street in the downtown areas. 
 
This issue was addressed in the 2004 City Wide Traffic Study conducted by HWS 
Consultants.  The report looked at the entire 27th Street corridor and how it changes from 
5-lanes at Vine Street down to 2-lanes west of Plum, then back to 4 lanes west of Hall.  
The report recommended restriping the corridor to a consistent 3-lane section from Fort 
to Englewood.    
 
In September 2008, the City Commission considered restriping 27th Street to a three-lane 
configuration from Hall to Plum.  At that time, there were several adjacent residents 
opposed to the restriping and a motion to restripe failed 3-2.  Excerpts from that meeting 
are attached in Exhibit B. 
 
At the October 18, 2012 City Commission Work Session, staff was asked to relook at the 
situation and contact adjacent property owners for comment.  A considerable amount of 

82



information regarding the issue was included in the agenda packet for the October 18th 
work session and is available for review on the City of Hays website. 

 

Discussion 
Traffic patterns, traffic volume, accidents, and environment have changed little since 
2008.  
    2008     2012 
Traffic Count   9,500-11,000 vpd   10,700 vpd 
Accident Data:  9 per year    11 per year 
 
Traffic Counts – Traffic counts taken in August 2012 showed the peak hour between 3:00 
pm to 4:00 pm with nearly 1000 vehicles per hour during that time.  In addition to 
counting vehicles, the data collected by City staff indicated an 85th percentile speed of 34 
mph, which means that 85% of the vehicles travelling on this stretch of 27th Street were 
traveling at or below 34 mph.  The speed limit on this section of 27th Street is 30 mph. 
 
Level of Service and Safety– While the traffic volume on 27th Street is higher than any 
other two lane road in the city, it does have adequate capacity and provides an acceptable 
level of service.  However, the inconsistency of the 4-lane to 3-lane to 2-lane back to 4-
lane configuration combined with many access points and turning movements causes 
safety issues, which are evident in the type and number of crashes. 
 
Staff’s review of 50 accidents on this stretch of 27th Street since 2007 indicated that 20 
(40%) may have been prevented if on-street parking had been eliminated and a center 
opposing left turn lane added.  A diagram showing accident locations is attached in 
Exhibit C. 
 
The sample letter in Exhibit D was mailed to 47 property owners and/or residents along 
27th Street from Ash to Hall.  All were invited to attend the January 3rd work session, or 
contact staff to express their opinions or concerns.  Only two inquiries were received by 
staff.  They are detailed in Exhibit E. 
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The estimated cost to restripe 27th Street to a 3-lane configuration from Plum to Hall is 
$20,000 (contract work) or $6,000 (in-house).  In-house funding of the cost could be 
absorbed into the current operational budget.  If accomplished by contract work, the 
$20,000 cost may need to come from City Commission Financial Policy Projects. 
 

Options 
1. Direct staff to remove on-street parking and restripe 27th Street to 3-lane from 

Hall to Plum Street using in-house labor at an approximate material cost of 
$6,000. 

83



2. Direct staff to remove on-street parking and hire contractor to restripe 27th Street 
to 3-lane from Hall to Plum at an estimated cost of $20,000. 

3. Provide other direction to staff 
4. Make no change. 

 

Recommendation 
City Staff recommends restriping the section to a 3-lane configuration. 
  

Action Requested 
Consider removing on-street parking and restriping 27th Street to a 3-lane configuration 
from Hall to Plum. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Exhibit A – Traffic Count Map 
Exhibit B – Excerpts of September 11, 2008 City Commission Meeting Minutes 
Exhibit C – Accident Locations Map 
Exhibit D – Sample Letter to Residents 
Exhibit E – Public Comment from Residents 

 
 

84



Traffic Counts

27th St

13th St

I

-

7

0

8

t

h

 

S

t

H
a

l
l
 
S

t

V
i
n

e
 
S

t

C
a

n
t
e

r
b

u
r
y

14,000

16,000

13,000

7,500

12,000

9,000

12,000

11,000

9,000

8,000

7,000

7,000

9,000

85

johnbraun
Text Box
Exhibit A



Excerpts from 

MINUTES OF A MEETING  

OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 

THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 

HELD ON SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 

 

14.  PROPOSAL TO RESTRIPE 27TH STREET TO THREE LANES FROM 

PLUM TO HALL: City staff was requested to look at the issues related to 

restriping 27th Street from Plum to Hall from a two-lane to a three-lane 

configuration.  Traffic counts, accident data, and public input was gathered and 

presented to the Commission for consideration.  The 2004 City Wide Traffic 

Study recommended the proposed changes as well.  The estimated cost to re-

stripe is $20,108. 

 Ron Mellick moved, Allan Lytton seconded, that funds be authorized to re-

stripe 27th Street to a three-lane configuration from Plum to Hall Street. 

 Commissioner Channell stated he saw no need to re-stripe that section of 

27th Street. 

 Chairperson Wasinger stated that after driving the area, she does not 

think the street should be re-striped.  The houses in that area that face 27th 

Street do not have any parking on one side of the street already.  She does not 

want to take away the other side too.  She does not see a problem that needs 

fixing. 

 Commissioner Mellick cited other areas of town where people have lost 

their parking and in some cases, property, in order to make traffic flow better and 

be consistent with the rest of the town.  The 2nd busiest street in Hays should be 

consistent and have a three-lane configuration.  Plum to Hall is the only section 

of 27th that is two-lane.   

 Dominic Pianalto, 330 West 27th Street, stated that not everyone in that 

area has access to a side street for parking; therefore, it is often necessary to 

park in front of other homes inconveniencing those homeowners.  A realtor has 

informed him that if street parking is taken away, the value of his property would 

86

johnbraun
Text Box
Exhibit B



be significantly reduced.  He requested the street not be re-striped to a three-

lane configuration. 

 Donna Hansen, 322 West 27th Street, is concerned that if parking in front 

of her home is removed, it would be harder to back out of her driveway.  Also a 

three-lane street would put pedestrians closer to traffic.   

 Gary Simon, 324 West 27th Street, stated that the area only experiences 

high traffic flows for just a few minutes two times a day, at 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 

p.m.  He does not feel it is justified to change to a three-lane configuration 

because there is not a problem any other time of the day.  There are several cars 

in his family and he would have no other place to park the vehicles. 

 

   Vote: Ayes: Ron Mellick 

     Allan Lytton 

    No: Barbara Wasinger 

     Christopher Channell 

     Troy Hickman 

 

87



X2

X5

2004

HALL

ST

510

W

21ST

ST

512

W

21ST

ST

514

W

21ST

ST

516

W

21ST

ST

518

W

21ST

ST

520

W

21ST

ST

507

W

20TH

ST

509

W

20TH

ST

511

W

20TH

ST

513

W

20TH

ST

2000

HALL

ST

508

W

20TH

ST

510

W

20TH

ST

512

W

20TH

ST

514

W

20TH

ST

516

W

20TH

ST

19TH

513

W

19TH

ST

515

W

19TH

ST

517

W

19TH

ST

519

W

19TH

ST

521

W

19TH

ST

523

W

19TH

ST

525

W

19TH

ST

527

W

19TH

ST

304

W

7TH

ST

306

W

7TH

ST

308

W

7TH

ST

305

W

7TH

ST

315

W

7TH

ST

315

EMPTY LOT

7TH

ST

215

W

7TH

ST

807

WALNUT

ST

1101

WALNUT

ST

410

W

11TH

ST

414

W

11TH

ST

418

W

11TH

ST

334

W

11TH

ST

330

W

11TH

ST

415

W

14TH

ST

417

W

14TH

ST

416

15TH

501

W

15TH

ST

509

W

15TH

ST

511

W

15TH

ST

513

W

15TH

ST

515

W

15TH

ST

335

W

11TH

ST

402

W

12TH

ST

413

W

11TH

ST

417

W

11TH

ST

421

W

11TH

ST

429

W

11TH

ST

416

W

12TH

ST

420

W

12TH

ST

422

W

12TH

ST

432

W

12TH

ST

1205

WALNUT

ST

401

W

12TH

ST

409

W

12TH

ST

413

W

12TH

ST

417

W

12TH

ST

425

W

12TH

ST

431

W

12TH

ST

435

W

12TH

ST

1205

ELM

1305

ELM

ST

1311

ELM

ST

504

W

14TH

ST

506

W

14TH

ST

510

W

14TH

ST

508

W

14TH

ST

410

W

14TH

ST

412

W

14TH

ST

414

W

14TH

ST

416

W

14TH

ST

505

W

14TH

ST

507

W

14TH

ST

509

W

14TH

ST

500

W

15TH

ST

502

W

15TH

ST

506

W

15TH

ST

508

W

15TH

ST

510

W

15TH

ST

512

W

15TH

ST

516

W

15TH

ST

METHODIST

CHURCH

511

24TH

513

W

24TH

ST

515

W

24TH

ST

517

W

24TH

ST

519

W

24TH

ST

521

W

24TH

ST

523

W

24TH

ST

512

W

24TH

ST

514

W

24TH

ST

516

W

24TH

ST

518

W

24TH

ST

520

W

24TH

ST

522

W

24TH

ST

524

W

24TH

ST

526

W

24TH

ST

513

W

23RD

ST

515

W

23RD

ST

517

W

23RD

ST

519

W

23RD

ST

521

W

23RD

ST

523

W

23RD

ST

527

W

23RD

ST

512

W

23RD

ST

514

W

23RD

ST

516

W

23RD

ST

518

W

23RD

ST

520

W

23RD

ST

522

W

23RD

ST

524

W

23RD

ST

526

W

23RD

ST

509

21ST

511

W

21ST

ST

513

W

21ST

ST

517

W

21ST

ST

519

W

21ST

ST

2102

HALL

ST

2100

HALL

ST

527

W

24TH

ST

509

W

27TH

ST

302

W

8TH

ST

526

W

17TH

ST

528

W

17TH

ST

530

W

17TH

ST

511

W

16TH

ST

513

W

16TH

ST

515

W

16TH

ST

517

W

16TH

ST

519

W

16TH

ST

521

W

16TH

ST

523

W

16TH

ST

525

W

16TH

ST

527

W

16TH

ST

506

W

16TH

ST

508

W

16TH

ST

510

W

16TH

ST

516

W

16TH

ST

518

W

16TH

ST

520

W

16TH

ST

522

W

16TH

ST

524

W

16TH

ST

519

W

15TH

ST

517

W

15TH

ST

505

W

15TH

ST

512

W

19TH

ST

517

W

17TH

ST

519

W

17TH

ST

523

W

17TH

ST

525

W

17TH

ST

527

W

17TH

ST

512

W

17TH

ST

514

W

17TH

ST

516

W

17TH

ST

518

W

17TH

ST

520

W

17TH

ST

522

W

17TH

ST

524

W

17TH

ST

410

W

13TH

ST

412

W

13TH

ST

414

W

13TH

ST

416

W

13TH

ST

332

W

8TH

ST

335

W

8TH

ST

324

W

8TH

ST

320

W

8TH

ST

316

W

8TH

ST

524

W

27TH

ST

526

W

27TH

ST

515

W

27TH

ST

513

W

27TH

ST

511

W

27TH

ST

514

W

27TH

ST

516

W

27TH

ST

520

W

27TH

ST

505

W

13TH

ST

1211

ELM

ST

1207

ELM

ST

1301

ELM

ST

417

W

13TH

ST

407

W

13TH

ST

409

W

13TH

ST

413

W

13TH

ST

406

W

13TH

ST

408

W

13TH

ST

101

MAIN

ST

809

ASH

234

W

8TH

ST

Gambino's Pizza

US

ARMY

RESERVE

CENTER

410

FORT

ST

408

FORT

ST

113

4TH

115

W

4TH

ST

407

FORT

ST

200

W

5TH

ST

202

W

5TH

ST

204

W

5TH

ST

208

W

5TH

ST

207

W

4TH

ST

205

W

4TH

ST

201

W

5TH

ST

203

W

5TH

ST

205

W

5TH

ST

209

W

5TH

ST

211

W

5TH

ST

213

W

5TH

ST

215

W

5TH

ST

217

W

5TH

ST

TKE

204

W

6TH

ST

206

W

6TH

ST

208

W

6TH

ST

210

W

6TH

ST

212

W

6TH

ST

207

W

6TH

ST

209

W

6TH

ST

217

W

6TH

ST

215

W

6TH

ST

208

7TH

212

W

7TH

ST

216

W

7TH

ST

213

W

7TH

ST

211

W

7TH

ST

PARKING

301

W

6TH

ST

303

W

6TH

ST

305

W

6TH

ST

300

W

6TH

ST

301

FORT

ST

303

FORT

ST

200

W

4TH

ST

202

W

4TH

ST

333

W

8TH

ST

900

WALNUT

ST

326

W

9TH

ST

322

W

9TH

ST

320

W

9TH

ST

312

W

9TH

ST

306

W

9TH

ST

328

W

9TH

ST

531

W

27TH

ST

102

MAIN

ST

525

W

24TH

ST

514

W

16TH

ST

1405

ELM

ST

1401

ELM

ST

201

W

4TH

ST

508 A & B

ASH

ST

213

W

6TH

ST

309

W

10TH

ST

326

W

11TH

ST

512

MISSION

MT

514

MISSION

MT

212

W

5TH

ST

334

W

12TH

ST

1011

WALNUT

ST

517

MISSION

MT

207

W

3RD

ST

806

WALNUT

ST

517

W

27TH

ST

100

MAIN

ST

MAIN ST

PARK

FIRST

METHODIST

CHURCH

FRONTIER

PARK

NORTH

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 1ST ST

W 4TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

MISSION MT

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 1ST ST

W 4TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

MISSION MT

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 1ST ST

W 4TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

MISSION MT

1302

ELM

ST

X4

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 1ST ST

W 4TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

MISSION MT

A

88

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Text Box
Accident may have been prevented by three-lane

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Text Box
Exhibit C



2003

ELM

ST

502

W

21ST

ST

504

W

21ST

ST

506

W

21ST

ST

508

W

21ST

ST

510

W

21ST

ST

410

21ST

2402

CANAL

BLVD

411

20TH

ST

501

W

20TH

ST

503

W

20TH

ST

505

W

20TH

ST

507

W

20TH

ST

1908

ELM

ST

500

W

20TH

ST

502

W

20TH

ST

504

W

20TH

ST

506

W

20TH

ST

1900

ELM

ST

1901

ELM

ST

507

W

19TH

ST

509 A & B

W

19TH

ST

511

W

19TH

ST

19TH

S&S

W

9TH

ST

214

W

9TH

ST

230

W

9TH

ST

232

W

9TH

ST

306

W

11TH

ST

308

W

11TH

ST

314

W

11TH

ST

318

W

11TH

ST

---

W

10TH

ST

---

W

10TH

ST

----

W

11TH

ST

314

W

12TH

ST

320

W

12TH

ST

328

W

12TH

ST

309

W

11TH

ST

319

W

11TH

ST

327

W

11TH

ST

413

W

14TH

ST

415

W

14TH

ST

417

14TH

400

W

15TH

ST

402

W

15TH

ST

404

W

15TH

ST

408

W

15TH

ST

410

W

15TH

ST

412

W

15TH

ST

416

W

15TH

ST

414

W

15TH

ST

407

W

15TH

ST

417

W

15TH

ST

413

W

15TH

ST

411

W

15TH

ST

415

W

15TH

ST

404

W

16TH

ST

406

W

16TH

ST

410

W

16TH

ST

412

W

16TH

ST

414

W

16TH

ST

416

W

16TH

ST

317

14TH

329

W

11TH

ST

WALNUT

1305

WALNUT

ST

402

W

14TH

ST

406

W

14TH

ST

408

W

14TH

ST

410

W

14TH

ST

412

W

14TH

ST

401

W

14TH

ST

403

W

14TH

ST

405

W

14TH

ST

407

W

14TH

ST

409

W

14TH

ST

411

W

14TH

ST

COASTAL MART

CODY'S

APT.

2401

CANAL

BLVD

507

W

24TH

ST

509

W

24TH

ST

511

W

24TH

ST

500

W

24TH

ST

502

W

24TH

ST

504

W

24TH

ST

506

W

24TH

ST

508

W

24TH

ST

510

W

24TH

ST

512

W

24TH

ST

419

W

23RD

ST

501

W

23RD

ST

503

W

23RD

ST

509

W

23RD

ST

511

W

23RD

ST

513

W

23RD

ST

500

W

23RD

ST

502

W

23RD

ST

504

W

23RD

ST

506

W

23RD

ST

508

W

23RD

ST

510

W

23RD

ST

512

W

23RD

ST

2106

503

W

21ST

ST

2103

ELM

ST

2101

ELM

ST

505

W

21ST

ST

507

W

21ST

ST

509

W

21ST

ST

400

MAIN

ST

235

W

11TH

ST

705

FORT

ST

235

W

8TH

ST

218

W

8TH

ST

206

W

8TH

ST

507

W

16TH

ST

509

W

16TH

ST

1507

ELM

ST

1509

ELM

ST

1800

ELM

ST

1804

ELM

ST

410

17TH

412

W

17TH

ST

1610

ELM

ST

1602

ELM

ST

419

W

17TH

ST

1702

ELM

ST

1706

ELM

ST

1710

ELM

ST

512

W

19TH

ST

503

W

17TH

ST

507

W

17TH

ST

509

W

17TH

ST

1601

ELM

ST

506

W

17TH

ST

508

W

17TH

ST

510

W

17TH

ST

512

W

17TH

ST

317

W

13TH

ST

230

W

8TH

ST

226

W

8TH

ST

222

W

8TH

ST

225

W

8TH

ST

221

W

8TH

ST

418

W

27TH

ST

420

W

27TH

ST

2404

CANAL

BLVD

2700

CANAL

BLVD

ST

2403

CANAL

BLVD

512

W

27TH

ST

401

W

13TH

ST

403

W

13TH

ST

407

W

13TH

ST

1211

WALNUT

ST

1207

WALNUT

ST

305

MAIN

ST

101

W

4TH

ST

404

MAIN

ST

323

W

12TH

ST

300

W

12TH

ST

1101

ASH

ST

300

W

11TH

ST

1005

ASH

ST

234

W

11TH

ST

237

W

10TH

ST

234

W

9TH

ST

809

ASH

ST

200

W

8TH

ST

234

W

8TH

ST

DSNWK

HAYS

AQUATIC

PARK

ARMORY

300

MAIN

ST

WILD ROSE

110

W

7TH

ST

114

W

7TH

ST

CANCER COUNCIL

HDN

PARKING

116

W

6TH

ST

HDN

PARKING

105

W

5TH

ST

109

W

5TH

ST

115

W

5TH

ST

STATE

GLASS

SHOP

112

W

5TH

ST

EMPTY

LOTS

410

FORT

ST

108

W

5TH

ST

113

W

4TH

ST

111

W

4TH

ST

109

W

4TH

ST

200

W

6TH

ST

201

W

6TH

ST

203

W

6TH

ST

205

W

6TH

ST

207

W

6TH

ST

204

W

7TH

ST

MARY ELLIBETH

MATERNITY HOME

206

W

7TH

ST

208

W

7TH

ST

213

7TH

211

W

7TH

ST

209

W

7TH

ST

207 1/2

W

7TH

ST

207

W

7TH

ST

312

9TH

306

W

9TH

ST

501

W

27TH

ST

MAIN

200

MAIN

ST

117

W

5TH

ST

2305

CANAL

BLVD

505

W

19TH

ST

510

MISSION

MT

506

MISSION

MT

1705

ELM

ST

505

W

17TH

ST

1611

ELM

ST

309

W

10TH

ST

301

W

10TH

ST

326

W

11TH

ST

324

W

11TH

ST

310

W

12TH

ST

308

W

12TH

ST

505

W

23RD

ST

1607

ELM

ST

512

MISSION

MT

502

MISSION

MT

312

W

12TH

ST

334

W

12TH

ST

113

W

5TH

ST

703

FORT

ST

504

FORT

ST

501

MISSION

MT

503

MISSION

MT

505

MISSION

MT

509

MISSION

MT

409

MAIN

ST

307

W

10TH

ST

804

ASH

ST

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 23RD ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 FO
RT

 ST

MISSION MT

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 23RD ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 FO
RT

 ST

MISSION MT

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 23RD ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 FO
RT

 ST

MISSION MT

X2

 DEPOT PARKING ST

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 23RD ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 FO
RT

 ST

MISSION MT

A

B

89

johnbraun
Polygon



2101

CANAL

BLVD

403

W

21ST

ST

405

W

21ST

ST

407

W

21ST

ST

2003

CANAL

BLVD

402

W

21ST

ST

404

W

21ST

ST

408

W

21ST

ST

410

W

21ST

ST

409

W

24TH

ST

411

W

24TH

ST

413

W

24TH

ST

415

W

24TH

ST

417

W

24TH

ST

419

W

24TH

ST

406

W

24TH

ST

408

W

24TH

ST

414

W

24TH

ST

2304

CANAL

BLVD

405

W

23RD

ST

407

W

23RD

ST

409

W

23RD

ST

2302

CANAL

BLVD

2106

CANAL

BLVD

2108

CANAL

BLVD

2110

CANAL

BLVD

406

W

23RD

ST

2102

CANAL

BLVD

2104

CANAL

BLVD

2001

CANAL

BLVD

403

W

20TH

ST

407

W

20TH

ST

409

W

20TH

ST

411

W

20TH

ST

406

W

20TH

ST

408

W

20TH

ST

410

W

20TH

ST

412

W

20TH

ST

1908

ELM

ST

407

W

19TH

ST

409

W

19TH

ST

411

W

19TH

ST
413

W

19TH

ST

415

W

19TH

ST

419

W

19TH

ST

421

W

19TH

ST

1900

ELM

ST

---

W

9TH

ST

S&S

W

9TH

ST

114

9TH

ST

112

9TH

ST

120

9TH

ST

124

9TH

ST

---

W

10TH

ST

---

W

10TH

ST

209

W

10TH

ST

400

W

15TH

ST

407

W

15TH

ST

400

W

16TH

ST

402

W

16TH

ST

404

W

16TH

ST

16TH

401

W

16TH

ST

403

W

16TH

ST

405

W

16TH

ST

407

W

16TH

ST

305

W

14TH

ST

307

W

14TH

ST

309

W

14TH

ST

311

W

14TH

ST

313

W

14TH

ST

315

W

14TH

ST

317

W

14TH

ST

304

W

15TH

ST

306

W

15TH

ST

308

W

15TH

ST

310

W

15TH

ST

312

W

15TH

ST

314

W

15TH

ST

316

W

15TH

ST

303

W

15TH

ST

305

W

15TH

ST

307

W

15TH

ST

309

W

15TH

ST

311

W

15TH

ST

313

W

15TH

ST

1500

WALNUT

ST

310

W

16TH

ST

312

W

16TH

ST

314

W

16TH

ST

316

W

16TH

ST

313

W

16TH

ST

315

W

16TH

ST

317

W

16TH

ST

229

W

12TH

ST

223

W

12TH

ST

221

W

12TH

ST

213

W

12TH

ST

209

W

12TH

ST

MOORS

TOURS

SWB

17TH

419

W

23RD

ST

2301

CANAL

BLVD

2109

CANAL

BLVD

2107

CANAL

BLVD

2105

CANAL

BLVD

2106

ELM

ST

2100

ELM

ST

ST

ST

717 1/2

MAIN

ST

705 1/2

MAIN

ST

235

11TH

ST

705

FORT

ST

135

W

8TH

ST

131

W

8TH

ST

119

W

8TH

ST

117

W

8TH

ST

115

W

8TH

ST

113

W

8TH

ST

8TH

406

W

19TH

ST

408

W

19TH

ST

410

W

19TH

ST

412

W

19TH

ST

414

W

19TH

ST

418

W

19TH

ST

1800

ELM

ST

1804

ELM

ST

411

W

18TH

ST

413

W

18TH

ST

415

W

18TH

ST

418

W

18TH

ST

414

W

18TH

ST
412

W

18TH

ST

410

W

18TH

ST

408

W

18TH

ST

18TH

1701

WALNUT

ST

405

W

17TH

ST

407

W

17TH

ST

411

W

17TH

ST

413

W

17TH

ST

1605

WALNUT

ST

404

W

17TH

ST

408

W

17TH

ST

410

W

17TH

ST

412

W

17TH

ST

409

W

16TH

ST

417

W

17TH

ST

419

W

17TH

ST

1702

ELM

ST

1704

ELM

ST

1706

ELM

ST

1708

ELM

ST

1710

ELM

ST

406

W

27TH

ST

408

W

27TH

ST

410

W

27TH

ST

412

W

27TH

ST

414

W

27TH

ST

416

W

27TH

ST

418

W

27TH

ST

2700

ELM

ST

2701

WALNUT

ST

404

MAIN

ST

507

MAIN

ST

601

MAIN

ST

100

W

7TH

ST

104

E

7TH

ST

701

MAIN

ST

705

MAIN

ST

709

MAIN

ST

711

MAIN

ST

715

MAIN

ST

210

W

13TH

ST

301

W

13TH

ST

233

W

12TH

ST

1111

FORT

ST

230

W

12TH

ST

208

W

12TH

ST

214

W

12TH

ST

220

W

12TH

ST

201

W

11TH

ST

213

W

11TH

ST

219

W

11TH

ST

221

W

11TH

ST

225

W

11TH

ST

227

W

11TH

ST

231

W

11TH

ST

233

W

11TH

ST

1011

FORT

ST
203

W

10TH

ST

126

W

11TH

ST

132

W

9TH

ST

201

W

8TH

ST

706

FORT

ST

1401

ASH

ST

1407

ASH

ST

SIP  SPIN

DSNWK

LARKS

PARK

401

OAK

ST

403

OAK

ST

405

OAK

ST

111

E

4TH

ST

109

E

4TH

ST

113

E

5TH

ST

111

E

5TH

ST

109

E

5TH

ST

EMPTY

LOTS

USD

489

TRANSPORTATION

DEPARTMENT

STROMGREN

SUPPORT

INC

DOWNTOWNER

POST OFFICE

WILD ROSE

109

W

7TH

ST

ELLIS

CO

HISTORICAL

SOCIETY

110

W

7TH

ST

HAYS

DAILY

NEWS

HDN

PARKING

208

W

9TH

ST

508

MAIN

ST

218

W

11TH

ST

Cell Tower

107

W

6TH

ST

2305

CANAL

BLVD

2306

CANAL

BLVD

410

W

24TH

ST

2005

CANAL

BLVD

226

W

12TH

ST

229

W

11TH

ST

223

W

11TH

ST

227

W

12TH

ST

1504

WALNUT

ST

405

W

15TH

ST

415

W

17TH

ST

2300

CANAL

BLVD

414

W

20TH

ST

803

FORT

ST

811

FORT

ST

600

MAIN

ST

100

W

10TH

ST

126

9TH

ST

128

9TH

ST

130

9TH

ST

200

E

4TH

ST

108

E

5TH

ST

102

E

5TH

ST

STONEPOST

APTS.

STONEPOST

APTS.

201

W

10TH

ST

FRONTIER

PARK

EAST

1510

BISON

Rd

 W 9TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST

W 11TH ST

 CANAL BLVD
 E

LM
  S

T
 W

AL
NU

T S
T

 W 9TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST

W 11TH ST

 CANAL BLVD
 E

LM
  S

T
 W

AL
NU

T S
T

 W 9TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST

W 11TH ST

 CANAL BLVD
 E

LM
  S

T
 W

AL
NU

T S
T

400

OAK

ST

 W 9TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST

W 11TH ST

 CANAL BLVD
 E

LM
  S

T
 W

AL
NU

T S
T

B

C

90

johnbraun
Polygon



2401

WALNUT

ST

405

W

24TH

ST

407

W

24TH

ST

2305

WALNUT

ST

2307

WALNUT

ST

2309

WALNUT

ST

406

W

24TH

ST

2301

WALNUT

ST

2303

WALNUT

ST

403

W

23RD

ST

405

W

23RD

ST

2215

WALNUT

ST

2217

WALNUT

ST

2219

WALNUT

ST

404

W

23RD

ST

406

23RD

ST

2002

CANAL

BLVD

2004

CANAL

BLVD

2102

CANAL

BLVD

2104

CANAL

BLVD

2007

WALNUT

ST

2009

WALNUT

ST

2011

WALNUT

ST

2101

WALNUT

ST

2103

WALNUT

ST

2105

WALNUT

ST

401

W

20TH

ST

402

W

20TH

ST

404

W

20TH

ST

406

20TH

401

W

20TH

ST

403

W

19TH

ST

405

W

19TH

ST

407

W

19TH

ST

104

9TH

ST

106

9TH

ST

110

9TH

ST

112

9TH

ST

115

W

10TH

ST

----

W

11TH

ST

----

W

11TH

ST

---

W

11TH

ST

---

W

11TH

ST

---

W

11TH

ST

---

W

11TH

ST

104

W

12TH

ST

106

W

12TH

ST

303

W

15TH

ST

305

W

15TH

ST

304

W

16TH

ST

306

W

16TH

ST

308

W

16TH

ST

303

W

16TH

ST

309

W

16TH

ST

311

W

16TH

ST

313

W

16TH

ST

315

W

16TH

ST

209

W

12TH

ST

PIONEER

PHOTO

SBCD

FARMERS

INS

STRUDY

BODIES

304

W

17TH

ST

306

W

17TH

ST

308

W

17TH

ST

310

W

17TH

ST

312

W

17TH

ST

316

W

17TH

ST

303

W

17TH

ST

305

W

17TH

ST

204

W

15TH

ST

206

W

15TH

ST

208

W

15TH

ST

210

W

15TH

ST

212

W

15TH

ST

211

W

15TH

ST

213

W

15TH

ST

210

W

16TH

ST

212

W

16TH

ST

214

W

16TH

ST

215

W

16TH

ST

WALNUT

ST

ST

1107

MAIN

ST

1011

VACANT

1007

VACANT

807

MAIN

ST

810

MAIN

ST

717 1/2

MAIN

ST

1205

FORT

ST

1201 B

FORT

ST

1201 A

FORT

ST

111

W

8TH

ST

115

E

8TH

ST

117

E

8TH

ST

8TH

DR

333

W

24TH

ST

335

W

24TH

ST

2300

WALNUT

ST

2302

WALNUT

ST

2304

WALNUT

ST

2306

WALNUT

ST

2308

WALNUT

ST

334

W

24TH

ST

318

W

23RD

ST

2218

WALNUT

ST

2114

WALNUT

ST

2112

WALNUT

ST

317

W

17TH

ST

1708

WALNUT

ST

307

W

17TH

ST

309

W

17TH

ST

311

W

17TH

ST

313

W

17TH

ST

315

W

17TH

ST

400

W

19TH

ST

1813

WALNUT

ST

404

W

19TH

ST

1801

WALNUT

ST

1803

WALNUT

ST

1805

WALNUT

ST

404

W

18TH

ST

1709

WALNUT

ST

1711

WALNUT

ST

1701

WALNUT

ST

317

W

20TH

ST

2000

WALNUT

ST

2006

WALNUT

ST

2008

WALNUT

ST

2010

WALNUT

ST

2108

WALNUT

ST

2110

WALNUT

ST

316

W

20TH

ST

318

W

20TH

ST

320

W

20TH

ST

1901

LINCOLN

401

W

19TH

ST

319

W

19TH

ST

321

W

19TH

ST

308

W

19TH

ST

310

W

19TH

ST

314

W

19TH

ST

1804

WALNUT

ST

317

W

18TH

ST

313

W

18TH

ST

311

W

18TH

ST

304

W

18TH

ST

306

W

18TH

ST

308

W

18TH

ST

310

W

18TH

ST

13TH

113

E

8TH

ST

2403

WALNUT

ST

2404

WALNUT

ST

402

W

27TH

ST

404

W

27TH

ST

406

W

27TH

ST

334

W

27TH

ST

2701

WALNUT

ST

2700

WALNUT

ST

2701

HILLCREST

DR

104

7TH

711

MAIN

ST

MAIN

719

MAIN

ST

700

MAIN

ST

706

MAIN

ST

708

MAIN

ST

718

MAIN

ST

800

MAIN

ST

806

MAIN

ST

801

MAIN

ST

809

MAIN

ST

1000

MAIN

ST

1001

MAIN

ST

1003

MAIN

ST

1013

MAIN

ST

1008

MAIN

ST

1101

MAIN

ST

1009

MAIN

ST

1309

FORT

ST

1308

FORT

ST

1304

FORT

ST

117

W

13TH

ST

1204

FORT

ST

201

W

13TH

ST

200

W

13TH

ST

1100

FORT

ST

1111

FORT

ST

11TH

213

W

14TH

ST

215

W

14TH

ST

217

W

14TH

ST

1407

ASH

ST

301

W

15TH

ST

1406

ASH

ST

216

W

15TH

ST

217

W

15TH

ST

1504

ASH

ST

300

W

16TH

ST

216

W

16TH

ST

301

W

16TH

ST

217

W

16TH

ST

300

W

17TH

ST

201

E

6TH

ST

203

E

6TH

ST

208

E

6TH

ST

206

E

6TH

ST

204

E

6TH

ST

202

E

6TH

ST

200

E

6TH

ST

211

E

5TH

ST

209

E

5TH

ST

207

E

5TH

ST

205

E

5TH

ST

203

E

5TH

ST

201

E

5TH

ST

216

E

5TH

ST

214

E

5TH

ST

212

E

5TH

ST

206

E

5TH

ST

206 1/2

E

5TH

ST

410

OAK

ST

ALANO

CLUB

217

E

4TH

ST

215

E

4TH

ST

213

E

4TH

ST

211

E

4TH

ST

209

E

4TH

ST

207

E

4TH

ST

PARKING

113

E

5TH

ST

500

OAK

ST

TRANSPORTATION

DEPARTMENT

603

OAK

ST

115

E

6TH

ST

STROMGREN

SUPPORT

116

E

7TH

ST

APPARTMET

BUILDINGS

DOWNTOWNER

111

E

7TH

ST

PARKING

PARKING

COMMERCE

BANK

PARKING

113

E

6TH

ST

202

E

5TH

ST

407

W

18TH

ST

207

W

12TH

ST

1409

FORT

ST

307

W

16TH

ST

1607

ASH

ST

2004

WALNUT

ST

2012

WALNUT

ST

2108 1/2

WALNUT

ST

400

W

20TH

ST

208

E

5TH

ST

210

E

5TH

ST

601

OAK

ST

1902

WALNUT

ST

900

MAIN

ST

507

OAK

ST

100

10TH

113

E

7TH

ST

112

E

9TH

ST

ELLIS COUNTY

105

W

12TH

ST

1220

240th

Ave

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  STW 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 13TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

W 11TH ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  STW 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 13TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

W 11TH ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 W
AL

NU
T S

T

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  STW 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 13TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

W 11TH ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 W
AL

NU
T S

T

400

OAK

ST

X3

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  STW 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 13TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

W 11TH ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 W
AL

NU
T S

T
C

D

91

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon



1001

OAK

ST

126

OAK

ST

----

E

11TH

ST

116

E

11TH

ST

114

E

11TH

ST

112

E

11TH

ST

129

11TH

ST

119

E

11TH

ST

111

E

11TH

ST

122

E

12TH

ST

120

E

12TH

ST

114

E

12TH

ST

LENNOX

BRIDAL

GALLERY

PLAN.

PARENTHOOD

PIZZA

HUT

HOBBY

SUPPLY

MADD

MOTHER

HAYS

ARTS

BRASS

RAIL

THRIFT

SHOP

17TH

205

W

15TH

ST

207

W

15TH

ST

211

W

15TH

ST

204

W

16TH

ST

206

W

16TH

ST

208

W

16TH

ST

210

W

16TH

ST

212

16TH

207

W

16TH

ST

209

W

16TH

ST

211

W

16TH

ST

213

W

16TH

ST

215

W

16TH

ST

204

W

17TH

ST

206

W

17TH

ST

208

W

17TH

ST

210

W

17TH

ST

212

W

17TH

ST

214

W

17TH

ST

205

W

17TH

ST

209

W

17TH

ST

211

W

17TH

ST

213

W

17TH

ST

215

W

17TH

ST

104

W

14TH

ST

108

W

14TH

ST

110

W

14TH

ST

105

W

14TH

ST

109

W

14TH

ST

111

W

14TH

ST

115

W

14TH

ST

108

W

15TH

ST

110

W

15TH

ST

112

W

15TH

ST

109

W

15TH

ST

113

W

15TH

ST

114

W

16TH

ST

1401 A

MAIN

ST

1107

MAIN

ST

119

E

8TH

ST

127

E

8TH

ST

135

E

8TH

ST

201

E

7TH

ST

DR

2401

LINCOLN

DR

323

W

24TH

ST

325

W

24TH

ST

327

W

24TH

ST

329

W

24TH

ST

331

W

24TH

ST

333

24TH

WALNUT

2308

WALNUT

332

W

24TH

ST

330

W

24TH

ST

2301

LINCOLN

DR

2503

LINCOLN

DR

2305

LINCOLN

DR

315

W

23RD

ST

23RD

2109

LINCOLN

DR

2105

LINCOLN

DR

311

W

23RD

ST

2200

PERSHING

DR

2103

LINCOLN

DR

2001

LINCOLN

DR

2003

LINCOLN

DR

2005

LINCOLN

DR

2007

LINCOLN

DR

2101

LINCOLN

DR

20TH

1901

LINCOLN

DR

1903

LINCOLN

DR

1905

LINCOLN

DR

1907

LINCOLN

DR

2000

PERSHING

DR

305

20TH

304

W

20TH

ST

310

W

20TH

ST

PERSHING

PERSHING

215

PERSHING

CT

210

PERSHING

CT

212

PERSHING

CT

214

PERSHING

CT

303

W

19TH

ST

306

W

19TH

ST

308

W

19TH

ST

309

W

18TH

ST

307

W

18TH

ST

304

W

18TH

ST

113

W

13TH

ST

107

W

13TH

ST

105

W

13TH

ST

103

W

13TH

ST

111

W

13TH

ST

204

E

8TH

ST

219

9TH

LINCOLN

322

W

27TH

ST

324

W

27TH

ST

326

W

27TH

ST

328

W

27TH

ST

330

W

27TH

ST

332

W

27TH

ST

334

W

27TH

ST

2700

HILLCREST

DR

2701

COTTONWOOD

LN

1313

MAIN

ST

1000

MAIN

ST

1013

MAIN

1008

MAIN

ST

1010

MAIN

ST

1012

MAIN

ST

1101

MAIN

ST

1100

MAIN

ST

1102

MAIN

ST

1109

MAIN

ST

1111

MAIN

ST

VACANT

1200

MAIN

ST

1205

MAIN

ST

1202

MAIN

ST

108

E

13TH

ST

1301

MAIN

ST

1302

MAIN

ST

1308

MAIN

1310

FORT

ST

1308

FORT

ST

1901

ASH

ST

1903

ASH

ST

1905

ASH

ST

1907

ASH

1801

ASH

ST

1803

ASH

ST

1805

ASH

ST

1807

ASH

ST

1809

ASH

ST

1808

ASH

ST

1810

ASH

ST

217

PERSHING

CT

216

PERSHING

CT

1706

ASH

ST

1708

ASH

ST

1710

ASH

ST

1712

ASH

ST

300

W

18TH

ST

1705

ASH

ST

217

W

17TH

ST

1400

FORT

ST

1406

FORT

ST

1500

FORT

ST

1411

FORT

ST

1501

FORT

ST

1402

FORT

ST

1404

FORT

ST

1504

FORT

ST

1505

FORT

ST

16TH

1606

ASH

ST

1509

FORT

ST

1511

FORT

ST

116

W

16TH

ST

201

W

16TH

ST

1605

FORT

ST

1607

FORT

ST

301

E

6TH

ST

200

E

7TH

ST

HIGH

PLAINS

MENTAL

HEALTH

HMC

PARKING

217

E

6TH

ST

211

E

6TH

ST

PARKING

LOT

212

E

6TH

ST

210

E

6TH

ST

208

E

6TH

ST

215

E

5TH

ST

501

PINE

ST

213

E

5TH

ST

211

E

5TH

ST

216

E

5TH

ST

PARKING

COMMERCE

BANK

DRIVE

THRU

HAYS

FIRE

EQUIPMENT

403

SANTA FE

ST

401

SANTA FE

ST

311

E

5TH

ST

307

E

5TH

ST

305

E

5TH

ST

303

E

5TH

ST

504

PINE

ST

306

E

6TH

ST

304

E

6TH

ST

302

E

6TH

ST

300

E

6TH

ST

121

E

11TH

ST

208

E

7TH

ST

216

E

6TH

ST

1409

FORT

ST

205

W

16TH

ST

301

W

17th

ST

2307

LINCOLN

DR

2107

LINCOLN

DR

1806 1/2

ASH

ST

1806

ASH

ST

106

W

15TH

ST

106

E

11TH

ST

1300

MAIN

ST

506

PINE

ST

2101

PERSHING

DR

404

PINE

ST

201

E

8TH

ST

128

E

9TH

ST

203

E

7TH

ST

205

E

7TH

ST

ELLIS COUNTY

HAYS PUBLIC

LIBRARY

316

W

23RD

ST

500

PINE

ST

510

PINE

ST

109

E

11TH

ST

117

E

11TH

ST

Gella's Diner

W 12TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R

W 11TH ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 12TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R

W 11TH ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 12TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R

W 11TH ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

X3

X2

x4

W 12TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R

W 11TH ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

D

E

92

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon



126

OAK

ST

204

E

11TH

ST

208

E

11TH

ST

212

E

11TH

ST

218

E

11TH

ST

223

E

11TH

ST

219

E

11TH

ST

213

E

11TH

ST

201

E

11TH

ST

209

E

11TH

ST

226

E

12TH

ST

---

E

12TH

ST

210

E

12TH

ST

208

E

12TH

ST

129

E

11TH

ST

124

E

12TH

ST

122

E

12TH

ST

213

E

12TH

ST

201

E

12TH

ST

135

E

12TH

ST

125

E

12TH

ST

116

E

14TH

ST

LENNOX

BRULLS

APPLIANCE

FLOORS

N

MOORE

VERN

HERRMAN

PLAN.

PARENTHOOD

HAYS CITY BOOT

LINCOLN ELEM.

SCHOOL

205

W

17TH

ST

108

W

16TH

ST

110

W

16TH

ST

114

W

16TH

ST

105

W

16TH

ST

107

W

16TH

ST

111

W

16TH

ST

113

W

16TH

ST

115

W

16TH

ST

106

W

17TH

ST

108

W

17TH

ST

110

W

17TH

ST

112

W

17TH

ST

109

W

17TH

ST

113

W

17TH

ST

115

W

17TH

ST

108 1/2

W

18TH

ST

110

W

18TH

ST

112

W

18TH

ST

114

E

14TH

ST

112

E

14TH

ST

110

E

14TH

ST

108

E

14TH

ST

106

E

14TH

ST

104

E

14TH

ST

113

14TH

ST

111

E

14TH

ST

109

E

14TH

ST

107

E

14TH

ST

105

E

14TH

ST

103

E

14TH

ST

15TH

110

E

15TH

ST

108

E

15TH

ST

106

E

15TH

ST

104

E

15TH

ST

105

E

15TH

ST

1401 A

MAIN

ST

2111

ASH

ST

2101

ASH

ST

225

E

8TH

ST

233

E

8TH

ST

301

E

8TH

ST

320

E

8TH

ST

309

E

8TH

ST

317

E

8TH

ST

2401

LINCOLN

DR

2412

PERSHING

DR

2310

PERSHING

DR

2306

PERSHING

DR

2302

PERSHING

DR

311

W

23RD

ST

309

W

23RD

ST

2303

PLUM

ST

2305

PLUM

ST

2307

PLUM

ST

2309

PLUM

ST

2300

PLUM

ST

2302

PLUM

ST

2306

PLUM

ST

2200

PERSHING

DR

315

W

22ND

ST

309

W

22ND

ST

310

W

22ND

ST

304

W

22ND

ST

309

W

21ST

ST

213

W

20TH

ST

211

W

20TH

ST

209

W

20TH

ST

302

W

21ST

ST

304

W

21ST

ST

303

W

20TH

ST

305

W

20TH

ST

304

W

20TH

ST

201

PERSHING

CT

203

PERSHING

CT

205

PERSHING

CT

207

PERSHING

CT

209

PERSHING

CT

211

PERSHING

CT

213

PERSHING

CT

PERSHING

1713

FORT

ST

204

PERSHING

CT

210

PERSHING

CT

1301

OAK

ST

113

E

13TH

ST

107

E

13TH

ST

219

E

9TH

ST

300

E

8TH

ST

2403

LINCOLN

DR

313

W

25TH

ST

309

W

25TH

ST

1401 B

MAIN

ST

1400

MAIN

ST

1406

MAIN

ST

1410

MAIN

ST

1407

MAIN

ST

1501

MAIN

ST

1507

MAIN

ST

1500

MAIN

ST

1502

MAIN

ST

100

E

16TH

ST

1601

MAIN

ST

1302

MAIN

1308

MAIN

ST

1310

MAIN

ST

1312

MAIN

ST

1701

FORT

ST

117

W

17TH

ST

1709

FORT

ST

116

W

18TH

ST

1811

FORT

ST

1703

FORT

ST

304

W

23RD

ST

310

W

23RD

ST

316

W

23RD

ST

2107

ASH

ST

300

W

21ST

ST

301

W

20TH

ST

217

W

20TH

ST

302

W

20TH

ST

1903

ASH

1905

ASH

ST

1907

ASH

ST

1810

ASH

ST

1813

FORT

ST

117

W

16TH

ST

1607

FORT

ST

1604

FORT

ST

2100

ASH

ST

216

W

21ST

ST

1806

FORT

ST

1711

FORT

ST

303

E

6TH

ST

301

E

6TH

ST

312

E

7TH

ST

308

E

7TH

ST

300

E

7TH

ST

HMC

PARKING

HMC

HADLEY

CAMPUS

PARKING

414

E

5TH

ST

402

E

5TH

ST

400

E

5TH

ST

411

SANTA FE

ST

409

SANTA FE

ST

407

SANTA FE

ST

405

SANTA FE

ST

403

SANTA FE

ST

401

SANTA FE

ST

400

SANTA FE

ST

402

SANTA FE

ST

404

SANTA FE

ST

406

SANTA FE

ST

408

SANTA FE

ST

410

SANTA FE

ST

405

E

5TH

ST

401

E

5TH

ST

317

E

5TH

ST

315

E

5TH

ST

313

E

5TH

ST

311

E

5TH

ST

316

E

6TH

ST

312

E

6TH

ST

310

E

6TH

ST

308

E

6TH

ST

306

E

6TH

ST

313

E

6TH

ST

311

E

6TH

ST

307

E

6TH

ST

305

E

6TH

ST

316

E

7TH

ST

317

E

6TH

ST

413

MILNER

ST

403

MILNER

ST

401

MILNER

ST

215

E

11TH

ST

304

E

7TH

ST

401

E

6TH

ST

1305

OAK

ST

209

E

12TH

ST

224

E

11TH

ST

228

E

11TH

ST

234

E

11TH

ST

400

E

6TH

ST

403

E

5TH

ST

208

PERSHING

CT

214

W

21ST

ST

307

W

23RD

ST

212

W

21ST

ST

406

E

6TH

ST

315

E

8TH

ST

106

W

15TH

ST

1108

OAK

ST

1304

OAK

ST

1800

FORT

ST

1003

PINE

ST

2101

PERSHING

DR

402

E

4th

ST

400

E

4th

ST

207

E

7TH

ST

209

E

7TH

ST

215

E

7TH

ST

CITY HALL

323

W

27TH

ST

1546

HYW 40

BYPASS

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 23RD ST

W 18TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 23RD ST

W 18TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 23RD ST

W 18TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

X2

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

W 23RD ST

W 18TH  ST

 PERSHING CT

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

E
F

93

johnbraun
Polygon

johnbraun
Polygon



233

E

11TH

ST

223

E

11TH

ST

234

E

12TH

ST

228

E

12TH

ST

226

E

12TH

ST

235

E

12TH

ST

231

E

12TH

ST

225

E

12TH

ST

221

E

12TH

ST

217

E

12TH

ST

213

E

12TH

ST

1306

OAK

ST

1310

OAK

ST

1307

OAK

ST

116

14TH

ST

HAYS CITY BOOT

107

W

17TH

ST

109

W

17TH

ST

104

W

18TH

ST

106

E

17TH

ST

108

E

17TH

ST

110

E

17TH

ST

112

E

17TH

ST

114

E

17TH

ST

105

E

17TH

ST

107

E

17TH

ST

104

18TH

ST

1404

OAK

ST

205

E

14TH

ST

207

E

14TH

ST

209

E

14TH

ST

211

E

14TH

ST

200

E

15TH

ST

204

E

15TH

ST

206

E

15TH

ST

210

E

15TH

ST

201

E

15TH

ST

203

E

15TH

ST

205

E

15TH

ST

309

E

12TH

ST

1200

PINE

ST

214

E

14TH

ST

212

E

14TH

ST

210

E

14TH

ST

206

E

14TH

ST

204

E

14TH

ST

106

W

18TH

ST

108

W

18TH

ST

108 1/2

W

18TH

ST

105

W

18TH

ST

107

W

18TH

ST

109

W

18TH

ST

111

W

18TH

ST

113

W

18TH

ST

1401

OAK

ST

115

E

14TH

ST

113

E

14TH

ST

1402

OAK

ST

116

E

15TH

ST

114

E

15TH

ST

112

E

15TH

ST

110

15TH

ST

115

E

15TH

ST

113

E

15TH

ST

111

E

15TH

ST

109

E

15TH

ST

105

E

15TH

ST

116

E

16TH

ST

114

E

16TH

ST

112

E

16TH

ST

110

E

16TH

ST

104

E

16TH

ST

115

E

16TH

ST

113

E

16TH

ST

111

E

16TH

ST

109

E

16TH

ST

107

E

16TH

ST

105

E

16TH

ST

112

W

19TH

ST

104

W

19TH

ST

110

W

19TH

ST

108

W

19TH

ST

105

W

19TH

ST

107

W

19TH

ST

109

W

19TH

ST

111

W

19TH

ST

113

W

19TH

ST

106

W

20TH

ST

108

W

20TH

ST

110

W

20TH

ST

113

W

20TH

ST

209

E

13TH

ST

210

E

13TH

ST

2304

ASH

ST

2111

ASH

332

E

8TH

ST

317

E

8TH

ST

319

E

8TH

ST

327

E

8TH

ST

331

E

8TH

ST

333

E

8TH

ST

335 1/2

E

8TH

ST

412

E

8TH

ST

418

E

8TH

ST

2310

PLUM

ST

2302

PLUM

ST

2306

PLUM

ST

2308

PLUM

ST

20TH

209

W

20TH

ST

207

W

20TH

ST

205

W

20TH

ST

203

W

20TH

ST

205

E

13TH

ST

1301

PINE

ST

211

E

13TH

ST

216

E

13TH

ST

1205

PINE

ST

214

E

13TH

ST

1204

PINE

ST

304

13TH

ST

322

E

11TH

ST

806

ALLEN

ST

339

E

8TH

ST

401

E

8TH

ST

410

E

8TH

ST

309

W

25TH

ST

2700

COUNTRY

LN

100

E

16TH

ST

101

E

16TH

ST

1608

MAIN

ST

1609

MAIN

ST

1703

MAIN

ST

1707

MAIN

ST

1711

MAIN

ST

1801

MAIN

ST

1805

MAIN

ST

1811

MAIN

ST

1807

MAIN

ST

101

E

17TH

ST

1706

MAIN

ST

1708

MAIN

ST

2000

FORT

ST

2006

FORT

ST

300

W

23RD

ST

304

W

23RD

ST

303

25TH

305

W

25TH

ST

2403

ASH

ST

302

W

25TH

ST

204

W

23RD

ST

212

W

23RD

ST

207

W

22ND

ST

209

W

22ND

ST

2200

ASH

ST

200

W

22ND

ST

204

W

22ND

ST

206

W

22ND

ST

210

W

22ND

ST

2110

ASH

ST

201

W

21ST

ST

211

W

21ST

ST

213

W

21ST

ST

2100

ASH

ST

201

W

20TH

ST

200

W

21ST

ST

204

W

21ST

ST

206

W

21ST

ST

210

W

21ST

ST

205

W

21ST

ST

207

W

21ST

ST

209

W

21ST

ST

211

W

22ND

ST

2206

ASH

ST

213

W

23RD

ST

2401

ASH

ST

2301

ASH

ST

2203

ASH

ST

1910

FORT

ST

1904

FORT

ST

1900

FORT

ST

1810

FORT

ST

1806

FORT

ST

2701

WILLOW

ST

WILLOW

ST

HMC

HADLEY

CAMPUS

PARKING

414

E

5TH

ST

409

E

5TH

ST

408

E

6TH

ST

323

E

11TH

ST

319

E

11TH

ST

317

E

11TH

ST

305

E

11TH

ST

304

E

11TH

ST

314

E

11TH

ST

415

E

6TH

ST

413

E

6TH

ST

411

E

6TH

ST

414

E

7TH

ST

412

E

7TH

ST

410

E

7TH

ST

408

E

7TH

ST

404

E

7TH

ST

411

E

7TH

ST

409

E

7TH

ST

407

E

7TH

ST

405

E

7TH

ST

403

E

7TH

ST

401

E

7TH

ST

410

E

6TH

ST

412

E

6TH

ST

414

E

6TH

ST

507

MILNER

ST

416

E

5TH

ST

411

E

5TH

ST

413

MILNER

ST

401

MILNER

ST

400

MILNER

ST

404

MILNER

ST

406

MILNER

ST

502

E

5TH

ST

503

E

5TH

ST

505

5TH

500

6TH

504

MILNER

ST

401

E

6TH

ST

403

E

6TH

ST

405

E

6TH

ST

407 A & B

E

6TH

ST

409

E

6TH

ST

1305

OAK

ST

1308

OAK

ST

229

E

11TH

ST

324

E

12TH

ST

234

E

11TH

ST

318

E

11TH

ST

320

E

11TH

ST

CHURCH

418

E

5TH

ST

212

W

21ST

ST

505

E

4th

ST

405

MILNER

ST

406

6TH

ST

500

MILNER

ST

706

ALLEN

ST

301

E

11TH

ST

1304

OAK

ST

1800

FORT

ST

1003

PINE

ST

500

E

4th

ST

805

ALLEN

ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 24TH  ST

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

505

MILNER

ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 24TH  ST

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 24TH  ST

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

US 183 ALT HWY

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 24TH  ST

W 16TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

F

G

94



 

G:\Projects\2008\2008-17 27th Street - Restripe to three lanes\12-10-18 WS reconsideration\12-11-30 Public Notice Letter.doc  

 
 
 
 
 
 
December 3, 2012 
 
 
(Name) 
(Address) 
HAYS KS 67601 
 
 
Re:  City Commission Work Session to discuss restriping 27

th
 Street to three lanes from 

Plum to Hall – Property affected at 526 W 27TH ST 
 
 
Dear (Name): 
 
The City of Hays City Commission is considering a plan to restripe 27th Street to a three-lane 
configuration from Plum to Hall Street. This plan would require the elimination of on-street 
parking along the south side of 27th Street. As a resident or property owner along this stretch of 
27th Street, your comments and concerns are important to us. Therefore, you are invited to 
attend the City Commission work session to discuss the proposed changes. 

The meeting will be held at 6:30 pm on Thursday, January 3, 2013, in the City 
Commission Chambers at City Hall, 1507 Main Street.   

You will be given the opportunity to express your comments or concerns regarding this issue 
prior to the City Commission making a decision on the matter. 

If you are unable to attend the January 3rd meeting and would like to express your comments, 
please contact me at 628-7350; send written correspondence to 1002 Vine Street, Hays, KS 
67601; or e-mail johnbraun@haysusa.com. 

Sincerely, 
City of Hays 

 

John Braun  
Assistant Public Works Director 

 

CC: Resident (if applicable)  

95

johnbraun
Text Box
Exhibit D



Public Comment       Exhibit E 
 
12/05/2012 526 W 27th Chita Espino-Bravo 
 E-mail comment from Resident “ Is spending that money really necessary? It seems to me that 

the street works perfectly well the way it is now, and I would use that money where it is really needed, 

fixing streets and sidewalks that are in bad condition in Hays, or in this area. Having 3 lanes on 27th is 

really not necessary...the streets works perfectly well the way it is now. To me, it looks like the City is 

spending money where it is not needed.”  See full content of e-mail on next page. 

       
12/13/2012 313 W 25th  Rebecca Speier 
 Summary of Phone Call – The rear yard of this lot faces 27th Street.  Mrs. Speier does not park on 

27th Street.  She is not opposed to the restriping.  
 

96

johnbraun
Text Box
Exhibit E



1

John Braun

From: chita espino-bravo <chitaespino@yahoo.com>

Sent: Wednesday, December 05, 2012 4:28 PM

To: John Braun

Subject: RE: Restriping 27th street

I see. Thank you for your response. I did not know there were accidents on 27th street by Hall. I would still consider 

using that money for fixing sidewalks and streets in bad condition in Hays. May be if the City puts signs on 27th that 

make cars slow down a bit (20 miles per hour instead of 30), we could avoid those accidents? People drive way too fast 

on 27th. I wonder if this would be a cheaper and better solution. Thanks for considering my opinion. Will we know what 

is decided on this topic? Thanks again. 

 

Chita Espino 

 

--- On Wed, 12/5/12, John Braun <johnbraun@haysusa.com> wrote: 

 

> From: John Braun <johnbraun@haysusa.com> 

> Subject: RE: Restriping 27th street 

> To: "chita espino-bravo" <chitaespino@yahoo.com> 

> Cc: "I.D. Creech" <idcreech@haysusa.com> 

> Date: Wednesday, December 5, 2012, 4:52 PM Thank you for your  

> comments. 

> They will be included in the packet of information given to the City  

> Commissioners when considering this issue. 

>  

> In response to your questions: 

>  

> 1).  The restriping would simply involve removing the existing  

> centerline striping and painting on new stripes delineating the new  

> lanes.  It would have no effect on the sidewalks and should not cause  

> any new cracks or the worsening of existing cracks. 

>  

> 2).  The City Commission will make the decision as to whether the  

> benefits of restriping justify the cost to restripe.  Much of the  

> benefit would be in the reduction of accidents currently occurring on  

> 27th Street. 

>  

> John Braun 

> Assistant Director of Public Works 

> 1002 Vine St.  

> Hays, KS  67601 

> 785-628-7350 

> 785-628-7352 (Fax) 

> johnbraun@haysusa.com 

>  

> City of Hays Website: www.haysusa.com 

>  

> -----Original Message----- 

> From: chita espino-bravo [mailto:chitaespino@yahoo.com] 

97



2

>  

> Sent: Wednesday, December 05, 2012 12:00 PM 

> To: John Braun 

> Subject: Restriping 27th street 

>  

> Good morning dear Mr. Braun, 

> I will not be able to attend the meeting on January 2, 2013, because I  

> will not be in Hays. However I have some comments and questions for  

> you: 

>  

> 1) Will restriping affect any of the sidewalks next to our properties? 

> (I have just noticed that when the gas station was built at Dillon's  

> on Hall and 27th, the workers did not fix the cracks they made on the  

> sidewalks....they only fixed the bigger areas that were destroyed, but  

> there are cracks on the sidewalk now that were not there before. The  

> same happened on the back alley when the gas company worked on some  

> gas lines in the back alley this past summer....my concrete has cracks  

> now that were not there before they started. I would not want more  

> cracks on the sidewalks. 

>  

> 2) Is spending that money really necessary? It seems to me that the  

> street works perfectly well the way it is now, and I would use that  

> money where it is really needed, fixing streets and sidewalks that are  

> in bad condition in Hays, or in this area. Having 3 lanes on 27th is  

> really not necessary...the streets works perfectly well the way it is  

> now. To me, it looks like the City is spending money where it is not  

> needed. I look forward to hearing from you. Thanks you very much for  

> your time. 

>  

>  

> Chita Espino-Bravo 

> 526 W 27th 

>  

98



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8               MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 

 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Bike Hays Master Plan 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Consider approving the Bike Hays Master Plan. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
In 2012, the Commission requested further study of bike lanes.  The Hays Bike Master Plan 
was developed by RDG.  The system connects key community attributes providing a 
convenient and accessible means of mobility for various purposes.  The base plan, 1a phase, 
is estimated to cost $272,900.  The Commission budgeted adequate funds in 2013 Special 
Parks for this project.   
 
As will be addressed in the next agenda item, an opportunity for State funding is now 
available and staff requests approval to submit an application utilizing budgeted funds as a 
match for phase 1b to maximize the system’s potential. Additionally, $100,000 from 
Stormwater will be requested as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap.  Should state funding 
be denied, staff will implement phase 1a if approved by Commission.   
 
Staff is requesting approval of the Bike Hays Master Plan. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Paul Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the Bike Hays Master Plan 1a. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
Approve the Bike Hays Master Plan 1a. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo 
System Maps 
The Bike Hays Master Plan 

 

99



  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  Paul M. Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
 
Work Session: January 17, 2013 
 
Subject: Bike Hays Master Plan Request & Transportation 

Enhancement Grant Application 
 
Person(s)  Paul M. Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
Responsible: Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
 

Summary 
In 2012, the Commission requested further study of bike lanes.  The Hays Bike Master 
Plan was developed by RDG through the 2012 Comprehensive Plan process.  The system 
connects key community attributes providing a convenient and accessible means of 
mobility for various purposes.  The base plan, 1a phase, is estimated to cost $272,900.  
Commission budgeted adequate funds in 2013 Special Parks for this project.  An 
opportunity for state funding is now available and staff requests approval to submit an 
application utilizing budgeted funds as a match for phase 1b to maximize the system’s 
potential.  
 
Staff is requesting approval of the Hays Bike Master Plan.  Furthermore, a resolution to 
apply for Transportation Enhancement Program funds is requested.  Additionally 
$100,000 from Stormwater is requested as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap.  Should 
state funding be denied staff will implement phase 1a if approved by Commission.     
 

Background  
The community of Hays has long desired healthier alternative modes of safe 
transportation.  Over the past 18 years the city has studied various hike and bike trail 
opportunities originating from the 1994 Comprehensive Plan.  The 2007 Hike and Bike 
plan consisted of 32 miles of concrete paths and estimated at $11 million.  Throughout 
this process a more efficient plan has emerged that enhances the current transportation 
system and community amenities while providing a sustainable alternative to automobile 
use.   

 
Discussion 

The Bike Hays Master Plan was created as a response to a community desire identified in 
the Comprehensive Plan process and previous studies. The bike plan incorporates nearly 
every educational unit, park, medical facilities, historical attractions, commercial centers, 

100



employment concentrations, nature trails, and open space features.  For a fraction of the 
cost of traditional hike and bike paths, the Bike Hays Master Plan can be implemented.  
The complete network of phase 1a ($272,900) and 1b ($538,770) consists of 26 miles and 
estimated to cost $811,670.   
 
Section 1a connects a majority of schools, parks and other destination points but not all. 
Section 1b enhances section 1a with additional bike facilities and multi-use pathways that 
draw neighborhoods into the system, give direct access to major destinations, and link 
sections to complete the community network.   Section 1b also includes a multiuse 
pathway.  
 
Much of the system is comprised for two users, the avid rider or adult commuter whose 
desire is to get from point A to point B efficiently and leisure riders that travel at slower 
speeds.  The avid rider or adult commuter will primarily use arterial bike routes to 
maneuver to specific destinations.   The traffic flows on these streets are higher than 
those of neighborhoods.  However safety devices and national design standards ensure all 
necessary measures are taken for both the bicyclist and driver.  The second users of the 
system are leisure riders.  These users will take advantage of neighborhood collectors and 
parkways which direct riders through streets that have less traffic and operate at slower 
speeds.  These sections allow the user to enjoy the many community nuances and 
environmental amenities.       

Preliminary data from the Big Creek assessment indicates a need for a concrete cap to 
secure the levee.  This section of the levee is used by many citizens and students as a 
natural walking trail.   Therefore $100,000 of Stormwater funds is requested as a match 
to attain offsetting funds from KDOT.  

A funding request from Kansas Department of Transportation Enhancement Funds of 
$431,670 is requested to construct the entire system.  If additional funds are not attained 
it will take many years to acquire enough funds to finalize the plan and adequately 
provide a system to the entire community.  
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff.  
 

Financial Consideration 
Development of the bike plan cost $7,500.  The Bike Hays Master Plan 1a phase is 
budgeted in 2013 Special Parks Fund and noted within Capital Projects.  $20,000 is set 
aside for proper marketing and education.  This fund receives revenue through special 
alcohol tax and is to be utilized for quality of life amenities.  Maintenance cost of the 
system is estimated at $75,000 annually for painting.  Staff recommends a portion of the 
alcohol tax be committed to this maintenance.  An additional $100,000 is requested from 
Stormwater as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap.  If approved the city will pay 
$400,000 for a $811,670 system. 

 

101



Options 
The City Commission has the following options: 

1. Approve the Bike Hays Master Plan, $100,000 matching stormwater funds 
and a Resolution for the Transportation Enhancement Program. 

2. Approve only phase 1a of the Bike Hays Master Plan for implementation. 
3. Move this item to a future work session. 
4. Do nothing. 
 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the Hays Bike Master Plan including a resolution to apply 
for Transportation Enhancement Program funds.  Additionally $100,000 from 
Stormwater as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap. 
 

Action Requested 
Approve the Hays Bike Master Plan including a resolution to apply for Transportation 
Enhancement Program funds and additional match of $100,000 from the Stormwater 
fund. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
System Maps 
The Bike Hays Master Plan 
KDOT Transportation Enhancement Application Information 
Resolution 
 

102



57

 4 | IMPLEMENTATION

Map 6

103



 the BIKe hAYS  mASter plAn

104



105



Introduction ...................................................................................................  5
Chapter 1: Context and Opportunities ................................................   9
Chapter 2: The Bikeway Network: Principles and Structure ......... 17
Chapter 3: Infrastructure Design Concepts ........................................ 29
Chapter 4: Implementation ...................................................................... 53
Chapter 5: Support Systems ..................................................................... 73 the  

 BIKe hAYS  
 mASter plAn

COntentS

        

mApS

1. Destinations .................................................................................................11
2. Street Contexts ...........................................................................................13
3. Network Opportunities ...........................................................................15
4. BikeHays System by Phase .....................................................................26
5. BikeHays System by Infrastructure Type ...........................................27
6. Initial System Sequencing ......................................................................57

106



44

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

107



5

introduction

5

the City of Hays is ideally positioned to make 
this wonder vehicle an important part of its 
transportation picture.  The city is compact, 
so most trips are relatively short. It has a net-

work of wide, relatively quiet streets that connect 
parks, schools, and activity centers. Hays has a vital 
downtown, distinctive park and recreation resources, 
historic and cultural attractions with appeal to both 
visitors and residents, fine neighborhoods, a boule-
vard system, and a great university campus.  Its flat 
topography makes bicycling in Hays both a pleasure 
and highly accessible to most people.

Bicycles and Hays are made for each other, and cy-
cling can play an important role in the city’s transpor-
tation system.  This plan is dedicated to encourag-
ing Hays’ citizens to use this healthy, low-impact, and 
pleasurable form of transportation as part of their 
daily routines.  Bicycling in Hays can be a useful and 
convenient form of transportation for many purposes 
that are part of daily life: work, school, visiting friends, 
parks and recreation, shopping, and many others.  But 
it is profoundly satisfying to reach our destinations 
under our own power and to experience the city and 
its people in new and more personal ways. 

We know that bicycling for transportation does not 
meet everyone’s needs and that most trips in Hays 
will continue to be made by car.  But people should 
have choices, including the option to feel safe and 
comfortable using the healthy, sustainable, and so-
cially satisfying means of mobility that the bicycle of-
fers.

Why a Bikeway Plan?  Goals of this Master Plan

People in Hays have a strong interest in health and 
active transportation. In 2007, the city developed a 
plan for trails with many good ideas that with unlim-
ited funds would give the city a great pathway net-
work.  However, trails are very expensive, often cost-
ing as much as $300,000 per mile.  The proposed 
system, while excellent, was simply unaffordable to 
the city. Furthermore, the new federal transportation 
bill – maP-21 – has significantly reduced funding for 
transportation alternatives, and the State of kansas is 
one of only two states to opt out of the recreational 
Trails Program (rTP), electing to reprogram its share 
of funds for roads.   

This plan takes a different direction, based on devel-
oping an affordable network of bicycle facilities. This 
concept makes maximum use of the city’s largest in-
frastructure investment: its street system. It uses trails 
and exclusive pathways to fill gaps in the system. 
Trails remain a major part of an ultimate system, but 
the immediate need is to get people into the habit of 
using bicycles for routine trips. 

a BikeHays bicycle infrastructure system, then, is 
guided by the following goals:

Goal One:  Increase the number of people who use 
the bicycle for transportation as well as recreation.  
a measurement of the success of this plan will be sig-
nificantly increasing the percentage of trips for a va-
riety of purposes.  

Goal two: Improve bicycle access to key commu-
nity destinations.  a bicycle transportation system 
should get people comfortably and safely to where 

introduction

108



66

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

they want to go.  Bicycles are used most often for rec-
reational trips, and these trips to parks, ball games, 
and recreation centers are important contributors to  
overall travel in the city. Therefore, the system serves 
all of the city’s parks, and links them into a unified 
green network. But it also serves important commu-
nity destinations and sources of travel, such as the 
FHSU campus, Downtown, and other retail centers.  

Goal three:  Use bicycling as part of an effort make 
hays more sustainable at three levels: global, com-
munity, and individual.  Trips made by bicycle pro-
mote community sustainability in three ways:

•	Global	sustainability.	  Bicycle transportation re-
duces fossil fuel use and greenhouse gas emis-
sions, helping the city reduce its impact on the 
global environment.  The Hays system is especially 
suited to short trips, for which cars are both least 
efficient and most polluting. a  bikeable Hays will 
not save the planet.  But as a great sage said about 
2,000 years ago, “It’s not your job to finish the task, 
but you are not free to walk away from it.”

•	Community	 sustainability.	a good and heavily 
used bicycle transportation system can help re-
duce the cost of government by marginally reduc-
ing the need for more expensive projects. also, on 
a social level, bicycling enhances the quality of civ-
ic life, helping us interact with each other as peo-
ple.  Places that lead in bicycle transportation also 
tend to attract people because of their community 
quality.

•	Individual	sustainability.	 Incorporating physical 
activity into the normal routine of daily life for ev-

eryone from kids to seniors makes all of us health-
ier, and reduces overweight and obesity rates and 
improves wellness and lowers overall health care 
costs.    

Goal Four: Increase safety on the road for motor-
ists, bicyclists, and pedestrians.  Improved safety is a 
critical goal for any transportation improvement, and 
good infrastructure can reduce crashes and increase 
comfort for all users of Hays’ transportation network.  

the Measures of Success: Guiding criteria for 
an Effective Bicycle transportation network

The design of any bicycle transportation system 
should be guided by criteria that can be used to eval-
uate individual components and the effectiveness of 
the entire network.  The Netherlands’ Centre for re-
search and Contract Standardization in Civil and Traf-
fic engineering (C.r.O.W.), one of the world’s leading 
authorities in the design of bicycle-friendly infrastruc-
ture, has developed especially useful requirements to 
help determine the design of bicycle systems.  Draw-
ing on C.r.O.W.’s work in its excellent design manual, 
Sign Up for the Bike, an urban bicycle network should 
generally fulfill six basic requirements:

•	Integrity	(or, in C.r.O.W.’s term, Coherence):  Hays’ 
bikeway network at all points in its evolution 
forms a coherent system that links starting points 
with destinations.  The network is understandable 
to its users and fulfills a responsibility to convey 
them continuously on their paths.

•	 Directness:	 The bikeway network should offer 
cyclists as direct a route as possible, with mini-

109



7

introduction

7

mum detours or misdirections.

• Safety: The bikeway network should maximize 
the safety of using the bicycle for transportation, 
minimize or improve hazardous conditions and 
barriers, and in the process improve safety for pe-
destrians and motorists.

•	 Comfort: most bicyclists should view the net-
work as being within their capabilities and not im-
posing unusual mental or physical stress.  as the 
system grow, more types of users will find that it 
meets their needs comfortably.

•	Experience: The bicycle network should offer its 
users a pleasant and positive experience that capi-
talizes on the city’s built and natural environments.

•	Feasibility:	The bicycle network should provide 
a high ratio of benefits to costs and should be 
viewed as a wise investment of resources.  It is ca-
pable of being developed in phases and growing 
over time.  

These criteria and the system design principles that 
logically follow from them are discussed in detail in 
Chapter Two. 

organization of the Plan

The Bike Hays master Plan presents its analysis and 
recommendations in the following chapters:

Chapter One: hays’ Bicycling environment. This 
chapter examines existing conditions in the city that 
pertain to bicycling, including resources that help 
determine a future bikeway system such as destina-

tions, existing facilities, and opportunities.

Chapter two: the Bikeway network: principles and 
Structure.  This chapter establishes overall principles 
that guide the proposed network.  It presents a com-
plete conceptual system of on-street bikeways, paths, 
and multi-use trails. 

Chapter	 Three:	 Facility	 Design	 Guidelines.	 	 This 
chapter presents the vocabulary of facilities and 
street adaptations proposed for the Hays network, 
based on the city’s specific street characteristics and 
environmental features.  It concludes by applying the 
infrastructure types to the conceptual bikeway net-
work and its various routes. 

Chapter Four: Implementation.  This section estab-
lishes criteria that determine the sequence of devel-
opment and proposes an initial network, based on 
serving all parts of town and early feasibility.

chapter Five:  Support Programs.  The league of 
american Bicyclists describes five “e’s” as components 
of a bicycle-friendly community (BFC) program and 
judges BFC applications accordingly. These program 
categories are engineering, education, encourage-
ment, enforcement, and evaluation.  

Chapters One through Four largely address the engi-
neering component; Chapter Five recommends ini-
tiatives that support these infrastructure investments 
to achieve bicycle transportation’s full potential as 
part of the Hays access environment.

110



88

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

    

111



9

introduction

9

1CHaPTer

COnteXt
AND	
OppOrtUnItIeS

112



10

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

this chapter describes key 
characteristics and features 
that affect the design of Hays 
bikeways network, including:  

• Destinations

• Street Connectivity and Types

• Network Opportunities

destinations (Map 1)

residential, commercial, office, and civic land use 
patterns all influence bicycle network design, but major  
destinations,  the places that attract people for learning, 
recreation, employment, civic or cultural life, shopping, 
entertainment, or other activities – should be directly 
served by the system.  Figure 1.1 displays the deployment 
of many of these significant destination points in Hays, 
including:

•	 educational facilities, including elementary and   
secondary schools as well as Fort Hays State University.  

•	 major park and recreation facilities, including large 
multi-purpose parks, among which are the new Bickle-
Schmidt Sports Complex, municipal Park, and Frontier 
Park; the city’s excellent system of neighborhood 
parks; the Hays recreation Center; and the existing 
undeveloped Hiking Trail. 

•	 hospitals and medical facilities, including the Hays 
medical Center campus and surrounding facilities.

•	 Key public destinations and museums, including the 
Hays Public library, the Sternberg museum, the ellis 
County museum, City Hall, and Historic Fort Hays.

•	 Commercial centers adaptable to bicycle 
transportation, including the Chestnut Street District, 
the mall and other major commercial uses on North 
Vine, and the 27th and Hall district. 

• Major employment concentrations, including office 
clusters, downtown, and the Commerce Parkway 
corridor as feasible.

• Environmental and open Space Features, such as 
the Big Creek corridor.

•	 High	 Density	 Residential.	 apartment districts tend 
to generate high concentrations of potential users.  
In Hays, these areas are likely to have significant off-
campus student populations, who will find bicycles to 
be a convenient way to travel to classes.

113



11

 1 |HayS BICyClINg eNVIrONmeNT

map 1: 
Destinations

FhSU

114



12

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Street connectivity and types (Map 2)

like many midwestern and great Plains cities, Hays’ arterial 
street system is built on the section-line grid that dates 
back to the surveys and land divisions of the Homestead 
act.  Within that grid, the Hays street system adjusted to 
geographic features that add significant character. For 
example, the grid is rotated in the original town south 
of 27th Street and west of Vine to align with the railroad.  
On other quadrants, drainageways influenced land 
development patterns.   In general, street patterns in Hays 
have several attributes that lend themselves to bikeway 
development.  These include:

• Good local street continuity.  Within the grid 
created by through arterials, Hays’ secondary streets 
connect to each other, creating an internal system that 
is relatively easy to navigate through.  These streets 

generally have low traffic volumes, making them 
comfortable for most prospective cyclists. However, 
this continuity tends to be broken at section lines, 
and particularly by the cross axes of Vine Street and 
27th Street.  additional  safe connections from north 
to south and east to west across these corridors 
would improve a bicycle facility network.

• Street width. Hays’ wide streets provide generous 
space that allow motorists and bicyclists to share the 
road comfortably. In many cases, bicycle facilities will 
tend to reduce excessive speed on local streets.

• Parkways. Hays’ divided parkways along drainage 
corridors, established by Canal Boulevard, lincoln 
Drive/Cottonwood avenue, and general Custer 
road, create attractive bike and pedestrian corridors.

table 1: Street Contexts
Street type lanes ADT Street 

Width (ft)
Speed 
(mph)

Continuous 
length (miles)

Other Features Examples

Continuous local 2 Under 1,000 26-40 25 0.5-1.0 Haney Drive

Continuous 
Neighborhood 
Collector

2 Under 3,000 30-44 25 0.5-2.0 Traffic control at major intersections, 
residential and commercial contexts

Indian Trail, 33rd 
Street

Neighborhood 
Parkway

1 with 
median

Under 3,000 Over 100 in 
rOW

25 1.0-2.0 Drainageway in median, may have traffic 
control at major intersections.

Canal Blvd, 
general Custer

Civic avenue 2 Under 5,000 32-55 25-30 1.0-2.0 Traffic control at major intersections, mixed 
uses, street oriented houses

main Street

local arterial 4 4,000- 8,000 36-45 30-35 1.5-4.0 Traffic controls, major local traffic carriers 13th St, 22nd St.

major arterial 3-5 7,000-12,000 42-50 35 1.5-4.0 Traffic control at major intersections, mixed 
uses

27th St, Hall St

regional arterial 5 Over 12,000 Over 48 35-50 2.0-6.0 major highway corridors, substantial 
commercial use

Vine St, 183 Bypass

Urban One-Way 
Pairs

1-2 2,000-4,000 24-32 30 Over 2.0 Traffic control at major intersections; mixed 
uses with commercial, office, residential; on-
street parking

Fort/ash

Downtown main 
Street

2-3 3,000-7,000 50-60 25-30 Downtown Traffic control at major intersections; mixed 
uses; on-street diagonal parking

8th Street, main 
Street

115



13

 1 |HayS BICyClINg eNVIrONmeNT

map 2: 
Street Contexts

Table 1 below describes specific street 
contexts within the Hays street network. 
These are different from traditional 
street categories because they relate to 
character, land use, and actual function 
as well as width and traffic volume. map 
2 illustrates how these street contexts 
relate to Hays street system.  The width 
and traffic characteristics each street type 
will generate different treatments to adapt 
them for bicycle transportation. Of these, 
streets that most effectively satisfy the 
six measures of success identified in the 
Introduction – integrity, directness, safety, 
comfort, experience, and feasibility – are 
streets with relatively low traffic volumes, 
high continuity, and adequate width for 
mixed traffic.  

116



14

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

other network opportunities (Map 3)

In addition to its low-volume continuous streets, Hays 
provides other opportunities that can help to build a 
system that satisfies the six performance criteria.  These 
features can accommodate facilities physically separated 
from travel lanes such as separated pathways adjacent 
to streets, multi-use trails, or street modifications. They 
include:

• Potential complete streets and road diets.  These are 
streets (often local arterials) that could be converted to a 
different lane configuration.  For example, 13th Street and 
Hall Street north of 27th both have four-lane sections with 
traffic volumes well within the capacity of a three-lane 
street section. most traffic engineers agree that a three-
lane street with a separated left-turn lane is preferable 
to a four-lane street without left-turn facilities for both 
operations and safety. a reduction of these streets from 
four to three lanes will provide adequate space for bicycle 
lanes/shoulders.

•	 Major	 open	 spaces	 or	 institutional	 uses	 with	 long	
continuous street frontages, preferably at least 1/4  mile. 
These include parks, cemeteries, school campuses, golf 
courses, roadways with limited access and wide right-of-
ways, and large public uses. Off-street paths parallel to 
streets can be located along these relatively uninterrupted 
frontages.

•	Parks	and	campuses	capable	of	accommodating	trails.	 
These uses and site plans enable trails to cross through 
their interiors without compromising their use. examples 
are municipal and Frontier Park, and the Sports Complex.

•	Linear	corridors	that	accommodate	significant	new	trail	
facilities	 that	 serve	 transportation	 purposes	 and/or	 fill	
gaps	in	the	existing	system.  examples are:

- Drainageways and watercourses with banks and suf-
ficient adjacent public or common land to accommodate 
pathways.  The city’s parkways are highly adaptable as 
bikeway and pedestrian facilities.

- levees along watercourses, most notably Big Creek.

- railroad corridors, where possibilities for rail with trail 
development exist.

- green spaces that are proposed in the comprehensive 
plan, such as the possible repurposing of the west 
frontage road along Vine Street between 27th and 
Interstate 70.

- New grade separations or drainageway crossings of 
I-70.

117



15

 1 |HayS BICyClINg eNVIrONmeNT

map 3: 
network 
Opportunities

118



16

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

119



17

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

2CHaPTer the BIKeWAY 
netWOrK
PRINCIPLEs	AND	
COnCept

120



18

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

The introductory section identified six guiding require-
ments for an effective bicycle network, adapted from work 
completed by the Netherlands Centre for research and 
Contract Standardization in Civil and Traffic engineering: 

integrity: The ability of a system to link starting points 
continuously to destinations, and to be easily and clearly 
understand by users.

directness: The capacity to provide direct routes with 
minimum misdirection or unnecessary distance.   

Safety: The ability to minimize hazards and improve safety 
for users of all transportation modes.

comfort: Consistency with the capacities of users and 
avoidance of mental or physical stress.

Experience: The quality of offering users a pleasant and 
positive experience.

Feasibility:  The ability to maximize benefits and minimize 
costs, including financial cost, inconvenience, and poten-
tial opposition.  

These six requirements express the general attributes of 
a good system, but must have specific criteria and even 
measurements that both guide the system’s design and 
evaluate how well it works.  Tables 2 through 7 describe 
performance criteria to guide implementation of the net-
work over time and evaluate its effectiveness.

Attributes of the network

Based on this development of the six requirements pre-
sented in the tables, the Hays system design follows the  
following major attributes:

destination-Based.  The Hays network serves important 

this chapter starts with  
the principles that 
govern the design 
of the Bike Hays 

bikeway network.  it uses these  
principles and the structure 
of destinations, contexts, and 
opportunities presented in 
chapter one to generate the 
overall system concept. 

destinations in the community. Since the majority of bi-
cycle trips are recreational, the system design began with 
servicing and connecting the city’s parks and recreational 
facilities. It then expanded to address other important des-
tinations appropriate for non-motorized transportation, 
including schools, the university, downtown, and retail 
destinations. more than a grid of bicycle-friendly streets or 
recreational trails, Bike Hays is intended to be a transporta-
tion system that takes people to specific places.

transit Model.  The Hays system considers a grid of desti-
nation-based routes analogous to a road or transit system.  
This idea guides bicyclists to destinations with minimum 
consultation of support materials and emphasizes the in-
terconnection of routes.  Thus, cyclists heading to a spe-
cific destination will know the combination of designated 
routes that take them where they want to go.

incremental integrity.  Incremental integrity – the ability 
of the network to provide a system of value at each step 
of completion – is an important attribute.  The first step 
in completion should be valuable and increase bicycle ac-
cess even if nothing else is done.  each subsequent phase 
of completion follows the same principle of leaving some-
thing of clear value and integrity, even if it were the ulti-
mate stage of completion.

Evolution.  The system is designed to evolve and improve 
over time.  For example, a relatively low-cost project or de-
sign element can establish a pattern of use that supports 
something better in the future.  To use a cliche, the  perfect 
should not be the enemy of the good. For example, much 
of the path along Big Creek’s levee is suitable for the ma-
jority of users with relatively inexpensive upgrades short 
of full pavement. Similarly, comprehensive plan recom-
mendations for North Vine and Downtown will result in 
major street and pathway improvements, but inexpensive, 
interim solutions can create a better cycling environment 
in the short-term. rather than trying to accumulate funds 
to pave that trail, we should build an initial network that 

121



19

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

Comprehensiveness Number of connected 
destinations on system

major destination types, including parks, the Sports Complex schools, FHSU, the Technical 
College, the hospital, Downtown, and major retail concentrations should be served by the 
ultimate network. New destinations as developed should be developed along the network or 
served by extensions.

Continuity Number of discontinuities 
along individual routes

Users headed on a route to a destination must not be dropped at a terminus without route or 
directional information. even at incremental levels, route endings must make functional sense.

Transitions between facility types must be clear to users and well-defined.  Transitions from one 
type of infrastructure to another along the same route should avoid leading cyclists of different 
capabilities into uncomfortable settings or beyond their capacities. 

Infrastructure should be recognizable and its features (pavement markings, design conventions) 
consistent throughout the system

Wayfinding/directional 
information 

Completeness and clarity of 
signage

economy and efficiency of 
graphics

Complaints from users

Signs must keep users informed and oriented at all points

Sign system should avoid ambiguities that cause users to feel lost or require them to carry 
unnecessary support materials.

Signs should be clear, simple, consistent, and  readable, and should be consistent with the 
mUTCD.  Use of the Clearview font is recommended.  

route choice Number of alternative routes 
of approximately equal 
distance

Ultimate system provides most users with a minimum of two alternatives of approximately 
equal distance.

minimum distance between alternative routes should be about 500 feet

 

Consistency Percentage of typical reported 
trips accommodated by the 
ultimate network.

Typically, a minimum of 50-70% of most trips to identified destinations should be 
accommodated by the bikeways network. 

Table 2: Development of the INTEGRITY requirement.

uses what we have and provides a foundation for future 
improvements.

conflict Avoidance.  Few important actions are com-
pletely without controversy, but successful development 
of a bicycle transportation system should avoid unneces-

sary discord and impact on neighborhoods.   For example, 
when parking in neighborhoods or desirable street opera-
tion should not be sacrificed to accommodate bike lanes.  
In many cases, however, bike lanes can help reduce other 
problems, such as speeding on streets that have too much 
lane capacity. On local streets, shared routes and signs that 

122



20

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

access Coverage

access to all parts  of the city

The network should provide convenient access to all parts of the city.  as a standard, all urban 
residential areas should be within one-quarter to one-half mile from one of the system’s routes, 
and should be connected to those routes by a relatively direct local street connection.

Bicycling speed Design and average speed of 
system

The network should permit relatively consistent operation at a steady speed without excessive 
delays.

System should be able to deliver an average point to point speed between 12 and 15 mph for 
users.  Through portion of routes should permit operation in a 15 to 20 mph range.

Diversions and 
misdirections

maximum range of detours or 
diversions from a straight line 
between destinations.

“Detour ratio:” ratio of 
actual versus direct distance 
between two points. 

routes should connect points with a minimum amount of misdirections.

Users should perceive that the route is always taking them in the desired direction, without 
making them reverse themselves or go out of their way to an unreasonable degree.

maximum diversion of a straight line connecting two key points on a route should not exceed 
0.25 miles on either side of the line.

Detour ratio (distance between two points/shortest possible distance) should not exceed 1.2 
over long distances and 1.4 over short distances.

Delays amount of time spent not 
moving per mile

routes should minimize unnecessary or frustrating delays, including excessive numbers of stop 
signs, and delays at uncontrolled intersections waiting for gaps in cross traffic.  

routes should maximize use of existing signalized crossings.

Target design should limit maximum delays to about 30 seconds per mile over long distances 
and 45 seconds per mile over short distances.

Intersections Bicycle direction through 
intersections

Bicyclists should be able to continue through intersections as vehicles.  Situations that  force 
cyclists to become pedestrians in order to negotiate intersections should be avoided.

Table 3: Development of the DIRECTNESS requirement.

do not disturb the neighborhood routine can provide an 
adequate facility that focuses on the positive and minimiz-
es divisive conflicts.  

use of Existing Facilities.  existing features like the Big 
Creek levee path, the access under I-70 along North Vine, 
the hospital’s health walk system, and the planned side-
path along 41st Street Trails are integral to a bikeway sys-
tem and should not be taken for granted.  

Fill Gaps.  In some cases, the most important parts of a net-
work involve small projects that make connections rather 
than long distance components.  Often, these short links 
knit longer street or trail segments together into longer 
routes or provide access to important destinations. These 
gaps may include a short trail segment that connects two 
continuous streets together, or an intersection improve-
ment that bridges a barrier The development of the overall 
network is strategic, using manageable initiatives to create 
a comprehensive system.

123



21

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

reduced number and fear 
of crash incidents

Number of incidents

reactions/perceptions of 
users 

Bikeways system users should feel that the system protects their physical safety, as measured 
by both use of routes and survey instruments.   a particular area of concern in Hays are close 
frontage roads along arterials (Vine, 27th, Canterbury)

appropriate routing: mixing 
versus separation of traffic

average daily traffic (aDT)
criteria for mixed traffic

Traffic speed criteria for mixed 
traffic

System design should avoid encounters between bicyclists and incompatible motor traffic 
streams (high volumes and/or high speeds).  Separation and protection of vulnerable users 
should increase as incompatibilities increase.

Infrastructure, visibility, 
signage

Pairing of context and 
infrastructure solutions

mutual visibility and 
awareness of bicycle and 
motor vehicles 

Infrastructure should be designed for utility by at least 80% of the potential market.  

Infrastructure applications should be matched with appropriate contexts.  

Warning signage directed to motorists should be sufficient to alert them to the presence of 
cyclists along the travel route.

Surfaces and markings should be clearly visible to all users.  Obstructions, such as landscaping, 
road geometry, and vertical elements, should not block routine visibility of cyclists and 
motorists.  

Trail and pathway geometries should avoid sharp turns and alignments that hide cyclists 
operating in opposing directions.  Where these conditions are unavoidable, devices such as 
mirrors and advisory signs should be used to reduce hazards.

Door hazards and parking 
conflicts 

Number of incidents

Parking configurations

location of bicycle tracking 
guides

Component design should track bicycles outside of the door hazard zone.

Back-out hazards of head-in parking should be avoided or mitigated when diagonal parking is 
used along streets.

Intersection conflicts location and types of 
pavement markings

Number of intersections or 
crossings per mile 

Intersections should provide a clearly defined and visible track through them for cyclists

as a rule, sidepaths should be used on continuous segments with a minimum number of 
interruptions. 

Complaints Number of complaints per 
facility type

Complaints should be recorded by type of infrastructure and location of facility, to set priorities 
for remedial action.

Table 4: Development of the SAFETY requirement.

124



22

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

road surface Quality and type of road 
surface

materials

Incidence of longitudinal 
cracking and expansion joints

The network’s components should provide a reasonably smooth surface with a minimum of 
potholes and areas of paving deterioration.

roads should be free of hazardous conditions such as settlement and longitudinal cracks and 
pavement separation.

all routes in the urban system should be hard-surfaced, unless specifically designated for limited 
use.

Hills Number and length of hills 
and inclines

maximum grades on 
component for both long and 
short distances

Hills and grades are generally not a factor within Hays. grades are most significant at separations 
over or under roads and railroads. 

as a general rule, routes should avoid more than one incline over 5% for each mile of travel 
maximum average design grades should not exceed 7% over a hill not to exceed 400 feet in 
length; or 5% over the course of a mile.

When street width restricts  bike lanes to one side of the street only, facilities should generally 
be placed on the upgrade side. Off-road climbing facilities should be provided where slow-
moving bike traffic can obstruct motor vehicles and increase motorist conflict.

Traffic stress average daily traffic (aDT)

average traffic speed

Volume of truck traffic

generally, the network should choose paths of lower resistance/incompatibility wherever 
possible and when DIreCTNeSS standards can be reasonably complied with.

The network should avoid mixed traffic situations when average daily traffic (aDT) exceeds 5,000 
vehicles per day when alternatives exist.  alternatives can include bike lanes, separations, or 
alternative right-of-way.

Stops that interrupt rhythm 
and continuity

Number of stop signs/
segment

Network routes should avoid or redirect frequent stop sign controls.  The number of stops 
between endpoints should not exceed three (1 per quarter mile average) per mile segment.

Table 5: Development of the COMFORT requirement.

125



23

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

Surrounding land use Neighborhood setting

adjacent residential or 
open space use, including 
institutional campuses

adjacent street-oriented 
commercial

Surrounding land use should provide the network user with an attractive adjacent urban 
environment.

routes should provide access to commercial and personal support services, such as food service, 
convenience stores, and restrooms.

landscape location and extent of parks 
or maintained open space

Network should maximize exposure of or use right-of-ways along or through public parks and 
open spaces.

environmental contexts to be maximized include parks, waterways and lakes, and landscaped 
settings.

Social safety residential development 
patterns

Observability: Presence of 
windows or visible uses along 
the route

Population density or number 
of users

The network should provide routes with a high degree of observability – street oriented uses, 
residential frontages, buildings that provide vantage points that provide security to system 
users.

areas that seem insecure, including industrial precincts, areas with few street-oriented 
businesses, or areas with little use or visible maintenance should generally be avoided, except 
where necessary to make connections.

Furnishings and design On-trail landscaping, 
supporting furnishings

Network routes should include landscaping, street furnishings, lighting, rest stops, graphics, and 
other elements that promote the overall experience.  These features are particularly important 
along trails.

Table 6: Development of the EXPERIENCE  requirement.

126



24

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Performance Factor Measures Performance Standard

Cost effectiveness route cost

maximum use of low-cost 
components

Population/destination 
density

The network should generate maximum benefit at minimum cost.  Where possible, selected 
routes should favor segments that can be adapted to bicycle use with economical features 
rather than requiring major capital investments.  

Initial routes should be located in areas with a high probability of use intensity: substantial 
population density and/or incidence of destinations.

Initial investments should integrate existing assets, extending their reach into other 
neighborhoods and increasing access to them.

major off-street investments should concentrate on closing gaps in an on-street system.

Phasing and incremental 
integrity

Self-contained value

ability to evolve

The network should provide value and integrity at all stages of completion.  a first stage should 
increase bicycle access and use in ways that make future phases logical.

The network should be incremental, capable of building on an initial foundation in gradual 
phases.  Phases should be affordable, fitting within a modest annual allocation by the city, and 
complemented by major capital investments incorporating other sources.

 

Neighborhood 
relationships and friction

Parking patterns

Development and circulation 
patterns

The network should avoid conflict situations, where a route is likely to encounter intense local 
opposition.  Initial design should avoid impact on potentially controversial areas, such as 
parking, without neighborhood assent.

Involuntary acquisition of right-of-way should be avoided wherever possible.  

Detailed planning processes to implement specific routes should include local area or 
stakeholder participation.

Table 6: Development of the FEASIBILITY requirement.

127



25

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

the Hays Bikeway System

Figures 4 and 5 displays the proposed Bike Hays system, 
based on the requirements and principles described 
previously in this chapter.  The proposed system includes:

•	 An Initial phase.  This first phase proposes route 
segments identified by associated color and 
number, requiring an identification system that 
would be adapted to the city environment.  Some 
shorter segments are identified for phasing and cost 
calculation purposes.  For the most part, the initial 
phase utilizes existing streets and pathways, using 
pavement markings, lane diets, and graphics to 
identify them as part of a citywide network.

• Later Phases.  These segments would be added to 
the initial system, and include both additional street 
segments and multi-use trails.  They extend the initial 
phase into new areas, including a major east-west 
link to the Sports Complex; paving of the Big Creek 
Trail; and other on- and off-street system expansions. 
Big Creek Trail paving should be advanced if funds 
are available. It also includes pedestrian and bicycle 
facilities proposed as parts of capital projects for 
Downtown, North Vine, and the transportation system 
by the comprehensive plan.

Figure 4 displays the overall bikeway system, indicating 
both the initial and ultimate phases.  Initial segments are 
numbered (for north-south routes) and lettered (for east-
west routes) and identified by color.  later phases are 
designated by white dashed lines.  Figure 5 shows the type 
of infrastructure improvement proposed for each segment 
in the system.  The design guidelines elements for  each 
of these segments and their contexts are presented in 
Chapter Three.

128



26

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Map 4

129



27

 2 |THe BIkeWayS NeT WOrk: PrINCIPleS aND CONCePT

Map 5

130



2828

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

131



29

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

29

3CHaPTer

InFrAStrUCtUre
DEsIGN
GUIDELINEs

132



3030

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

The complete BikeHays network will be realized on the 
ground by a variety of features: pavement markings, signs, 
capital projects like paths and trails, and supporting im-
provements.  each of these is designed to increase the 
comfort and safety of cyclists traveling along the system, 
and to encourage citizens of Hays to consider using bi-
cycles for at least some of their routine trips. These con-
cepts are adapted to the characteristics of the city’s streets 
as described in Chapter One. Figure Five in the previous 
chapter  shows the type of infrastructure used for each 
segment of the system, while this chapter presents guide-
lines for their design.  It is important to note that individual 
segments may still require specific design adaptations of 
these guidelines.  

Facility types

In general, the Hays network will use the following types 
of facilities:

Shared streets, in which bicyclists and motor vehicles op-
erate in common right-of-way.  These streets usually have 
relatively low volumes and adequate continuity to be use-
ful parts of the system.  In most cases, they have on-street 
parking, but in many cases are wide enough to accommo-
date motorists and bicyclists comfortably.  

Bike lanes, in which bicyclists share the street right-of-way 
but operate within marked lanes reserved for their use.  Bike  
lanes always provide for one-way movement, in most cases 
moving in the same direction as motor vehicles.   Bicycle lanes 
are appropriate on streets that can comfortably accommo-
date bicyclists, but have higher traffic volumes than shared 
streets; provide adequate width in their current channels for 
both motor vehicles and bicycles; or as part of new street con-
struction projects that integrate pedestrians, bicycles, and 
transit into their design (complete streets).  Where streets are 
not wide enough for bike lanes on both sides, the system pro-
poses bike lanes on one side of the street, with a shared lane 
on the opposite side.  

this chapter presents 
the infrastructure of 
the BikeHays network, 
including facility 

types and design guidelines 
appropriate to the city’s various 
street types.  these facility 
types form the building blocks 
of the network, and become the 
individual design components 
of the system’s routes.

Sidepaths.  Sidepaths are bicycle paths located within a street 
right of way but fully separated from travel lanes. These fa-
cilities are popular in europe and are frequently used in the 
United States, but have been controversial, largely because 
of potential bicycle-motor vehicle conflicts at intersections 
of streets and driveways.  These facilities are especially use-
ful along the street frontages of major campuses, parks, open 
spaces, and limited entry developments with long distances 
and few interruptions.   a sidepath is planned as part of the 
41st Street improvement project between Hall Street and US 
183.

Cycle tracks, defined one- or two-way paths within street 
channels buffered from moving traffic by parked cars or sepa-
rated by buffers, have gained popularity in many cities. 

Multi-use trails.  Currently, trails in Hays are limited to the ex-
isting unpaved path along Big Creek. Trails following water-
ways, levees, railroads, campuses, and utility lines are part of 
the longer range BikeHays network.

Sources. Sources that establish detailed 
standards for the design of bicycle facili-
ties include the recent Urban Bikeway De-
sign guide (National association of City 
Transportation Officials, 2011), the manu-
al of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (Fed-
eral Highway administration, 2009), and 
the draft aaSHTO guide for the Planning, 
Design, and Operation of Bicycle Facilities 
(american association of State Highway 
and Transportation Officials, 2010). De-
signers of facilities should use these pri-
mary sources.  The guidelines and stan-
dards included in this plan are intended 
to provide guidance that augments these 
authoritative standards to specific situa-
tions within a Hays bikeways network.

133



31

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

31

1

2

3

4 6

75
Facility types with hays Applications

1 Shared street with sharrow, Omaha, Ne
2 Bike lane on existing street, Boston, ma
3 Complete street conversion, green Bay, WI
4 Sidepath, lawrence, kS
5 Cycle track, Cambridge, ma 
6 paved multi-use trail, Shunga Trail, Topeka
7 multi-use trail, lake Shawnee Trail, Topeka

134



3232

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Local Shared Streets
Shared, low-volume streets 
will make up the majority of 
on-street mileage in the Hays 
bikeway system.  On these 
streets, bicycles and motor ve-
hicles operate within the same 
area. 

Shared streets will be marked by shared lane markings, or 
sharrows, a pavement marking now recognized within the 
manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (mUTCD).  Shar-
rows, made up of a bicycle symbol and a directional chev-
ron, fill three primary functions:

• They provide route continuity for cyclists.  The shar-
row helps assure riders that they are on the bikeway 
system and moving along a street that is intended for 
bicycle use..

• along with other signage, they increase motorist 
awareness of bicycles on the street.  

• Properly placed, they help bicyclists position them-
selves safely on a street away from the “door zone” of 
adjacent parked cars.

Application to Street contexts in Hays

Characteristics of streets in the Hays system that adapt to 
shared use include:

- Low traffic volumes.  Streets with average daily traffic 
(aDT) below 2,000 vpd are most appropriate for shared 
use.  as volumes increase, the number of potential cyclists 
comfortable riding in the shared street environment will 
decrease.

- Relatively low speeds.  The mUTCD recommends that shar-
rows not be placed on roadways with speed limits over 35 
mph.  a better maximum speed limit for streets with shar-
rows for Hays is 25-30 mph.

- On-street parking.  low-volume streets in Hays do not re-
strct on-street parallel parking.  The sharrow is useful in 
helping bicyclists position themselves away from the haz-
ards of opening car doors.

- Inadequate space for bike lanes.  Bike lanes, providing re-
served space in the street channel for bicyclists, are often 
desirable, but many streets in Hays are not wide enough to 
accommodate bike lanes, travel lanes, and on-street park-
ing.  Providing all of these features typically requires a 44-
46 feet minimum curb to curb width.

These conditions are typically found in the following street 
types:

• Continuous local streets
• Continuous neighborhood collectors
• Neighborhood parkways

Sharrows may be used on streets with somewhat higher 
volumes and speeds up to 35 mph where necessary to pro-
vide system continuity or to fill short gaps in the network. 
However, these routes will not be comfortable for all riders.

design contexts

In Hays, shared streets will typically range from 25 to 40 
feet wide, with parallel parking on both sides.  

 

135



33

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

33

Local or neighborhood collector shared street 
in older parts of Hays south of 22nd Street. 
Street channels typically range from 24 to 30 
feet.  Sharrows (a standard marking using a bi-
cycle symbol and chevron) are painted a mini-
mum of 11 feet on center from the face of the 
curb.  This keeps cyclists safely away from the 
door swing of parked cars.

Local or neighborhood collector shared street in 
parts of Hays with wider streets. In these areas, pave-
ment markings in Hays’ wide streets can both improve 
bicycle visibility and slow traffic to appropriate speeds 
by seeming to narrow the street.  THis is done by paint-
ing a line to define the parking lane, typically 7 to 8 feet 
from the face of the curb, and using a sharrow painted at 
11 feet minimum from the face of the curb.

tYpe   1 tYpe   2

136



3434

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Design	
Condition

pavement marking and 
Signage

typical Street type Comments

two-sided 
parking, 25-31 
foot width

Sharrows with center of chevron 
a minimum of 11 feet from the 
face of the curb.

Continuous 
local, continuous 
neighborhood collector, 
neighborhood parkway 
without median

One-sided 
parking, 25-29 
foot width

Sharrows with center of chevron 
a minimum of 11 feet from the 
face of curb on the parking side, 
minimum of 3 feet from face of 
curb on the no parking side

Continuous 
local, continuous 
neighborhood collector, 
neighborhood parkway

One-sided 
parking, 29-32 
foot width

Sharrows with center of chevron 
a minimum of 11 feet from the 
face of curb on the parking side, 
minimum of 3 feet from face 
of curb on the no parking side.  
Painted white line to define 
parking lane, with outside edge 
8 feet from face of curb

Neighborhood collector, 
neighborhood parkway, 
neighborhood avenue

White line should be used when the 
remainder of the street channel is at least 
21 feet wide.  Parking line helps define 
parking area and aids in bicyclists positioning 
themselves safely away from parked cars. In 
addition, when curbside parking is lightly 
utilized, the parking lane can serve as an 
informal bike lane for some cyclists.

two-sided 
parking, 36-40 
foot width

Sharrows with center of chevron 
a minimum of 11 feet from the 
face of curb on the parking side, 
minimum of 3 feet from face 
of curb on the no parking side.  
Painted white line to define 
parking lanes, with outside edge 
8 feet from face of curb.  

Neighborhood avenue White line should be used when the 
remainder of the street channel is at least 
21 feet wide.  Parking line helps define 
parking area and aids in bicyclists positioning 
themselves safely away from parked cars.  In 
addition, when curbside parking is lightly 
utilized, the parking lane can serve as an 
informal bike lane for some cyclists.

Design	Guidelines	for	shared	Routes

Table 7: Design Guidelines for Shared Route Markings

137



35

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

35

Bike Lanes

Bike lanes provide reserved 
(but not always exclusive) 
space for bicyclists operating 
within the street channel.  Be-
cause they delineate a specific 
area for bicyclists, bike lanes 
provide an on-street environ-
ment both safer and more 
comfortable for cyclists on 
higher volume and/or high-
er speed roads than shared 
streets.  

In Hays, bike lanes are proposed in four situations:

- Retrofits of existing streets.  These streets are wide enough 
to accommodate bike lanes without affecting the existing 
number of lanes. Broadway from 27th to 33rd is an ex-
ample of such a street.  In some cases, width and parking 
conditions require a hybrid solution: a bike lane in one di-
rection, with a shared lane on the opposite side. The bike 
lane should be placed in the direction where bicyclists are 
most likely to delay motor vehicles. main Street is an ex-
ample.

 - “Lane diets.”   These are typically older four lane streets 
that can serve their traffic volumes more safely if convert-
ed to three lanes with a left-turn lane. This then provides 
enough space for bike lanes on strategic corridors. exam-
ples are 13th Street and Hall Street north of 27th Street.

- Parkways. These streets are usually dual streets with a 
drainageway in the median.   examples include Canal 
Boulevard or general Custer road.

- New streets or street widenings.  These major investments 
are proposed by the comprehensive plan to  meet future 
traffic demands or create new corridors. These would be 
developed as multi-modal or “complete streets,” designed 
to accommodate all modes of travel. examples are con-
tinuations of Canterbury Drive across and north of I-70 or 
41st Street east to a Canterbury extension.

Application to Street contexts in Hays

Characteristics of streets in the Hays system that adapt to 
bike lanes include:

- Higher traffic volumes.  Bike lanes become more necessary 
as volumes increase,  applying to streets with average dai-
ly traffic above 2,000-4,000 vehicles per day.  These higher 
volumes require greater degrees of separation to maintain 
comfort for a maximum number of cyclists.

- Medium speeds.  Speed differentials are generally more 
important than traffic volume in determining the applica-
tion of bike lanes.  However, lanes are most appropriately 
utilized on streets with typical speeds between 30 and 45 
miles per hour.  above 45 mph, margins for error and, con-
sequently, user comfort and safety decline.  

- On-street parking.  Some candidate streets for bike lanes 
also provide on-street parking.  adequate space must be 
provided to avoid hazards from opening car doors. Bike 
lanes should be avoided behind head-in diagonal parking 
stalls unless separated by a buffer of at least five feet.

These conditions are typically found in the following Hays 
street types:

• Civic avenues (main Street)
• Collectors
• local arterial
• major arterial

overall design Guidelines

In the Hays system, streets with bike lanes may vary in 
width from about 40-42 (for one side bike lanes) to 60 feet. 
general design principles include the following:

• Bike lanes must always operate in a single direction, 
flowing with traffic.

• Bike lanes will typically be provided on both sides of 
two-way streets.  In situations where bike lanes are 
needed but right-of-way only accommodates a sin-
gle directional lane, a sharrow should be used in the 
opposite direction.  The bike lane should be provided 
in the direction most likely to slow or create conflicts 
with other traffic, such as an uphill grade.

Table 7: Design Guidelines for Shared Route Markings

138



3636

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Single direction bike lane with parallel 
parking and opposing shared lane. Street 
channels require a minimum of 42 feet from 
face of curbs with two-sided parking. mini-
mum width drops to about 35 feet with sin-
gle-sided parking. The bike lane should be 
placed on the side of the street where cyclists 
in a shared lane would be most likely to delay 
traffic (such as an uphill or rising grade). 

tYpe   3
Single direction bike lane with opposing shared 
lane and diagonal parking. This is a variation of 
Type 3, with diagonal parking on one side, a condition 
found on parts of main Street and 10th Street. Street 
channel requires a minimum of about 52 feet from 
face of curbs.  The bike lane should be placed on the 
side of the street with parallel parking if conventional 
head-in diagonal parking is used.

tYpe   4
two direction bike lanes with two-sided parallel 
parking. Desirable minimum curb to curb width is 48 
feet, although this can be reduced to 46 feet by nar-
rowing the parking lane.

tYpe   5

139



37

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

37

two direction bike lanes with one-sided par-
allel parking. Desirable minimum curb to curb 
width is 40 feet, although this can be reduced to 
38 feet by narrowing the parking lane and bike 
lane on the side of the street without parking.

Parkway with dual single-lane street channels and 
one-sided parking. Drainageways are located in medi-
an, with bike lane on the left side of the one-way road-
way and adjacent to the median. minimum width of 
roadway is 22 feet on each side. Because of low traffic, 
moving cars can encroach slightly on the bike lane. left 
side location eliminates door zone hazards,  

tYpe   tYpe   6 7
Four to three lane arterial road diet. required 
minimum width is 46 feet. arterials do not permit 
parking. 

tYpe   8

140



3838

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

two direction bike lanes with no parking. 
minimum curb to curb width is 32-34 feet. 
This situation does not occur on the pro-
posed Hays system, but could be used for 
new roads or on rural sections.

tYpe   9

canal Boulevard. Hays’ drainageway parkways are es-
pecially adaptable to innovative bikeway development.

Buffered cycle track. This two-way cycle track in Brook-
lyn is somewhat more complicated to use than the one-
way counterflow lane proposed in Fort Street, but illus-
trates the concept.

two direction bike lanes with counter-
flow buffered cycle track. This design is 
unique to Fort Street between 22nd and 27th 
Streets, with a single southbound traffic lane 
and parking on both sides of the street. The 
concept features a buffered counterflow bike 
lane along the east curb, with parking in the 
direction of travel permitted between the 
buffer and the southbound travel lane.

tYpe   10

141



39

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

39

Design	
Condition

Bike lane, parking lane, and total 
Street Width

typical Street type Comments

two-Way traffic , 
two-sided parking

Standard of 8 foot parking lanes with 5 
foot bike lanes.  In constrained settings, 
a 12 foot combined parking/bike lane 
may be considered.

Total minimum street width (face to face 
of curb:  46-48 feet for two-lane plus 11 
feet for each additional travel lane.

Civic avenues, local 
arterial

Supporting information should advise 
cyclists to ride in the left-hand part of 
the bike lane.  Four foot bike lanes are 
acceptable in constrained situations 
with a minimum 8 foot parking lane.

two-Way traffic, 
one-sided parking

Standard of 8 foot parking lanes with 
5 foot bike lane on parking side.  In 
constrained settings, a 12 foot combined 
parking/bike lane may be considered.  
Four foot bike lane is minimum on the 
non-parking side, excluding gutter pans.

Total minimum street width (face to face 
of curb:  39 feet for two-lane plus 11 feet 
for each additional travel lane.

local arterial Supporting information should advise 
cyclists to ride in the left-hand part of 
the bike lane.  Four foot bike lanes are 
acceptable in constrained situations 
with a minimum 8 foot parking lane or  
on side of the street without parking.

two-Way traffic, 
no parking

Four-foot minimum bike lanes, 
excluding gutter pan.  On major streets 
with higher volume and speed, bike lane 
width should increase to 5- to 7-feet, 
depending on street character and 
speed limits.

Total minimum street width (face to face 
of curb:  30-32 feet for two-lane plus 11 
feet for each additional travel lane.

local arterial

General notes:  
1. Typical recommended placement of standard bike lane pavement markings is at the entrance and departure from each 
intersection.  
2. Standard bike lane sign (r3-17) may be placed with an aHeaD plaque at the approach to the lane and with an eND 
plaque at the terminus of the lane.  Pavement markings should be used more frequently than signs and marking locations 
should be coincident where possible.

Table 8: Design Guidelines for Shared Bike Lane Markings

142



4040

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

intersection design

Intersection design is important to the safe operation of 
on-street facilities.  Consistent practices should address 
conflicts between turning traffic and bicyclists proceeding 
straight ahead.  In urban bicycling situations, bicyclists are 
advised to position themselves in the right-hand third of 
the lane that serves their destination.  While this maximiz-
es safety, many cyclists tend to move to the extreme right 
of an intersection, placing them in a position to be hit by 
turning motor vehicles.  

Intersection solutions for on-street bicycle facilities in-
clude:

• Typical pavement markings.
• right-Turn Pockets
• Bike Boxes for left Turns

typical intersection Markings

Figures on the opposite page illustrate typical pavement 
markings in various situations including intersections.  
Problems have emerged with bike lane installations that 
maintain solid lines up to the intersection.  This encourag-
es some cyclists to consider the bike lane to be inviolate, 
and opens them to the possibility of being hit by right-
turning traffic.  In response, current practice is to replace 
the solid white line with a dashed line, suggesting that the 
lane alignment should not be rigidly followed.  This also 
encourages cyclists to behave like other traffic by leaving 
the right-hand bike lane to make left turns.

right-turn Pockets

Some major intersections include right-turn only lanes to 
allow right turns on red signals or otherwise separate right 
turning movements from the direct flow of traffic.  This cre-
ates a potential issue for bicyclists who are used to posi-

tioning themselves “as far to the right as practicable” in the 
language of many state laws, again exposing themselves 
to collision with right-turning motor vehicles.  recom-
mended pavement markings  position the bicyclists con-
tinuing straight ahead to the left of the rTO lane, providing 
a dashed stripe through the conflict zone.  The solid stripe 
resumes on the other side of this conflict zone.  many cities 
are coloring the surface of this zone to increase motorist 
awareness of a potential collision hazard,  a standard sign, 
advising motorists to yield to bikes on a direct route (r4-4) 
should also be installed. 

Bicycle Boxes for Left turns   

Bicycle boxes are used at signalized intersections to ex-
tend a bike lane to the front of a traffic queue.  The box 
sets the stop bar for motor vehicles behind the stopped bi-
cycles.  They provide clear visibility for bicyclists, minimize 
the problem of cyclists hugging the right-hand curb, and 
expedite left-turning bicycle movements.  The boxes are 
defined by stripes and may be colored for greater visibility.
recommended depth of the box is 14 feet from the edge 
of the crosswalk.

143



41

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

41

recommended lane markings at typical 
Intersections

Source: aaSHTO guide for the Planning, Design, and Operation 
of Bicycle Facilities, February, 2010 Draft

Bicycle box on commonwealth Avenue in Bos-
ton.  Bike lanes here are on the left side of the 
street channel, adjacent to the median.

144



4242

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Sidepaths

Sidepaths are paths separated 
from the stream of traffic but 
within the right-of-way of a 
street or road.  They are popu-
lar among roadway designers, 
but are controversial among 
bike facility designers and ur-
ban bicyclists.  They present 
significant challenges at in-
tersections but allow cyclists 
to operate comfortably on di-
rect major routes.  Hays is de-
veloping a sidepath as part of 
its 41st Street project and the 
current widened sidewalk on 
North Vine under I-70 demon-
strates both the uses and prob-
lems with this kind of facility.

Objections to the use of cycle tracks or sidepaths (these 
terms will be used interchangeably here) in this country 
are based on conflicts with dominant motor vehicle traffic 
and include:

• Hazardous intersections. On two-way paths, motor-
ists do not expect, and often do not see, bicyclists in 
the counterflow direction.  right-turning motorists in 
many cases ignore path users moving straight ahead, 
creating the possibility of a crash. This always places 
path users on the defensive.

• right-of-way ambiguities at driveways and intersec-
tions.  Usually, cyclists on a sidepath along a major 
street are  forced to yield to intersecting traffic.  Cyclists 
traveling on streets, on the other hand, have the same 
right of way rights as motorists.

• Path blockages. Cross traffic on driveways and inter-
secting streets frequently blocks the sidepath by stop-
ping across it.

as a result, experienced cyclists usually prefer on-road 
facilities to roadside facilities.  yet, sidepaths, despite their 
shortcomings, are used frequently and remain popular 
with many users. Sidepath images were also rated highly 
for level of comfort by participants in the Hays Bikeways 
Survey. many cyclists justifiably fear rear-end (or overtak-
ing)crashes or distracted drivers wandering into even a 
well-designed bicycle lane. Sidepaths accommodate pe-
destrians and other wheeled users who cannot use streets.  
also, auto-era development replaced the traditional grid 
of local streets with cul-de-sacs and short curvilinear 
streets, causing through connections to depend solely on 
the arterial system.  Sidepaths along major streets provide 
continuity where other alternatives, including trails or par-
allel local streets, are not available.  

These facilities are an important part of the national bi-

cycle system of the Netherlands, one of the world’s pre-
mier cycling countries, and work because of careful design 
and motorist respect and acceptance of bicyclists. While 
research on american sidepath safety is scarce, a recent 
Harvard University study based on the montreal system 
compared crash rates on sidepaths to on-street facilities.  
It suggested that sidepaths had higher crash rates at inter-
sections and lower rates along their main line, producing 
about the same overall crash rates as on-street facilities.  
Since crashes at speed in mid-block areas have a higher 
probability of fatality than lower speed crashes at intersec-
tions, the study indicated that these facilities should not be 
excluded from urban bicycle systems in this country.   

Application to the Hays System

• Conventional multi-use sidepaths, typically wide 
paths parallel to arterial streets, should in most cases 
complement rather than replace on-road facilities if 
on-road facilities are feasible.  Their primary purpose is 
to provide continuity where alternatives that meet the 
six performance requirements do not exist.

• Complete streets should include both on-street facili-
ties and paths for pedestrians and bicyclists who are 
uncomfortable with riding even in protected, on-
street bike lanes.  Innovative concepts, like one-way 
cycle tracks on new or existing streets, can combine 
the safety benefits of off-road riding between inter-
sections and vehicular cycling through intersections. 

• The objective of sidepath design guidelines should 
be to make these facilities as safe as possible, specifi-
cally by addressing their greatest weakness:  road and 
driveway intersections.

• Sidepaths are safest when driveway and cross-street 
interruptions are fewest.  Therefore, they work best 
along arterial streets that have long stretches of rela-
tively uninterrupted frontage, like parks, campuses, 

145



43

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

43

and cemeteries.  

design Guidelines for cycle tracks/Sidepaths

pathway Standards

Cycle tracks and sidepaths may be developed as two- or 
one-way facilities.  most US applications of off-road side-
paths are two-way facilities, adhering to a standard ten-
foot width, typical of other multi-use trails.  a one-way 
cycle track combined with a sidewalk should separate ter-
ritory allocated to bicyclists and pedestrians, and include  
directional markings for bicyclists.  These territories can be 
defined by paint or changes in pavement color.  minimum 
width for a one-way cycle track is four feet (five feet rec-
ommended) with an adjacent pedestrian path of similar 
width.  Structure and materials for sidepaths should follow 
standards for multi-use trails on separated right-of-way.  

Pathway Setbacks

research conducted for the Florida Department of 
Transportation indicates that, to maximize safety, separa-
tion of the sidepath from a roadway should increase as 
road speeds increase.  The Florida data suggest that at 
lower adjacent road speeds, a smaller separation produces 
crash rates lower than those of the adjacent road, while 
that threshold is reached at greater separations for high 
speed facilities.  aaSHTO 2010 recommends a minimum 
separation of five feet without a physical barrier.  Table 9 
displays recommended separations for sidepaths based on 
the Florida findings.

Access Management

access management makes sidepaths safer.  There is no one 
clear standard for frequency of access points. reasonable 
guidance is provided by the  Idaho Department of 
Transportation, recommending a maximum of eight cross-
ings per mile, with a preferred maximum of five crossings 

Sidepath (cycle track) sections.  Side-
path width and construction standards 
are similar to those for multi-use trails.  
Top: Two-way sidepath along an arterial, 
a typical accommodation on contempo-
rary streets. above: One-way cycle track 
concept separates pedestrian from bicy-
cle traffic.  Bicycles move in the direction 
of traffic.

per mile.  This access management policy should apply to 
the primarily arterial streets proposed for these three cor-
ridors.

Sidepath concepts and Adjacent roadway character

as mentioned earlier, two-way sidepaths, in common use 
in american road design as “bike paths,” set up an unex-
pected counterflow direction that creates the possibility of 
crashes.  Florida DOT research indicates that two-way side-
paths appear safer along 2- and 3-lane roadways and less 
safe along multi-lane roads with 2 or more lanes in each 
direction.  In addition to the higher speeds typical of wider 
roads, this phenomenon can be explained by:

- The field of vision of motorists opposite the sidepath.  
On wider roadways, motorists cannot see or are less 
aware of a sidepath on the opposite side, creating a par-
ticular crash hazard between path users and left-turning 
traffic.  

- motorists exiting intersecting driveways or streets 
are looking for oncoming traffic at a shallower angle 
because of the greater street width, directing attention 
away from the already unexpected sidepath traffic to 
their right.

adjacent road 
Speed limit (mph)

recommended Sidepath 
Separation (feet)

35 5-8

45 12-14

55 20-24

Table 9: Separation for Sidepaths from Street 
Channel

146



4444

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Sidepaths and cycle tracks. Top: Two-
way sidepath typical of US multi-mod-
al projects, US 40 in lawrence. middle: 
Broadway in Boulder, CO, defining pedes-
trian and bicycle domains along a road-
side trail. lower: One-way cycle track and 
pedestrian path in amsterdam.

The previously discussed Harvard study on the montreal 
system also suggests that sidepaths are safer than on-street 
operation between intersections, but more hazardous at 
street crossings. The one-way cycle track, in combination 
with bicycle lanes or shoulders on the adjacent road, ad-
dresses these issues.  Before reaching a major intersection, 
the cycle track is directed to and merges into the bicycle 
lane which, at major intersections, is located to the left 
of a right-turn only (rTO) lane.  Inexperienced bicyclists 
have the option of becoming pedestrians and using the 
crosswalk.  Thus,  one-way sidepath concept combines the 
relative mid-block security of the sidepath to many users 
with the safer options of behaving like other vehicles or as 
pedestrians at street intersections.  

The one-way sidepath should be considered:

• along multi-lane corridors with local street accesses.

• When a sidepath is recommended but, for various rea-
sons, access cannot be closely managed. 

design of in-line crossings at driveways and Streets

Cycle tracks/sidepaths and multi-use trails share design 
characteristics at intersections.  guidelines for multi-use 
trails are presented later in this section.  However, roadside 
facilities have special problems not experienced by the 
largely grade-separated trail system.  recommendations 
for the special conditions presented by sidepath crossings 
are presented here.

Ramp Design

• Curb/intersection cuts or ramps must be logical and 
in the direct travel line of bicyclists.  We suggest avoid-
ing the common practice of placing the ramp on a 
diagonal at the corner, tending to direct users into the 
middle of the intersection rather than to a crossing.

• a design that places a curb in the direct travel line 
of bicyclists is hazardous. The intersection area must 
be free of obstructions, such as poles for traffic signal 
mast arms or lighting standards.

Separation Distance

The separation of the trail crossing from the edge of the 
roadway is a troublesome issue. Some sidepath designs 
put  users in serious jeopardy by placement that either pro-
vides poor visibility or inadequate reaction time.   Based 
on specifications in Finland and the Netherlands, where 
sidepaths are prevalent, the Florida DOT’s path intersec-
tion design manual proposes three discreet and mutually 
exclusive separation distance categories:

• 1-2 meters

• 5-10 meters

• more than 30 meters

These distances are based on the interaction of five vari-
ables: motor vehicle turning speed, stacking distance, driv-
er and/or pathway user awareness, and chance of pathway 
right-of-way priority.  These categories are designed to 
prevent awkward conditions that may impair visibility and 
not give either the trail user or motorist opportunity to re-
spond.  Figure 4.11 summarizes the relative performance 
of each placement for these variables.  

Defining Crossings

• all crossings across streets and major driveways should 
be clearly defined.  Street intersection markings should 
utilize standard zebra or ladder markings incorporated 
at mid-block crossings and other major intersections.  
Colored concrete or asphalt surface treatments may also 
be used. a simpler dashed crosswalk boundary may be 
used as a convention at driveway crossings.

•  at intersections controlled by stop signs or signals, stop 

147



45

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

45

one-Way Sidepath concept. a system of paired one-way sidepaths can minimize 
some of the operating hazards of two-way paths in certain settings.  The one-way 
sidepath concept can be used both on streets both without (top) and with bike lanes.  
Without bike lanes, the cycle track is the street’s bicycle facility, but becomes a bike 
lane as it enters the intersections.  If bike lanes are provided along the street, the cycle 
track merges into the bike lane. left: merger from street to one-way cycle track at 
Vassar Street cycle track on the mIT campus in Cambridge.

148



4646

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

bars should be provided for motor vehicles ahead of the 
crosswalk to discourage motorists from obstructing the 
path.  Surface triangles that indicate a motorist yield 
may be used in place of stop bars.  Unfortunately, many 
american motorists do not understand this marking.

Signage

Use  warning signs along roads with sidepaths similar to 
advisories for parallel railroad tracks. This provides motor-
ists with a background awareness of the parallel sidepath.

Right-of-Way Assignment

Ideally, pathway users paralleling a street with right-of-way 
priority should share that priority.  However, sidepath users 
must be advised to ride defensively, and assume that they 
will often be forced to yield the right-of-way. 

Overly frequent stop signs will cause many path users 
to ignore the traffic control entirely.  The Florida manual 
states that path users may be intolerant to delay, wish to 
maintain momentum, or have limited traffic knowledge.  

Poor Sidepath intersection design. Top: 
ramps are narrow and located off line 
from a bicyclists normal path, creating 
a potential hazard.  above: The base of a 
signal mast arm obstructs the logical path 
through the ramp.

Parameter 1-2m
0-6.56 feet

5-10m
16.4-32.8 feet

over 30m
over 98.4 feet

motor vehicle turning speed lowest Higher Highest

motor vehicle stacking space None yes, better at higher 
separation

yes

Driver awareness of path user Higher lower High or low

Path user awareness of driver Higher lower Highest

Chance of pathway rOW priority Higher lower lowest

Source: Intersection Design Manual, Florida Department of Transportation

When stop signs are installed on a path at extremely low 
volume intersections or even driveways, path users tend 
to disregard them.  The wheeled user cyclist or skater is, in 
effect, being taught this dangerous behavior by these “cry-
ing wolf” signs since he or she thinks there is little chance 
of cross traffic. 

Intersection Geometrics

In addition to crossing visibility and access management 
techniques, the 2010 aaSHTO draft advises the following 
design measures to address intersection and driveway 
crossing safety:

• Intersection and driveway design to reduce speed 
and heighten driver awareness of path users through 
tighter corner radii, avoidance of high-speed free flow 
movements, median refuge islands, and good sight 
lines.

• Design measures to reduce pathway user speed at in-
tersection approaches, being certain that designs do 

Table 10: Separation for Sidepaths from Street at Intersections

149



47

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

47

not create hazards. 

• Calming traffic speeds on the adjacent roadway.

• Designs that encourage good cyclist access between 
roadway and sidepaths at intersections.

• keep approaches to sidepaths clear of obstructions, 
including stopped motor vehicles, through stopbars 
and yield markings.

Signal Cycles

• avoid permissive left turns on busy parallel roads and 
sidepath crossings.  Use a protected left-turn cycle 
with a sidepath-oriented bicycle/pedestrian signal, 
giving a red signal to the sidepath user when left turns 
are permitted.  

• Prohibit right turns on red at intersections with a ma-
jor sidepath crossing.

Sidepath Advisory Sign.  Variation of 
the mUTCD’s railroad advance Warning 
Sign, modified as a sidepath advisory.  
This sign should be used on both sides of 
a road with sidepaths.  This installation is 
on Speer Boulevard in Denver, advising 
of the parallel Cherry Creek Trail.  Florida 
DOT advises a similar sign.

crossing definition.  Sidepath/cycle track crossings should be 
defined for maximum visibility.  Colored or textured surfaces 
can be effective in these situations.  a clear stop bar should also 
be used with advisory signage, to discourage motorists from 
blocking the track.

crossing definition treatments.  From 
left: StreetPrint, an imprint and coloring 
applied to heated asphalt paving on 
the New Berlin Trail near Waukesha, 
Wisconsin.; Colored concrete on military 
avenue in green Bay.

150



4848

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Multi-use trails

multi-use trails are not in com-
mon use in Hays today but are 
part of the recommended long-
range network.  Trail-related 
projects include improvements 
to the Big Creek Trail and de-
velopment of new trails with 
demonstrable transportation 
benefits. 

The BikeHays system will ultimately use multi-use trails 
on separated rights-of-way.  anticipated trail projects fit 
within three categories:

• Improvements to existing trails, most notably the 
Big Creek Trail.  This trail can serve many needs with 
minor improvements, but should eventually be both 
extended and paved.

• New trail segments to connect on-street routes .  These 
relatively short, strategic links tie the system together.

Individual trail projects are discussed in detail in the route 
by route analysis in the following chapter.

design Guidelines for Multi-use trails

AdA/AASHto compliance

Trails should comply with american association of Street 
and Highway Transporta tion Officials (aaSHTO) standards 
and Uniform Federal ac cessibility Standards and the 

“americans with Disabilities act accessibility guidelines.” 

Materials

Table 11 reviews attributes of various trail surface mate-
rials.  asphalt provides an excellent surface when new 
and is somewhat less expensive than concrete.  Concrete 
provides a more durable, longer-lived surface, particularly 
in climates with freeze-thaw cycles, and can be replaced 
panel by panel if necessary.  Without prescribing specific 
regional standards, aaSHTO 2010 recommends a six inch 
minimum depth, including both surface and base courses, 
over a compacted subgrade.  a stable sub-base is espe-
cially important to the durability of both materials.  This is 
especially important around drainageways, where stream 
banks tend to slough off and produce serious cracking and 
deterioration.  expansion joints on concrete trails should 
be saw-cut to provide room for movement. 

trail Width and clearances

• The accepted minimum width for two-way trails is 
10 feet.  eight feet may be adequate for secondary 
segments in areas with severe right-of-way limits.  
However, eight feet width does not safely accommo-
date passing of or by users who require greater width 
than narrow profile road bicycles, including in-line 
skaters, bicyclists with child trailers, and recumbents.

• a two-foot minimum shoulder (3-5 feet is more desir-
able) with a maximum 6:1 cross-slope should be pro-
vided as a recovery zone adja cent to trails.

• Signs or other traffic control or information devices 
should be at least two feet from the edge of the trail 
surface.  The bottom edge of any sign should be at 
least 4 feet from the grade of the trail surface.

• a soft surfaced two-foot extension to a paved trail can 
improve conditions for walkers and runners because 

151



49

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

49

of its resilience and lower impact. 

• minimum vertical clearance for trails is 8 feet; 10 feet 
is recommended unless clearance is limited.  When 
conditions, like the height of a culvert or bottom of a 
bridge structure, further limits clearance, cyclists must 
be advised to walk bicycles.

Grades and Grade changes

recommended maximum grades for multi-use trails are 
5% for any distance, 8.3% for distances up to 200 feet, and 
10% for distances up to 30 feet (bicycles only).

• grades over 5% must include landings and handrails 
compliant with the americans with Disabilities act.

• ramps, bridges, and landings adjacent to abrupt grade 
changes must include 42-inch handrails, designed 
to meet aaSHTO recommendations. ramp surfaces 
should be slip-resistant.

• When underpasses require slopes over 5%, consider 
an alternate ac cessible route with reduced grades if 
possible, even if this route requires a grade crossing.

• Warning signs for trail users should be used on grades 
approaching 5% and greater.

• aaSHTO 2010 recommends avoiding grades less than 
0.5% because of ponding problems.   

Subsurface and drainage

• Typically 4 to 8-inch compacted, smooth, and level. In-
dividual conditions may require special design.

• Trail cross-section should provide adequate cross-drain-
age and minimize debris deposited by runoff.  Typically, 
this involves a cross slope between 1% and 2%.

• When trails are adjacent to or cut into a bank, design 
should catch drainage on the uphill side of the trail to 
prevent slope erosion and deposits of mud or dirt across 
the trail.

intersection design

• Design speed of 20 mph, with horizontal and vertical 
geometrics and stopping sight distances consistent 
with aaSHTO 2010 standards, as published.

• In most cases, trail traffic will be subordinate to motor 
vehicles on intersecting roads.  Figure 4.15 illustrates 
crossing treatments at mid-block intersections.  

• align or widen trail at railroad intersections to permit 

Figure 7.1: trail Surface comparisons

Surface advantages Disadvantages

Soil 
Cement

Natural materials, more durable than soil, low cost, 
relatively smooth surface

Uneven wear, erodible, difficulty in achieving correct 
mix.

granular 
Stone

Natural material, f irm and smooth surface, moderate 
cost, multiple use

Erodible in storms, needs regular maintenance to 
maintain surface, discourages on-line skaters and 
some wheeled users

asphalt Hard surface, smooth with low resistance, stable, low 
maintenance when properly installed, multiple use

Relatively high installation cost, requires periodic 
resurfacing, freeze/thaw vulnerability, petroleum 
based material, construction access and impact

Concrete Hardest surface, easy to form, lowest maintenance, best 
cold weather surface, freeze-thaw resistance

Highest installation and repair cost, construction 
access and impact

Native Soil Natural material, very low cost, low maintenance, easy 
for volunteers to build and maintain

Dusty, ruts, limited use, unsightly if not maintained, 
not accessible

Wood 
Chips

Natural material, good walking surface, moderate cost Decomposes when wet, requires regular maintenance 
and replenishment, not accessible

recycled 
materials

Good use of materials, surface can be adequate High cost, uncertain performance

Table 11: Attributes of Trail Surfaces

152



5050

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

perpendicular crossing of tracks. 

crosswalk delineation 

• The crossing surface should clearly delineate the trail 
right-of-way. 

• Trail crossings should be delineated with standard 
pavement markings, such as the “ladder” or “zebra” 
patterns.  another option is providing a contrasting 
surface that clearly defines the trail domain.  These 
may include the use of stamped concrete, colored con-
crete, or pavement marking or patterning products 
such as StreetPrint or others. 

• at midblock crossings of multi-lane roads, refuge me-
dians should be used to reduce the distance that trail 
users must negotiate at one time. 

curb cuts and trail Access Points

• avoid the use of bollards or obstacles at grade-level in-
tersections unless operations prove they are needed. 
If necessary, use entrances with a median separating 
directional movements in place of bollards. medians 
should be placed about 25 feet in from the edge of 
the roadway to permit space for cyclists to clear the 
intersection before slowing.

• When bollards or gateway barriers are used, provide a 
minimum opening of five feet, adequate to permit ad-
equate clearance for all bicycles.  avoid poorly marked 
cross barriers that can create hazards for entering bicy-
clists, particularly in conditions of darkness.

• at midblock crossings of multi-lane roads, refuge me-
dians should be used to reduce the distance that trail 
users must negotiate at one time. 

• The bottom of the curb cut should match the gutter 

grade and have a minimal lip or bump at the seam.  
Truncated domes should be used to alert visually im-
paired users to the street crossing.

• The bottom width of the curb cut should be full width 
of the intersecting trail.

Signage

• Provide regulatory and warning signs consistent with 
the 2009 edition of the manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (mUTCD).

• Standard trail crossings signs, typically a bicycle in a 
diamond, should always be used to alert motorists of 

Source: AASHTO 2010

railings and trail Separations from Adjacent Slopes

153



51

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

51

the trail crossing. See Figure 7.3 for suggested sign 
placement.

traffic control

• right-of-way should be clearly established. Ordinarily, 
the trail will be stopped with right-of-way preference 
given defensively to the motorist.  

• Controls for pedestrian signals should be easily acces-
sible to trail users and should not require cyclists to 
dismount or move out of their normal path.

• New crossing technologies such as the hybrid beacon 
apply well to trail crossings.  

design for Maintenance

• Provide adequate turning radii and trailhead access to 
maintenance and emergency vehicles.

information and Support Facilities

• establish a consistent informational sign system that 
includes a BikeHays logo, an identifying trail name, 
trail maps at regular intervals, mileage markers for ref-
erence and locating emergency situations, directional 
signage to destinations, and safety rules and adviso-
ries.

• Provide periodic minor rest stops, including benches, 
shaded areas, picnic areas, and in formational signing. 
ensure reasonable access to water, restrooms, and 
shelter. 

intersection conditions 
for Midblock trail/road 
intersections: Yield and Stop 
controlled 
Source: AASHTO 2010

154



5252

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Hybrid Beacon.  This signal type, 
pioneered in Tucson, functions 
somewhat like school bus warning 
signals.  It is dark when not in use.  When 
actuated by a pedestrian, a flashing and 
then solid yellow light warns motorists to 
slow; a solid red light paired with a walk 
signal stops traffic and gives the right-
of-way to the pedestrian.  Users report a 
high degree of motorist compliance and 
a positive effect on pedestrian safety.  

contemporary trail crossing.   This crossing of a major arterial  
near Waukesha, Wisconsin includes a refuge median, defined 
crosswalk, effective warning signage, and the consultant’s bike.

Midblock refuge Medians.  a crossing median provides 
refuge to trail users at mid-block crossings, reducing the 
distance that pedestrians and cyclists are exposed to traffic.   

Trail Crossing Features

155



53

3 | INFraSTrUCTUre DeSIgN CONCePTS

53

4CHaPTer

ImplementAtIOn

156



5454

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Priorities and implementation

The proposed Hays bikeways network will be implemented 
in phases, and will almost certainly evolve over time.  In 
Chapter Two, this plan presented an initial phase to guide 
development during the next five years, and later phases 
that complete an overall bicycle transportation system. The 
initial phase was based on the following priority criteria:

•	 response to demands.  The initial system should 
address existing demand patterns, and serve 
destinations that are valuable to users and appropriate 
endpoints for bicycle transportation.  

•	 route integrity. High priority routes and projects 
should provide continuity between valid endpoints 
such as parks and major activity centers. 

•	 Extensions	of	existing	facilities.	  Projects that make 
use of and extend the reach of key existing facilities 
such as the Big Creek Trail, should have a significant 
priority.

•	 Gaps. Small projects that fill gaps in current facilities 
or tie relatively remote neighborhoods to the overall 
system can be especially useful at early stages n the 
system’s development.

•	 Opportunities. The implementation sequence should 
take advantage of opportunities such as street projects 
such as the 41st Street project or the resurfacing of 
33rd Street programmed for 2012. 

•	 relative ease of development.  It is important that the 
a useful system be established relatively quickly and 
at comparatively low cost.  routes that require major 
capital cost or controversy should be deferred to later 
phases, when precedents are established and the 
network becomes part of the Hays urban landscape.   

this chapter establishes 
an implementation 
program based on 
executing an initial 20 

mile bikeway system for Hays. it 
includes a general description 
of the initial components and 
opinions of probable cost. 

• Ability to serve the entire city. The initial system 
should serve all areas of Hays, and work effectively to 
connect  them together.

Funding and Sequencing

In late 2012, the Commission allocated approximately 
$280,000 toward implementation of the initial phase of the 
Bike Hays network and an additional $20,000 for signage 
and marketing. This major step requires a sequencing plan 
that produces a sound initial project that will both evolve 
into full implementation of the initial system and a match 
that can be used toward subsequent grant awards. 

The following section considers the cost, physical character, 
and sequencing of segments that together make up the 
initial system described in Chapter Two.  It includes:

• a locator map for each of these identified components.

• a brief description of the character of these 
components and the types of facilities that they 
include.

• a table breaking these components (or routes) into 
individual segments with lengths, infrastructure 
types, and opinions of probable cost.

Cost opinions are based on the following estimates, 
displayed in Table 12.  Infrastructure types refer to those 
presented in Chapter Three.

Within these tables, sequencing and funding is divided 
into a Phase 1a and Phase 1b. Phase 1a establishes a basic 
system that can be completed with the available 2013 
funding of $280,000.  key criteria of this system include:

• a priority on routes that incorporate bike lanes. Bike 
lanes provide a facility that will be most comfortable 

157



55

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

3

1 2 3

Facility 
type Description cost/unit

1 Sharrows $9,000/mile

2 Sharrows with striped parking lane $12,000/mile

3 Single-direction bike lane with sharrows and striped parking lane $16,500/mile

4 Single-direction bike lane with sharrows and diagonal  parking $20,000/mile

5 Two-direction bike lanes with two-side parallel parking $20,000/mile

6 Two-direction bike lanes with one-side parallel parking $18,000/mile

7 Parkway with dual single-lane street channels and one-sided parking $15,000/mile

8 Four to three-lane road diet with two-side bike lanes $60,000/mile

9 Two-side bike lanes or shoulders with no parking $18,000/mile

10 Two-side bike lanes with buffered cycle track $22,000/mile

SP Sidepath: 10 foot concrete $150,000/mile

MuP multi-use Pathway: 10 foot concrete $250,000/mile

Table 12: Estimated Cost per Mile by Facility Type

1 3 4 5 6

8

7

9

Sp

2

10

158



5656

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

for the greatest number of potential users.
• routes that together form a system that satisfies the 

Integrity performance standard, connecting all parts 
of Hays that avoids discontinuities.  

Phase 1b emphasizes shared routes and bike lanes that 
complete the initial system concept and support the 
phase 1a network. It also includes upgrading the Big Creek 
Trail between main Street and Old Highway 40 on the 
southwest side of Hays.

The phasing concept assumes that the 41st Street 
improvement project includes funding of a sidepath 
between the US 183 Bypass and Hall Street. Therefore, this 
sidepath project is not included in the Bike Hays funding 
plan.

159



57

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

Map 6

160



5858

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 1a 
cost

Phase 1b 
cost

comments

1 41st Street, US 183 to Hall 1.00 Sidepath $150,000  Na  Current street project

41st Street, Hall to autumn 0.16 Type 1: sharrows 9,000 $1,440

autumn/Summer Dr, 41st to 37th 0.39 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000 4,680

37th, Summer to Canal 0.17 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000 2,040

Canal Blvd, 37-33 0.28 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000 $3,360  

Canal Blvd, 33-27 0.56 Type 7: blvd, left side bike lanes 15,000  8,400  Includes both street 
channels.

Canal Blvd, 27-20 0.32 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000  3,840  

Walnut, 20-17 0.2 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000  2,400 

Walnut, 17-12 0.32 Type 1: sharrows  9,000  2,880 

12th, Walnut-elm 0.1 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000  1,200 

elm, 12-main 0.85 Type 1: sharrows  9,000  7,650 

Total 4.35  $29,730 $8,160

1
This major north-south route on the west side 
of Hays incorporates a planned sidepath along 
41st Street as part of a street improvement 
project.  The route uses Canal Boulevard and 
Walnut Street to link the FHSU campus to 
the 27th and Hall business district and the 
northwest part of the city.  With the exception 
of the 41st Street sidepath and a future path 
through rolling Hills Park, it involves low cost 
adaptations of existing streets.  related long-
term projects may include a lane diet along Hall 
Street, providing a three-lane facility with a left-
turn lane and bike lanes.

W
Es

Ts
ID

E

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

161



59

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

1223

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 1a 
cost

Phase 1b 
cost

comments

2 Vine Street, 37-mopar 0.24 existing sidepath under I-70 Na

Vine Frontage, 37-32 0.28 Type 1: sharrows $9,000 $2,520 explore access to Skyline Dr. as an 
alternative to Vine St frontage

Oak/28th/Fort, 32-27 0.59 Type 2: sharrows/parking lanes 12,000  $7,080 

Fort, 27-22 0.28 Type 10: two-side bike lanes, with 
counterflow buffered cycle track

22,000 6,160 NB counterflow bike lane

21 and 22, main to Fort 0.20 Type 1: sharrows 9,000  1,800 Single direction sharrows, with 
NB route on 22nd, SB on 21st

main, 22-16 0.42 Type 1: sharrow  9,000  3,780 

main, 16-13 0.2 Type 4: one side bike lane, diagonal parking  20,000  4,000 

main, 13-6 0.36 Type 1: sharrow  9,000  3,240 

main, 6-Trail 0.33 Type 3: one side bike lane 16,500  5,445 

Big Creek Trail, main-8 1.50 Paved multi-use pathway 250,000 375,000

Total 4.40  $31,505 $377,520

2
This component connects the north and south 
parts of central Hays, largely adapting the main 
and Fort Street corridors to connect municipal 
Park, the Big Creek Trail with Downtown, 
Wilson Pool, Felton middle School, and the 
developing  commercial area north of I-70.  Bike 
lanes are used on portions of main and Fort 
Streets wide enough to accommodate them. 
The route crosses 27th Street at the Fort Street 
intersection and introduces a counterflow 
northbound bike lane to take advantage of  this 
crossing. The route includes a paving the Big 
Creek Trail to 8th Street in Phase 1b. It will be 
further improved with implementation of the 
North Vine access concept proposed by the 
comprehensive plan.  

m
A

In

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

162



6060

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/
Mile

Phase 
1a cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

3 general Hays, Centennial  to 
22nd

0.25 Type 2: sharrows, parking lanes $12,000   $3,000 

allen, 20 to Ballpark road 1.14 Type 1: sharrows  9,000   10,260 

Total 1.39  $13,260

3
This relatively short connection provides a short 
route from the east side of Hays to Downtown 
and municipal Park via allen Street. The route 
crosses Vine Street at the signalized 22nd 
Street intersection, coinciding with the east-
west crosstown line B.  It will eventually link to 
an improved Big Creek Trail, serving westside 
community features. 

A
ll

en

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

163



61

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/
Mile

Phase 1a 
cost

Phase 1b 
cost

comments

4 general Custer, 
Centennial-13th

1.58 Type 7: blvd, left side bike lanes  $15,000  $23,700 Includes 
both street 
channels. NB 
is unpaved 
between 13th 
and 17th. 

Total 1.58 $23,700

4
This important eastside connection parallels 
Vine Street along the general Custer 
parkway corridor. It serves Hickok and Polly 
Parks and is part of a system that connects 
to North Vine and the mall area.  Facilities 
along this corridor make extensive use of 
bike lanes.  a future connection of 19th 
Street across Vine would also increase the 
utility of this route, easily linking the west 
side to east side parks and attractions, as 
would a pedestrian bridge across Chetolah 
Creek between 22nd and 13th Street.  These 
improvements are not included in the phase 
one projects, however.

G
en

er
A

l 
C

U
St

er

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

164



6262

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/
Mile

Phase 
1a cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

5 Indian Trail, 33 to 
Centennial

1.00 Type 3: one side bike lane $16,500  $16,500 Na

alley, Centennial to 20 0.11 Use alley as is  $-  $- 

20, alley to macarthur 0.05 Type 1: sharrow  9,000  450 

macarthur, 20 to 13 0.35 Type 3: one side bike lane 16,500 5,775

Total 1.51  $22,725 Na

5
This key route uses Indian Trail as a 
connection through the center of the east 
side of town, serving roosevelt School 
and Sunrise Park. It continues south along 
macarthur to the proposed 13th Street 
crosstown bikeway (line C).  Indian Trail 
crosses 27th Street at a four-way stop, 
helping to connect the north and south 
sides of Hays safely.  

IN
D
IA
N
	T
R
A
IL

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

165



63

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/
Mile

Phase 
1a cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

6 Canterbury, museum-27th 0.28 Type 5, 2-side bike lanes  $20,000 Na  $5,600 

Canterbury, 27-26 0.1 Type 1, sharrows  9,000  900 

Henry, 26-Douglas 0.60 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  12,000  7,200 

Felten/lawrence/19th, 
Douglas TO macarthur

0.33 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes 12,000 4,000

Total 1.43 Na $17,700 

6
H
EN

RY
	D
R
IV
E

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

This line provides a north-south connection 
on the east side of Hays, generally parallel to 
Canterbury Drive. It begins at the Sternberg 
museum and follows Henry Drive, one block 
west of Canterbury and providing access to 
mediacl offices and the hospital along that 
corridor. The line uses the Douglas Drive 
route (line g) and other streets to connect 
to Sunrise park and Felten middle School.

166



6464

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

route Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 
1a cost 

Phase 
1b cost 

comments

A Columbine, 27th to 
Oakmont

0.23 Type 1, sharrows  $9,000  $2,070 

Oakmont/greenbrier, 
Columbine to Hall

0.93 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  12,000 11,160 

33, Hall to Vine 1.00 Type 5a, 2-side bike lanes  
                

 20,000  $20,000 

Vine St Crossing 
modifications

1.00  40,000  10,000 30,000

33, Vine-Indian Trail 0.40 Type 5a, 2-side bike lanes  
          

 20,000  8,000 

Total 3.56  $38,000 $43,230

A
This important east-west line uses 33rd 
Street across the city, crossing Vine at a 
major commercial intersection near the mall.  
realignment of this intersection is proposed 
in the comprehensive plan. at its west end, 
the route would intersect a completed Big 
Creek Trail at 27th Street. Bike lanes are 
scheduled to be installed along parts of 33rd 
Street as part of a resurfacing project during 
2012.  The cost of this segment is included in 
the table below.

33
R
D
/

C
r

O
SS

tO
W

n

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

167



65

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

route Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 
1a cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

B 20th, Walnut-main 0.35 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  $12,000  $4,200 Na

20th, main-allen 0.30 Type 1, sharrows  9,000  2,700 

allen, 20-22 0.12 Type 1, sharrows 9,000 1,800

22nd, allen-Vine 0.10 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  12,000 1,200

22nd, Vine to Douglas 0.97 Type 9, 2-side bike lanes  
              

 18,000  17,460 Na

22nd, Douglas to Canterbury 0.10 Type 1, sharrow  9,000  $900 

22nd, Canterbury to Hospital 
entrance

0.18 Type 8, 3-lane with bike lanes  30,000  5,400 restripe to 
12' lanes with 
bike lanes

Total 2.12  $32,940 Na

B
This line provides a major crosstown bike 
route across central Hays. The route uses 
20th Street to link Canal Boulevard and allen  
Street, and continues along 22nd Street to 
connect the medical center with the central 
part of the city.  In this concept, 22nd Street 
is slightly modified and restriped to include 
bike lanes. The route connects seven north-
south routes and serves a central role in the 
initial citywide network.

22
N
D
	

C
r

O
SS

tO
W

n
 

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

168



6666

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

route Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 
1a cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

A 12th, elm-main 0.38 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  $12,000   $4,560 

13th, main-milner 0.38 Type 5 bike lanes  20,000  $7,600 

13th, milner to golden Belt 1.42 Type 8, 4 to 3-lane road diet with 
2-side bike lanes

 60,000  85,200 

Canterbury, 13-recreation 
Center

0.20 Sidepath 150,000 30,000 30,000

Total 2.18  $92,800  $34,560 

c
This important east-west line links the south 
side of Hays using 12th and 13th Streets, 
and serves the campus area, Downtown, 
and the high school. a major infrastructure 
element is a lane reconfiguration of 13th 
Street, including a reduction from four 
lanes to a three lane section, including a 
center left-turn lane. This configuration 
appears adequate to handle average daily 
traffic, provides safer left-turn movements, 
and provides room for bike lanes on this 
important corridor.

13
th

/
so

U
TH

sI
D
E

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

169



67

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

route Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 1a 
cost

Phase 1b 
cost

comments

d South Campus Drive/Park, 
US 183 to 7th

0.66 Type 1, sharrow  $9,000 Na  $5,940 

7th, Park-main 0.45 Type 1, sharrow  $9,000  $4,050 One-way WB

6th, Park-main 0.45 Type 1, sharrow  $9,000  $4,050 One-way eB

1.56 Na  $14,040 

d
This short connector connects the campus 
residential area to Downtown with a shared 
route on the 6th and 7th Street one-way 
pair.  Sharrows are used on the one-way 
streets, with bike traffic traveling in the same 
direction as motor vehicles.

6/
7t

h
 

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

170



6868

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

route Segment Length
(Miles)

Bikeway Facility treatment cost/Mile Phase 1a 
cost

Phase 
1b cost

comments

E 26th, Indian Trail-
Canterbury

0.55 Type 2, sharrows/parking lanes  $12,000   $6,600 

F Centennial, Vine-22 0.61 Type 5, 2-side bike lanes  $20,000  $12,200 

G Douglas Dr, 22-13 0.65 Type 5, 2-side bike lanes  $20,000  $13,000 

Total 1.81  $25,200  $6,600 

E
These three short system components 
connect major north-south routes and take 
advantage of wide streets like Douglas Drive 
to provide bike lanes in strategic locations.  
They provide access from major parts of the 
initial network to the hospital, Vine Street 
commercial, and the 13th Street corridor. F

G

Phase 1a 
segments 
are 
highlighted
in table.

171



69

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

route Name length 
(miles)

Total Cost Phase 1a 
Cost

Phase 1b 
Cost

1 Westside 4.35 37,890 29,730 8,160

2 main/Big Creek 4.40 414,325 31,505 377,520

3 allen 1.39 13,260 – 13,260

4 general Custer 1.58 23,700 – 23,700

5 Indian Trail 1.51 22,275 22,725 –

6 Henry Drive 1.31 17,700 – 17,700

a 33rd/Crosstown 3.56 81,230 38,000 43,230

B 22nd/Crosstown 2.12 32,940 32,940 –

C 13th/Southside 2.38 127,360 92,800 34,560

D 6th/7th 1.56 14,040 – 14,040

e 26th 0.55 6,600 – 6,600

F Centennial 0.61 12,200 12,200 –

g Douglas 0.65 13,000 13,000 –

total complete initial 
System

25.97 $811,670 $272,900 $538,770

recap of pilot System by Component Probable initial System cost
The table at left recaps the costs of the entire, 
nearly 25 mile initial system.  The table includes 
paving of the existing Big Creek Trail between 
main and 8th Street to an 8 to 10 foot width as 
possible.  Street adaptation costs are about 
$432,000, with initial trail development estimated 
at an additional $400,000, for a total cost of about 
$832,000.  Implementation of the initial system 
may occur over a three year period.

North	Vine	parkway	concept	(right).	The initial system uses the existing sidepath under I-70 and the 
Vine Street frontage to extend the main route (line 2) to the north side of the Interstate. The parkway/
rearage road concept of the comprehensive plan would replace the frontage road with a multi-use 
pathway.  In the interim, Skyline Drive could also provide an alternative to safety issues posed by the 
frontage road.  Use of Skyline would require a path connection west from Vine Street.

172



7070

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

the ultimate BikeHays network
The ultimate Bike Hays system would be extended 
largely through additional on-street routes, but also 
includes a number of substantial future investments. 
Highlights of the long-range system include the 
following:

• Paving and extension of the Big Creek Trail 
between 12th Street and 27th Street. (1)

• a Sports Complex Pathway, connecting the Fort 
Hays State campus with the Bickle-Schmidt 
Complex using the north edge of campus and 
a path along Old US 40. This path would tie into 
both the 6th and 7th Street route and the bike/
pedestrian corridor proposed as part of the 
campus to downtown development area in the 
comprehensive plan. (2)

• a four- to three-lane road diet with bike lanes on 
Hall Street between the 27th and Hall business 
district and 41st Street. (3)

• The Vine Street parkway between 27th and 41st, 
proposed in the comprehensive plan. (4)

• a general Custer Trail along Chetolah Creek, from 
13th Street under the railroad and US 40 to the 
Stramel Ball Parks and reservation road. (5)

• a Sternberg Trail, from the museum under I-70 to 
41st Street. (6)

• extension of 18th Street across Vine with a new 
intersection, and a pedestrian/bicycle bridge 
across Chetolah Creek. (7)

• a medical Center Trail, upgrading the wellness 
path through the hospital campus, and 

integrating it into residential neighborhoods on 
the eastern edge of town. (8)

• Canterbury Trail, incorporating a path or bicycle 
lanes along Canterbury Drive that includes the 
edge of the medical center campus and would 
extend across I-70 on a future overpass to 41st 
Street.  This route would then continue along 
41st Street to North Vine. (9)

• Connection along an easement continuing the 
alignment of 33rd Street west to greenbrier. (10)

Future planning should also monitor overall 
development trends and adapt the BikeHays program  
into emerging neighborhoods and destinations.  For 
example, paved shoulders on the US 183 Bypass also 
accommodate bicyclists and may be integrated into 
westside growth.  The Commerce Parkway  corridor 
also may emerge as a desirable destination for bicycle 
commuters and future development.

173



71

 4 | ImPlemeNTaTION

1

2

3

7

6

5

10

4

8

9

174



72

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

175



73

5 | SUPPOrT SySTemS

5CHaPTer

SUppOrt 
SYStemS

176



74

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

according to the laB, the evaluative elements of the 5e’s 
are:

enGIneerInG evaluating what is on the ground and has 
been built to promote cycling in the community. areas of 
evaluation include:

• existence and content of a bicycle master plan.

• accommodation of cyclists on public roads.

• Presence of both well-designed bike lanes and multi-
use paths in the community. 

• availability of secure bike parking.

• Condition and connectivity of both the off-road and 
on-road network.

EDUCATIoN determining the amount of education avail-
able for both cyclists and motorists. education includes:

• Community programs teaching cyclists of all ages how 
to ride safely in any area from multi-use paths to con-
gested city streets.

• education for motorists on how to share the road safe-
ly with cyclists. 

• availability of cycling education for adults and chil-
dren.

• Number of league Cycling Instructors in the commu-
nity, 

• Distribution of safety information is distributed to 
both cyclists and motorists in the community such as 
bike maps, tip sheets, and as a part of driver’s educa-
tion manuals and courses.

enCOUrAGement concentrating on promotion and en-
couragement of bicycling.  areas of evaluation include:

• Programming such as Bike month and Bike to Work 
Week events. 

• Community bike maps and route finding signage.

• Community bike rides and commuter incentive pro-
grams.

• Safe routes to School programs.

• Promotion of cycling or a cycling culture through off-
road facilities, BmX parks, velodromes, and road and 
mountain bicycling clubs. 

enFOrCement addressing connections between the cy-
cling and law enforcement communities, addressing:

• liaisons between the law enforcement and cycling 
communities.

• Presence of bicycle divisions of the law enforcement 
or public safety communities

• Targeted enforcement to encourage cyclists and mo-
torists to share the road safely

• existence of bicycling related laws such as those re-
quiring helmet or the use of sidepaths.

EVALUATIoN	&	PLANNING, considering programs in place 
to evaluate current programs and plan for the future, in-
cluding: 

• measuring the amount of cycling taking place in the 
community

• Tabulation of crash and fatality rates, and ways that 
the community works to improve these numbers. 

While previous 
chapters have 
focused on the 
design and 

character of a BikeHays 
network, infrastructure by 
itself does not create an 
excellent bicycle transportation 
program.  to guide 
communities, the League of 
American Bicyclists through its 
Bicycle Friendly communities 
(BFc) program, establishes five 
components of program design 
that are used to determine 
whether a city should be 
awarded BFc status – the 5 
E’s of Engineering, Education, 
Encouragement, Enforcement, 
and Evaluation.  this program 
applies to communities of all 
sizes, and many cities the size 
of Hays have received this 
status. indeed, as the home 
of a notable manufacturer of 
quality recumbent bicycles, a 
major university campus, and 
an active bicycling community, 
Hays is ideally positioned to be 
a Bicycle Friendly community.

177



75

5 | SUPPOrT SySTemS

• Presence, updating, and implementation of a bicycle 
plan, and next steps for improvement.

The previous four chapters of this plan address the engi-
neering aspect of bicycle programming.  But the “soft” sys-
tems, namely the other four e’s, are critical to taking full 
advantage of infrastructure investments, improving the ef-
fectiveness and safety of bicyclist, and making Hays a truly 
bicycle friendly community.  The following discussion pro-
vides recommendations for the support systems for bicy-
cling in the city, organized around the laB’s five categories 
of bicycle friendliness. 

education

Increase	 the	 number	 of	 league	 certified	 instructors	
(lCI’s) in hays. The league of american bicyclists Bikeed 
program is recognized a the standard for bicycle safety ed-
ucation, and includes a variety of courses that serve young 
cyclists, recreational riders, and everyone up to road-hard-
ened commuters.  Successful operation of the program 
is dependent on one critical factor, however - local pres-
ence of instructors. Therefore, a critical part of the program 
is training of instructors through the league Certification 
process.  In this process, cyclists complete both prerequi-
site courses and a three-day course conducted by a spe-
cially trained instructor. Successful completion and pass-
ing written and on-road  evaluations qualifies individuals 
as league Certified Instructors (lCI), who are then autho-
rized to provide training to other cyclists.  In addition to a 
cadre of instructors, a successful training program requires 
marketing and placement to match instructors with de-
mand from schools, corporations, and other organizations. 
This can most appropriately be done through an advocacy 
or active living organization with staff to organize the edu-
cation effort.

Integrate bicycle rules of the road into drivers education 
programs.  most drivers are unaware of the rights and re-

sponsibilities of vulnerable users such as bicyclists (as well 
as motorcyclists and pedestrians. These factors should be 
included in drivers education programs for new motorists 
and decertification testing. In addition, a significant unit 
on bicycle, pedestrian, and motorcycle laws and behaviors 
should be included in defensive driving classes for drives 
who have received citations for moving traffic violations. 
This often reaches motorists who may be most likely to 
drive inattentively or aggressively, and may be most likely 
to endanger cyclists.  

Work with major employers to conduct on-site educa-
tion programs.  as part of efforts to encourage better em-
ployee health through greater active transportation, major 
employers often are willing to host Bikeed programs. Out-
reach and partnerships with companies to offer programs 
on-site can increase participation in bicycling, and assist 
employers with establishing an ethos based on healthy liv-
ing.

Develop	and	implement	bicycle	education	programs	for	
kids. young bicyclists perceive the riding environment dif-
ferently from adults, and obviously have neither the visual 
perspective nor experiences of older riders.  Schools and 
safety groups often offer “bike rodeos” which may or may 
not address the skills of riding even on local streets. The 
laB’s Bikeed program has a specific track that addresses 
these issues ad skills, and they should be incorporated into 
these more frequently offered safety events. 

publish and post on-line an engaging and brief guide to 
safe bicycling. Information on safe urban cycling should 
be both ubiquitous and appealing to different audiences, 
including both motors and bicyclists. Poor safety practices 
are both dangerous and bad for public relations, creating 
the possibility of backlash against cyclists.  New york’s Bik-
ing rules program, an on-line guide to practice and law, 
developed by the advocacy organization Transportation 
alternatives, and a brief city DOT publication on safe rid-

178



76

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

ing are excellent examples. Chicago has published a safety 
booklet specifically targeted toward young cyclists. Hays 
should develop similar guides, which also successfully 
avoid portraying bicycling as a hazardous activity.

encouragement

Expand	participation	 in	bicycle	 transportation	through	
programs that engage corporations in  competitions and 
fun, such as corporate commuter challenges. These pro-
grams track participation by numb of trips and miles trav-
eled during a multiple-month period, and give awards to 
winners at an event at the end of the period. Companies 
may be classified by size, so that competition is among 
similarly sized organizations. These challenge programs 
are successful by encouraging bicycle transportation with-
in companies and in many case produce a bicycle culture 
as companies compete against each other.

Institute a bike month celebration. Bike month events 
typically occur during may, and can involve a variety of 
activities, including short rides led by the mayor or other 
public officials, clinics on subjects such as riding technique 
and bicycle repair, special tour events, screenings of bicy-
cle-related movies, and other programs.  

Organize special rides that are within the capabilities of 
a broad range of riders and encourage family participa-
tion. On memorial day weekend, the active Transportation 
alliance’s Bike the Drive closes Chicago’s lake Shore Drive 
for exclusive bicycle use for three hours on Sunday morn-
ing for cyclists to enjoy. In madison, seven miles of down-
town streets are closed to motor traffic for exclusive use by 
bicycles and pedestrians in a free event that attracts thou-
sands. many community rides and benefits have different 
lengths and routes to appeal to all ages. These events build 
interest, and make cycling comfortable and attractive to 
more people. Hays has scheduled similar events in the past 
to demonstrate the possibilities of bicycle transportation. 

Cyclovia programs that close a major street or streets in 
a part of the city have become very popular around the 
country as a community festival.

Implement a bicycle ambassador program in middle and 
high schools. ambassadors are students with a special in-
terest in bicycling who share that interest with their peers. 
many cities also have adult ambassador programs, whose 
goal to to provide safety education and market the many 
positive aspects of bicycling in the city.  

encourage hays’ businesses and employers to partici-
pate in the league of American Bicyclists Bicycle Friend-
ly Business (BFB) program.  The program recognizes busi-
nesses that encourage their employees to use bicycles for 
transportation through efforts such as providing secure 
bicycle parking, sponsoring company rides, offering eco-
nomic  incentives, establishing internal bicycling events 
and bicycle interest groups, and supporting community 
bicycle initiatives.  

Achieve Bicycle Friendly Community status within three 
to	five	years.	  In addition to recognition as a good bicy-
cling environment, many observers also consider Bicycle 
Friendly Community status to be an indicator of overall 
community quality.  as such, it is a significant communi-
ty marketing tool, and reinforces substantial efforts in bal-
anced transportation development.

engineering (Facilities)

Institute a bicycle parking program, installing facilities 
at strategic locations across the city. Bicycle parking is a 
low cost but significant physical improvement that both 
encourages cycling, provides greater security, and keeps 
bikes from damaging trees or street furniture, or obstruct-
ing pedestrians. The parking program includes several ele-
ments:

Biking rules.  excerpts from a 
streetcode to promote responsible urban 
cycling, developed by New york City’s 
Transportation alternatives advocacy 
organization.

179



77

5 | SUPPOrT SySTemS

•	 Identifying key locations for facilities. 

•	 Standardizing on bike parking equipment that is du-
rable,	relatively	inexpensive,	and	unobtrusive.	many 
of the bike racks in use today, including the so-called 
“schoolyard” rack and waves are inefficient, take up 
a great deal of space, and, in the case of the former, 
can actually damage bikes. Better in most cases are 
less obtrusive designs such as the inverted U, hitch-
ing post, or the new “theta” design that recently won a 
bicycle parking design competition for New york City.

•	 Develop	 a	 funding	 mechanism	 and	 incentive	 pro-
gram for bicycle parking installations. Bike parking 
on private property may be funded with the assis-
tance of  special events. For example, Omaha’s east-
ern Nebraska Trails Network holds an annual Corpo-
rate Challenge ride, which in 2011 attracted a record 
4,200 cyclists. a portion of the proceeds are used to 
purchase inverted U’s, some of which are offered to 
targeted private businesses at reduced cost.

•	 Amend	 zoning	 ordinances	 to	 require	 a	 specific	
amount of bicycle parking for high demand busi-
ness types.

develop and install a unified bikeway network graphic 
system. While signs and sign clutter should always be min-
imized, a carefully designed identification and directional 
graphics system can greatly increase users’ comfort and 
ease of navigating the street system. The graphic system 
may have individual features, but should generally follow 
the guidelines of the manual of Uniform Traffic Control De-
vices (mUTCD). Types of signs in the system include:

• route identifier, including a system logo and the num-
ber and name of the route. These signs reassure users 
that they are on the right path and is keyed to num-
bered routes.

• Intersection signs, indicating the intersection of two 
or more routes.

• Destination way finders, indicating the direction, dis-
tance, and time (using a standard speed, typically 9 
miles per hour), to destinations along the route.

• Directional changes, signaling turns along a route.

The graphic system should be modular to provide maxi-
mum flexibility and efficiency in fabrication. Signs should 
also use reflective material for night visibility.  The Clear-
view font is recommended as a standard for text.

enforcement

Involve a Police Department representative on the advi-
sory committee, bike education efforts, and other aspects 
of the bicycle transportation program.  Police participation 
adds a critical perspective to facility and safety program 
planning and implementation.   

enforce bicycle laws for both motorists and bicyclists. all 
users of the road have responsibilities to each other. effec-
tive enforcement begins with police officers being com-
pletely familiar with legal rights and responsibilities of cy-
clists. But bicyclists must not have free passes to disobey 
traffic laws, and irresponsible riders often create backlash 
against all. enforcement for all users leads to better, safer 
behavior and greater predictability and cooperation by all.

at the state level, kansas has made two major statutory 
steps to become more friendly to bicyclists: a 3-foot sep-
aration requirement for motorists passing bicycles, and a 
Dead red law, permitting bicyclists and motorcyclists to 
go through red signals that do not detect their presence.

Encouragement through Events.  The 
largest group bike ride in the country 
is Bike New york’s Five Borough Bike 
Tour, with 32,000 riders.  But much 
more modest rides also provide fun and 
support for riders of all abilities. 

180



78

THe BIke HayS maSTer PlaN

evaluation and planning

Institute an evaluation system that compiles bicycle traf-
fic	 counts	 and	 crash	 information,	 and	 monitors	 mode	
split data through the American Community Survey and 
user surveys. good evaluation information measures the 
effectiveness of the program and informs adjustments and 
improvements. The bicycle/pedestrian coordinator is ulti-
mately responsible for developing and implementing this 
evaluative program.

Complete periodic surveys of system users, monitoring 
customer satisfaction and recommendations. The very 
high response to the survey in chapter two indicates a 
large and committed constituency that is a great source 
of information and input. In addition to being an excellent 
measure of user satisfaction and recommendations for im-
provement, surveys keep the bicycle community actively 
engaged in the process of improving bicycle transporta-
tion in Hays.

Bicycle Parking.  Inverted U’s at the University of Nebraska at 
Omaha, enhanced with the school’s mascot.  

Bikeways System Graphics. Clockwise 
from bottom: Destination sign, route 
intersection sign, and route identifier.

181



79

5 | SUPPOrT SySTemS

182



69

 4 | IMPLEMENTATION

Route Name Length 
(Miles)

Total Cost Phase 1a 
Cost

Phase 1b 
Cost

1 Westside 4.35 37,890 29,730 8,160

2 Main/Big Creek 4.40 414,325 31,505 377,520

3 Allen 1.39 13,260 – 13,260

4 General Custer 1.58 23,700 – 23,700

5 Indian Trail 1.51 22,275 22,725 –

6 Henry Drive 1.31 17,700 – 17,700

A 33rd/Crosstown 3.56 81,230 38,000 43,230

B 22nd/Crosstown 2.12 32,940 32,940 –

C 13th/Southside 2.38 127,360 92,800 34,560

D 6th/7th 1.56 14,040 – 14,040

E 26th 0.55 6,600 – 6,600

F Centennial 0.61 12,200 12,200 –

G Douglas 0.65 13,000 13,000 –

Total Complete Initial 
System

25.97 $811,670 $272,900 $538,770

Recap of Pilot System by Component Probable Initial System Cost
The table at left recaps the costs of the entire, 
nearly 25 mile initial system.  The table includes 
paving of the existing Big Creek Trail between 
Main and 8th Street to an 8 to 10 foot width as 
possible.  Street adaptation costs are about 
$432,000, with initial trail development estimated 
at an additional $400,000, for a total cost of about 
$832,000.  Implementation of the initial system 
may occur over a three year period.

The initial system uses the existing sidepath under I-70 and the 
Vine Street frontage to extend the Main route (Line 2) to the north side of the Interstate. The parkway/
rearage road concept of the comprehensive plan would replace the frontage road with a multi-use 
pathway.  In the interim, Skyline Drive could also provide an alternative to safety issues posed by the 
frontage road.  Use of Skyline would require a path connection west from Vine Street.

183



 

184



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 9        MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 

 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Transportation Enhancement Grant Application – Hike and Bike 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Consider approving Resolution No. 2013-002 to apply for Transportation Enhancement 
Program funds as part of the Bike Hays Master Plan and authorizing the use of $100,000 
from the Stormwater budget as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
As was noted in the previous agenda item, the Hays Bike Master Plan was developed by 
RDG through the 2012 Comprehensive Plan process.  The system connects key community 
attributes providing a convenient and accessible means of mobility for various purposes.  The 
base plan, 1a phase, is estimated to cost $272,900.  The Commission budgeted adequate 
funds in 2013 Special Parks for this project; however, an opportunity for State funding is now 
available and staff requests approval to submit an application utilizing budgeted funds as a 
match for phase 1b to maximize the system’s potential.  A resolution to apply for 
Transportation Enhancement Program funds is requested.  Additionally, $100,000 from 
Stormwater is requested as a match for the Big Creek Levee cap.  Should state funding be 
denied, staff will implement phase 1a if approved by Commission.     
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Paul Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of resolution 2013-002 to submit an application for 
Transportation Enhancement Funds with an additional $100,000 in stormwater matching 
funds.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
Approval of resolution 2013-002 to submit an application for Transportation Enhancement 
Funds with an additional $100,000 in stormwater matching funds. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 2013-002 

 

185



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-002 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING THE ELIGIBILITY OF THE CITY OF 
HAYS, KANSAS TO SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO THE KANSAS 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR USE OF TRANSPORTATION 
ENHANCEMENT FUNDS SET FORTH BY THE FEDERAL TRANSPORTATION 
EQUITY ACT FOR THE 21ST CENTURY FOR THE HAYS BIKE PROJECT IN 
HAYS, KANSAS AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER OF THE CITY OF 
HAYS TO SIGN THE APPLICATION.  
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas, has the legal authority to apply for, 
receive, and administer federal, state, and other monies through Home Rule 
Power under the Constitution of the State of Kansas and authorized by K.S.A. 
12-1662, regarding the expenditure of federal aid to public agencies; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas, desires to submit an application to 
the Kansas Department of Transportation for transportation enhancement 
program funds set forth by the Federal Transportation Equity Act for the 21st 
Century; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas, is participating in the Kansas 
Department of Transportation's Transportation Enhancement Program set forth 
by the Federal Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century; and  
 

WHEREAS, Federal monies are available under a transportation 
enhancement program set forth by the Federal Transportation Equity Act for the 
21st Century, administered by the State of Kansas, Department of 
Transportation, for the purpose of Historic, Scenic and Environmental, and 
Pedestrian and Bicycle projects; and  
 

WHEREAS, After appropriate public input and due consideration, the 
Governing Body of City of Hays, Kansas has recommended that an application 
be submitted to the State of Kansas for the Bike Hays Plan project.  
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY 
OF THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS:  
 

SECTION 1. That the City of Hays, Kansas does hereby authorize the City 
Manager to submit an application to the Kansas Department of Transportation for 
transportation enhancement program funds set forth by the Federal 
Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century on behalf of the citizens of City of 
Hays, Kansas. 
 

186



SECTION 2. That the City of Hays, Kansas, hereby assures the Kansas 
Department of Transportation that sufficient funding for the construction of the 
Bike Hays project is available.  

 
SECTION 3. That the City of Hays, Kansas, hereby assures the Kansas 

Department of Transportation that sufficient funding for the operation and 
maintenance of the Bike Hays project will be available for the life of the project.  
 

SECTION 4. That the City of Hays, Kansas, hereby assures the Kansas 
Department of Transportation that the City of Hays, Kansas, will have title or 
permanent easement to the Bike Hays project by the time of project letting.  
 

SECTION 5. That the City Manager of City of Hays, Kansas, is authorized 
to sign the application to the Kansas Department of Transportation for 
transportation enhancement program funds set forth by the Federal 
Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century on behalf of the citizens of City of 
Hays, Kansas. The City Manager is also authorized to submit additional 
information as may be required and act as the official representative of the City of 
Hays in this and subsequent related activities.  
 

SECTION 6. That the City of Hays, Kansas, hereby assures the Kansas 
Department of Transportation that the City of Hays, Kansas, is willing and able 
to, if the Bike Hays project is selected for funding, administer the designing, 
letting and construction of the Bike Hays project.  
 
 

ADOPTED AND PASSED by the Governing Body of the City of Hays, 
Kansas, this 24th day of January, 2013.  
 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________  
TROY HICKMAN 
Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

___________________________ 
DORIS WING 
City Clerk 

 
(SEAL) 
 

187



 

188



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 10     MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Developer Agreement – Wheatland Lots 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
City staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell 
Dreher for the construction of the improvements as detailed in the agreement. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
Darrell Dreher, the owner of six lots along the east side of Wheatland Avenue just south of 
22nd Street, is proposing both sanitary sewer and street improvements to serve those lots.  A 
developer agreement has been crafted, which sets forth the conditions for the improvements 
and allows the City to reimburse the developer for the cost of over sizing in the amount of 
$22,853.20.  Staff recommends entering the agreement with Darrell Dreher to allow the 
improvements to be constructed. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
City staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell 
Dreher for the construction of the improvements as detailed in the agreement. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo 
Exhibit A – Location Map 
Exhibit B – Letter Agreement 
 

 
 
 

189



  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 
    
Work Session: January 17, 2013 
 
Subject: Developer Agreement – Wheatland Lots  
 
Person(s)  Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Responsible: I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
 

Summary 
 Darrell Dreher, the owner of six lots along the east side of Wheatland Avenue just south 
of 22nd Street, is proposing both sanitary sewer and street improvements to serve those 
lots.  A developer agreement has been crafted, which sets forth the conditions for the 
improvements and allows the City to reimburse the developer for the cost of over sizing 
in the amount of $22,853.20.  Staff recommends entering the agreement with Darrell 
Dreher to allow the improvements to be constructed. 
 

Background  
The northern most 6 lots (Lots 1 -6 , Block D, Tallgrass Second Addition) along the east 
side of Wheatland Drive just south of 22nd Street were not developed in the mid 1990s 
along with the rest of Wheatland.  Since there was no benefit district to assess the cost of 
street and utility improvements, a temporary asphalt road connects Wheatland to 22nd 
Street. 
 
When 22nd Street between Canterbury and Commerce Parkway was constructed in 2009, 
the waterline was installed and the intersection was built.  Since then, the property has 
changed ownership several times and the north 3 lots were rezoned to R-3 in September 
2012.  The south 3 lots remain R-1. 

 

Discussion 
The current owner of the lots, Darrell Dreher would like to develop the lots and has 
presented a developer agreement documenting the conditions for the development.  The 
current development policy requires Wheatland to be constructed to Collector Street 
standard (7” thick pavement with Curb and gutter - 45’ wide from back of curb to back of 
curb).  Sanitary sewer also needs to be extended.  To accommodate future development, 
the sanitary sewer needs to be 10” diameter pipe.  See Exhibit A for a location map. 
 
Mr. Dreher proposes to finance the cost of the improvements without the establishment of 
a special benefit district.  However, the current development policy does allow for the 

190



City to pay for over sizing of the pavement width and thickness from the 40’ Residential 
Street to the 45’ Collector Street Standard, and the over sizing of the sanitary sewer from 
the standard 8” to 10”. 
 
The Letter Agreement in Exhibit B details the cost of the proposed improvements and 
the city at-large share of those costs for over sizing.  See the Financial Considerations 
section for a cost summary.  In addition, the developer will have all improvements 
designed to City Standards, secure required permits, provide construction inspection, as-
built plans, and a one-year warranty.   

 
Legal Consideration 

There are no legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The cost estimates provided by the developer’s engineers are summarized below: 
 
   Total Cost  City Share 
Street Construction: $180,696.00  $16,573.20 
Sanitary Sewer $  62,000.00  $  6,280.00 
Total   $242,696.00  $22,853.20 
 
The $16,573.20 to oversize Wheatland to Collector Street standard could be funded out 
of the Capital Projects fund. 
 
The $6,280 to oversize the Sanitary Sewer to 10” could be funded out of Water/Sewer 
Capital. 
 

Options 
The Commission has the following options: 
Option 1: Authorize the City Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell Dreher for the 
construction of the improvements. 
Option 2: Provide alternate direction to staff. 
 

Recommendation 
City staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell 
Dreher for the construction of the improvements as detailed in the agreement. 
  

Action Requested 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Darrell Dreher and 
taking such actions necessary to comply with the terms of the agreement. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Exhibit A – Location Map 
Exhibit B – Letter Agreement 
 

191



E
 2

3
R
D

 S
T

E

 
2

0

T

H

 
S

T

E 22ND ST

E 22ND ST

E
 2

3
R
D

 S
T

E

 
2

0

T

H

 
S

T

E 22ND ST

E 22ND ST

22nd Street

21st Street

20th Street

W
h

e
a

t
l
a

n
d

Location

Tallgrass 2nd Addition

Six Lots on Wheatland

Dreher Development

Agreement

10" Sanitary Sewer

Concrete

Pavement

with Curb

and Gutter

192



 

Lots 1-6, Block D, Tallgrass 2nd Add. Agreement 1 of  2 12/21/20012 

 

 

Letter Agreement 

 
Darrell Dreher 
2200 Henry Dr. 
Hays, KS 67601 
 

 

This Letter Agreement is in regards to the proposed public street, and sanitary 
sewer improvements to serve Lots 1 to 6, Block D, Tallgrass Second Addition, all 
to the City of Hays, Ellis County Kansas. 
 
The developer’s engineer for street construction, Ruder Engineering, has provided 
concept plans to the City of Hays Public Works Department for the construction of curb, 
guttering, paving, grading and drainage for approximately 490 lineal feet of Wheatland 
Ave immediately south of 22

nd
 Street.  Wheatland Ave shall be constructed as a 

Collector Street, 45’ in width from the back of curb to the back of curb, with a minimum 
pavement thickness of 7” as detailed in the Development Policy Infrastructure 
Guidelines for New Development dated October 22, 2009. 
 
The developer’s engineer for sanitary sewer improvements, Baughman Company, has 
provided concept plans to the City of Hays Public Works Department for the installation 
of approximately 628 lineal feet of ten-inch (10”) sanitary sewer main, 2 manholes, 6 
sanitary sewer taps, and all appurtenances thereto.  All proposed improvements shall 
be located in the public right of way or properly recorded easements.   
 
City water main exists to serve proposed lots.  Developer to pay the cost of water taps, 
meter can assemblies, and service lines in the future as lots are built upon. 
   
The developer’s engineers shall submit plans to the City in accordance with the 
“Standard Details and Specifications for Public Works Construction Projects” dated 
March 1999 as updated from time to time, and the Development Policy Infrastructure 
Guidelines for New Development dated October 22, 2009. 

The developer has elected to bear the cost of the improvements without petitioning for 
establishment of a special benefit district.  As per the above mentioned Policy, the City 
of Hays shall pay the cost to oversize Wheatland Ave as a collector street (pavement 
width and thickness) and to oversize the sanitary sewer main from 8” to 10”.  The 
estimated cost for oversizing Wheatland Avenue to be reimbursed to the developer by 
the City is $16,573.20.  The estimated cost to oversize sanitary sewer to 10” to be 
reimbursed to the developer by the City is $6,280.00.  Developer shall provide 

193



   

Lots 1-6, Block D, Tallgrass 2nd Add. Agreement 2 of  2 1/18/2013 

justification of actual costs with invoices or other documentation acceptable to the City, 
and actual reimbursement will be made based on approved actual costs.  The City’s 
share of construction costs shall be reimbursable to the developer after the successful 
completion of construction to plan according to City standards and acceptance by the 
City.  Provided that the City shall have final approval of contractor, total construction 
time and access to the public right of way. 

The developer(s) shall secure the required KDHE permit for the construction of the 
proposed sanitary sewer improvement; supply the City with bid tabs and construction 
documents; provide for construction observation, testing and inspection; participate in 
the final inspection; provide as-built plans, material submittals, and test results to the 
city; and provide for a one-year warranty. 

The parties agree that this agreement becomes null and void if construction of 
improvements is not completed within 18 months of the date of execution of this 
agreement. 

The parties further agree that the City shall file this agreement with the Ellis County 
Register of Deeds within thirty (30) days of execution of this agreement,  
 

THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS  DEVELOPER 

 

 

 
             
Toby Dougherty,  date  Darrell Dreher  date 
City Manager      
 
 
       
        
Attest:       
 
 
 
       
Doris Wing,   date  
City Clerk 

194



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 11     MEETING DATE: 1-24-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Engineering Agreement – Waterline Design 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw Valley Engineering 
in the amount of $46,904 for engineering services to be funded from the Water and Sewer 
Capital reserve funds. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The Capital Improvement Program includes the replacement of various waterlines in older 
sections of the City, which have had a disproportionately high frequency of waterline breaks.  
Staff has solicited engineering services for the design of waterline upgrades and 
replacements.  Kaw Valley Engineering of Junction City submitted the lowest cost proposal in 
the amount of $46,904 for the design of water and sanitary sewer force main upgrades in ten 
locations around the City.  Staff recommends that the City Commission authorize the City 
Manager to enter an agreement with Kaw Valley Engineering for design work. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Bernie Kitten, Director of Utilities 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
City staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw Valley 
Engineering in the amount of $46,904 for engineering services. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo 
Exhibit A – RFP 
Exhibit B – Agreement for Engineering Services 

 
 

195



  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 
    
Work Session: January 17, 2013 
 
Subject: Engineering Agreement – Waterline Design  
 
Person(s)  Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Responsible: Bernie Kitten, Director of Utilities 
 

Summary 
 The Capital Improvement Program includes the replacement of various waterlines in 
older sections of the City, which have had a disproportionately high frequency of 
waterline breaks.  Staff has solicited engineering services for the design of waterline 
upgrades and replacements.  Kaw Valley Engineering of Junction City submitted the 
lowest cost proposal in the amount of $46,904 for the design of water and sanitary sewer 
force main upgrades in ten locations around the City.  Staff recommends that the City 
Commission authorize the City Manager to enter an agreement with Kaw Valley 
Engineering for design work. 
 

Background  
The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) contained within the 2013 budget included 
waterline upgrades in various locations scheduled for 2014 and 2015; however, repeated 
failure of the old 4” waterline on Fort Street between 20th and 27th Street has prompted a 
more timely replacement of that stretch of waterline.  Therefore, staff prepared a Request 
for Proposals (RFP) to solicit engineering services for the design of the waterline 
replacements originally scheduled for 2014 and 2015 along with the replacement of 
2000’ of 10” sanitary sewer force main along the US-183 Bi-pass, which has experienced 
failure in the recent past and has reached the end of its useful life.  While all of the 
improvements proposed for design may not be constructed in 2013, there is efficiency in 
having them all designed at the same time.  The sections of waterline included in the 
design solicitation are listed below and detailed in the RFP contained in Exhibit A. 
 

A. Fort Street from 13th to 20th Street – upgrade 4” to 8”  
B. Fort Street from 20th to 27th Street – upgrade 4” to 8” (includes pavement 

rehab) 
C. 26th Street from Fort to Ash – upgrade 4” to 6” 
D. Oak Street from 20th to 26th Street – upgrade 4” to 8” 
E. Hickory Street from 27th to 29th Street – replace 6” 
F. Ash Street  from 27th to 29th Street – replace 6” 

196



G. 6th Street  from Riley to Vine Street – upgrade various to 8” 
H. Riley from 6th to 8th Street – upgrade 4” to 8” 
I. Elm Street from 1st to 4th Street – new 8” waterline 
J. US-183 bypass - 10-inch Sanitary Sewer Force Main Replacement 

 
 

Discussion 
An open solicitation for engineering services resulted in the City receiving proposals 
from seven (7) engineering firms.  Below is a list of the firms that submitted proposals 
and the subsequent fee: 
 

Kaw Valley Engineering – Junction City  $   46,904.00  

Olsson Associates - Manhattan  $   47,300.00  

Earles Engineering - Liberal  $   52,931.00  

Benesch - Manhattan  $   62,700.00  

Schwab Eaton - Manhattan  $   65,300.00  

CFS - Topeka  $   74,800.00  

PEC - Wichita  $ 187,400.00  
 
Kaw Valley Engineers has prepared an Agreement for Engineering Services, which is 
contained in Exhibit B.  The agreement calls for design of the 2013 projects (B and J) to 
be complete by April 1, 2013 for bidding and construction prior to the end of the year.  
Design of the remaining projects is to be complete by May 31, 2013. 
 
While the City has not utilized Kaw Valley Engineering directly in the past, they have 
provided bridge inspection services for Ellis County, and staff has worked with Kaw 
Valley Engineering in that capacity. 
 
Staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreement with Kaw 
Valley Engineering. 

 
Legal Consideration 

There are no legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The total cost to upgrade the waterline on Fort from 20th to 27th Street is estimated to be 
$697,200, and the cost to replace the 10” sanitary sewer force main along US-183 is 
$101,000.  Both cost estimates include engineering and would be financed out of the 
Water/Sewer Capital Fund.   
 
At the December 27, 2012 City Commission meeting, $250,000 from Financial Policy 
Projects Fund was dedicated to pavement rehabilitation on Fort Street from 20th to 27th 
Street to be done in conjunction with the waterline replacement. 
 

197



The current request is to authorize $46,904 out of the Water/Sewer Capital Fund to cover 
engineering design costs as proposed by Kaw Valley Engineering. 
 

Options 
The Commission has the following options: 
Option 1: Authorize the City Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw Valley 
Engineering in the amount of $46,904. 
Option 2: Provide alternate direction to staff. 
 

Recommendation 
City staff recommends authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw 
Valley Engineering in the amount of $46,904 for engineering services. 
  

Action Requested 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter the agreement with Kaw Valley 
Engineering in the amount of $46,904 for engineering services. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Exhibit A – RFP 
Exhibit B – Agreement for Engineering Services 
 

198



 

 

 

City of Hays 

Request for Proposals 

 

 

COH Project 2012-22 

Waterline Upgrades 

 
 
 
 
 

Date of Issue: November 26, 2012 (Revised Dec. 11, 2012) 

Pre-proposal Conference (MANDATORY) December 4, 2012 

or December 5, 2012 

Proposal Due Date December 19, 2012 

Tentative City Commission Approval: January 24, 2012 

 

Revision 1- based on comments from Pre-proposal 
meetings. 

 

Revision 2 – clarification regarding survey.  See Exhibit B, 
Section 3, page 14.

199



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

2 

Table of Contents 

 

1. INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................................................................3 

2. RULES OF PREPARATION.......................................................................................................................3 

3. INQUIRIES ...................................................................................................................................................3 

4. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS ................................................................................................................3 

5. NOTIFICATION OF WITHDRAWL OF PROPOSAL ...........................................................................4 

6. MINIMUM SPECIFICATIONS/SCOPE OF SERVICES ........................................................................4 

7. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS ............................................................................................................4 

8.  RIGHT OF THE CITY OF HAYS TO REJECT PROPOSALS.............................................................5 

9. EVALUATIONS ...........................................................................................................................................5 

10. NON-LIMITATIONS TO RFP..................................................................................................................  5 

11. PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE.............................................................................................................5 

12. INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA....................................................................................................5 

13. PROJECTED SCHEDULE OF EVENTS ..................................................................................................6 

14. PROPOSAL RESPONSE FORMAT ..........................................................................................................6 

15. CONFIDENTIALITY OF DOCUMENTS .................................................................................................6 

16. LEGAL NOTICE ..........................................................................................................................................7 

EXHIBIT A (LOCATION MAPS) .....................................................................................................................8 

EXHIBIT B (PROJECT SCOPE).....................................................................................................................12 

EXHIBIT C (PROPOSAL FORM) ..................................................................................................................16 

 

200



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

3 

1.  Introduction 
 The City of Hays invites your firm to submit a written proposal to provide Engineering 
Design Services for future water line upgrades.  Exhibit A contains a location map.  The 
City is asking for engineering design services for the following projects: 

A. waterline upgrade (4” to 8”) – Fort Street from 13th to 20th Street 

B. waterline upgrade (4” to 8”) – Fort Street from 20th to 27th Street  

C. waterline upgrade (4” to 6”) – 26th Street from Fort to Ash 

D. waterline upgrade (4” to 8”) – Oak Street from 20th to 26th Street 

E. waterline replacement (6”) –Hickory Street from 27th to 29th Street 

F. waterline replacement (6”) –Ash Street  from 27th to 29th Street 

G. waterline upgrade (various to 8”) –6th Street  from Riley to Vine Street 

H. waterline upgrade (4” to 8”) –Riley from 6th to 8th Street 

I. 8-inch waterline extension -Elm Street from 1st to 4th Street 

J. 10-inch Sanitary Sewer Force Main Replacement – US-183 bypass 

 

These water line upgrades are proposed to be constructed over the next 3 or more years as 
funding becomes available.  Most immediately, Project B. – Fort from 20th to 27th Street 
and Project J, Sanitary Sewer Force Main are scheduled to bid in April 2013 for 
construction prior to the end of calendar year 2013.  Improvements to the pavement on 
Fort between 20th and 27th Street are being considered in conjunction with the waterline 
improvements.  

Proposed line sizes (replacements and upgrades) listed in this RFP are estimates only and 
subject to validation with the City’s water distribution model to be performed by others.  
Ultimate line sizes, confirmed by the City’s water model will be provided to the 
successful firm at or before the kick-off meeting. 

The City of Hays is considering the use of HDPE pipe for some or all of the listed 
projects.  The successful firm will assist the City in evaluating the pros and cons of 
utilizing HDPE pipe, and provide details and specifications to be used by the City if 
HDPE pipe is pursued.   

This written Request for Proposal (RFP) states the scope of the City of Hays 
requirements and specifies the general rules for preparing the proposal. 

The proposal should clearly demonstrate how the firm can best satisfy the requirements 
of the City of Hays. The City of Hays shall reserve the right to enter an agreement with 
the firm presenting the proposal that is most advantageous to the City of Hays. 

2.  Rules of Preparation 
The submitted proposals must follow the rules and the format established within this 
RFP.  Adherence to these rules will ensure a fair and objective analysis of all proposals.  
Failure to comply with any portion of this request may result in rejection of a proposal. 

3.  Inquiries 
The Public Works Department of the City of Hays has prepared this RFP and has 
designated the Assistant Director of Public Works, John Braun, as project manager.  
Please direct questions or comments concerning either the administrative or technical 
requirements of this RFP to: 

 

John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 

City of Hays Public Works Department 

201



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

4 

1002 Vine Street 

Hays, Kansas 67601 

(785) 628-7350 office 

(785) 628-7352 fax 

johnbraun@haysusa.com   

 

To ensure a timely response, questions requiring a response should be faxed or e-mailed 
to the Project Manager at the specified number or address above. 

 

No inquiries will be accepted after noon on December 14, 2012.  If necessary, the 
City will issue a revision to the RFP by 8:00 am on December 17, 2012. 

4.  Submission of Proposals 
Please prepare and submit original plus two (2) copies of the proposal.  Completed 
proposals should be sealed and clearly marked "RFP for Waterline Upgrades" and be 
submitted no later than 3:00 P.M. December 19, 2012, to the City Clerk, 1507 
Main Street, PO Box 490, Hays, KS  67601. 

Proposals received after the above date and time will be considered late and will not be 
accepted.  Any late proposals will be returned unopened to the firm.  Responses will be 
evaluated objectively based on the firm's responses to the RFP. 

The City of Hays will not pay costs incurred in the proposal preparation including the 
costs for printing, demonstration, negotiation process, etc.  All costs for the preparation 
of the proposal shall be borne by the proposing firm. 

5.  Notification of Withdrawal of Proposal 
Proposals may be modified or withdrawn by an authorized representative of the firm or 
by formal written notice prior to the final due date and time specified for proposal 
submission.  Submitted proposals will become the property of the City of Hays after the 
proposal submission deadline. 

6.  Minimum Specifications/Scope of Services 
Proposals should address all engineering services necessary to complete the project.  
Services required include, but may not be limited to the Scope of Services detailed in 
Exhibit B. 
 

List in detail how you propose to provide the services along with the maximum dollar 
amount to provide such services.  

 
Each proposal shall include a draft Agreement for Engineering Services.  The agreement 
should include but not be limited to: definition of project scope, scope of services to be 
provided by the consultant, scope of services to be provided by the City, time schedule, 
and compensation.  For the purpose of evaluating proposals, the Consultant shall 
complete and sign the proposal sheet in Exhibit C.   

7.  Contractual Obligations 
The successful firm will be required to enter an Agreement for Engineering Services with 
the City of Hays in which the firm will undertake certain obligations.  These obligations 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 

202



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

5 

Inclusion of Proposal - The proposal submitted in response to this RFP will be 
incorporated as part of the Agreement for Engineering Services. 

Indemnification and Insurance - The successful firm(s) shall indemnify and hold the City 
of Hays and its officers, agents, employees and assigns, harmless from any liability 
imposed for injury whether arising before or after completion of work hereunder, or in 
any manner directly or indirectly caused, occasioned or contributed to, or claimed to be 
caused, occasioned or contributed to, in whole or in part, by reason of any act or 
omission, including strict liability or negligence of firm, or of anyone acting under firm's 
direction or control or on its behalf, in connection with or incident to, or arising out of the 
performance of this contract.  Successful firm shall maintain the following insurance 
requirements during the time of performance of these services and contract 
period.  An insurance certificate must be on file with the City Clerk’s office 
within four weeks of the signing of the contract by both parties. 

 

a. General Liability Insurance, with a combined single limit of $1,000,000 for each 
occurrence and $1,000,000 in the aggregate 

b. Automobile Liability Insurance, with a combined single limit of $1,000,000 for each 
person and $1,000,000 for each accident 

c. Worker's Compensation insurance in accordance with statutory requirements and 
Employer’s Liability Insurance, with a limit of $500,000 for each occurrence 

d. Professional Liability Insurance, with a limit of $1,000,000 annual aggregate 

The successful firm shall require all of its subcontractors to maintain general aggregate 
insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per accident. 

Costs - All costs are to be stated in exact amounts.  All costs must be detailed specifically 
in the cost summary section of the proposal; no additional charges (e.g. for sales tax, 
container packing, installation, training, out-of-pocket expenses, etc.) will be allowed 
unless so specified in the proposal. 

Selection - The final award is subject to the approval of the Hays City Commission. 

8.  Right of the City of Hays to Reject Proposals 
The City of Hays reserves the right to reject any and all proposals or any part of any 
proposals, to waive minor defects or technicalities, or to solicit new proposals on the 
same project or on a modified project that may include portions of the originally 
proposed project as the City of Hays may deem necessary in its best interest. The City 
also reserves the right to negotiate with any firm, all or part of any proposal that is in the 
best interest of the City. 

9.  Evaluations 
 The committee evaluating the proposals will base the evaluation on the proposal that will 
best serve the City of Hays at the lowest possible cost. 

10.  Non-limitations to RFP 
The format of the RFP must be followed and all requested information must be submitted 
as indicated; however, the City of Hays is receptive to any additional suggestions 
pertaining to services development, additional related capabilities, and any alternative 
methods for providing related services.  Any exceptions to the RFP terms and conditions 
must be included in writing in the proposal. 

203



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

6 

11. Pre-proposal Conference 
 The City will hold pre-proposal conferences on December 4, 2012 at 1:00 p.m. 

and again on December 5, 2012 at 1:00 p.m. at the City of Hays 
Commission Chambers located at 1507 Main Street, Hays, Kansas.  Attendance is 
mandatory.  Proposals will not be accepted from firms not represented at one 
of the scheduled pre-proposal conferences. 

 

 Those firms in attendance and eligible to submit proposals are: Kaw Valley 
Engg, Earles Engg, Schwab Eaton, Benesch, CFS Engineers, Olsson Assoc, 
PEC, Kirkham Michael, and Wilson Company. 

12. Interpretations and addenda 
 No interpretation made to any respondent as to the meaning of the RFP shall be binding 

on the City of Hays unless repeated in writing and distributed as an addendum by the City 
of Hays.  Interpretations and/or clarification shall be requested in writing from the contact 
person listed in Section 3. 

13.  Projected Schedule of Events 
Release of RFP Document  11/26/2012  

Pre-proposal Conference (Mandatory)  12/4/2012 or 12/5/2012  

Last day to submit proposals  12/19/2012 

Staff recommendation to City Commission 1/24/2013 

Tentative Notice to Proceed with Design  1/28/2013 
Target Final Plans and Bid Documents to City for review 4/1/2013 

Target Bid Opening for First Phase of Construction 5/8/2013 
Clarrification:  The City of Hays will allow for extension of deadlines for deliverables 
due to inclement weather restricting survey or other field work.  The target date of 
4/1/2013 for final plans applies to projects planned to bid for construction in 2013.  The 
final delivery date for all other deliverables is 5/31/2013. 

14.  Proposal Response Format 
In order to facilitate the analysis of responses to this RFP, firms are required to prepare 
their proposal in accordance with the instructions outlined in section 4.   

Proposals should be prepared as simply as possible and provide a straightforward, 
concise description of the firm's capabilities to satisfy the requirements of the RFP.  
Expensive bindings, promotional material, etc., are not necessary or desired.   

 

The proposal should be organized into the following major parts: 

 Executive Summary- A brief and non-technical narrative describing the proposal. 

 Company Background - Information regarding the firm's stability, length of time in 
business, past history, future plans, company size, organization. 

 Responses to Functional Requirements - Responses to the requirements listed in this RFP 
must be provided.   Notes of explanation or clarification must be included with specific 
reference to the item in question. 

 Client References - Provide at least three client references that are similar in nature, size 
or complexity to that described in this RFP.   

204



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

7 

 Contract Terms and Conditions - This section is to contain the firm's sample agreements 
for Engineering Services.  This section is intended to form the basis for the development 
of an Engineering Service Agreement to be awarded as a result of the RFP.  

 Fee Quotations – Fees for services to be provided must be itemized and included in this 
 section.   

15.  Confidentiality of Documents 
All responses to the RFP submitted by firms shall be deemed public documents at the 
time opened by City of Hays.  The RFP is not intended to elicit proprietary information 
from the firm. If proprietary information is submitted as part of the proposal, such 
information is to be labeled proprietary and be accompanied with a request that the 
information is to be returned by the City of Hays to the submitter.  Any proposal that is 
submitted with a blanket statement or limitation that would prohibit or limit such public 
inspection shall be considered non-responsive and shall be rejected. 

16.  Legal Notice 
Required Contractual Provisions 

Unless specifically waived in its request for bids or request for proposals, or 
included as alternate provisions to be bid or proposed, the City of Hays, Kansas, 
shall not award contracts nor let bids to individuals or entities unless the vendor, 
contractor or individual agrees to indemnify and hold the City of Hays, Kansas, 
harmless from any and all losses, damages or expenses of any kind arising out of 
any and all claims, demands, or causes of action initiated against the City of Hays, 
Kansas, by competing entities bidding on the project which is the subject of the 
contract.  
 
Prohibited Contractual Provisions. 
Unless specifically waived in its request for bids or request for proposals, or 
included as alternate provisions to be bid or proposed, the City of Hays, Kansas, 
shall not award contracts nor let bids to individuals or entities which attempt to do 
any of the following or include any of the following in the proposed contract:  
 

1) Any diminishment of the common law or statutory standard of care, limitation of 
liability, or other attempt to reduce responsibility for mistake, error, or negligence 
of any type on the part of the vendor, contractor or individual.  
 

2) Attempts to limit liability for breach of contract or negligent performance to the 
amount of the payment to the contractor by the city.  
 

3) Attempt to claim ownership of intellectual property created during the 
performance of the contract with the city. 
 

4) Arbitration agreements. 
 

5) Provision for damages for breach by owner contrary to common law or statute 
including, but not limited to, any attempt to provide for attorney fees as part of 
recoverable damages.  
 

205



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

8 

6) Attempt to designate any forum or venue for resolution of disputes other than 
Ellis County District Court, Kansas. 
 

7) Any other attempted reallocation of risk contrary to common law or statute. 
 

8) Any attempt to eliminate the city's ability to collect consequential, exemplary or 
punitive damages, or any other measure of damages permitted by law, in an action 
against the vendor, contractor or individual for breach of contract.  
 

Prohibited Acts. 

Unless specifically permitted to do so by the request for bids or request for 
proposals, no vendor, contractor or individual submitting proposals or bids to the 
City of Hays, Kansas, shall attempt to insert any of the contractual provisions 
prohibited by Section 2-577 into any contracts or agreements proposed to the City 
of Hays, Kansas.  
 
Penalty for Violation of Article. 
Any vendor, contractor or individual who, without the express permission of the 
City Manager of the City of Hays, Kansas, proposes to enter into or enters into a 
contract with the City of Hays, Kansas, which omits any of the contract 
provisions required by Section 2-576 of this article or contains any of the contract 
provisions barred by Section 2-577 of this article, may be found by the City 
Manager of the City of Hays, Kansas, to be in violation of this article and 
vendors, contractors or individuals found to be in violation of this article may be 
barred from bidding on future contracts with the City of Hays, Kansas.  
 
Conflict Between Article and Contract 
To the extent any contract entered into by or on behalf of the City of Hays, 
Kansas omits any of the contract provisions required by Section 2-576 of this 
article, the article will prevail and the required contract provisions will be read 
into the contract. To the extent any contract entered into by or on behalf of the 
City of Hays, Kansas contains any of the contract provisions barred by Section 2-
577 of this article, the article will prevail and the offending provisions shall be 
null and void and shall be unenforceable as to the City of Hays, Kansas.  

 

The City of Hays expects a professional job, done commensurate with the 
standards and practices of the profession/or business. 

All persons awarded and/or entering into purchase orders with the City of Hays 
shall be subject to and required to comply with all applicable City, State and 
Federal provisions. 

The City of Hays has an affirmative action program.  Any firm will be required to 
include the following statement in any contract with the City of Hays: 

 "Contractor shall not discriminate in the employment of persons engaged in the 
performance of this Agreement on account of race, color, national origin, 
ancestry, religion, sec, marital status, physical handicap, or medical condition, in 
violation of any federal or state law.  Contractor shall comply with all 
requirements of the City of Hays pertaining to affirmative action with regard to 
employment while this Agreement is in effect." 

206



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

9 

 

The City will reserve the right to complete any aspect of this project with City Personnel 
preceding, during or after the study is complete.  Those items would be deleted from the 
Consultants scope of services.  At any time, the City may elect to abandon the project.  At 
that time, the consultant would be compensated for all items previously completed. 

 

Rights to intellectual property developed, utilized, or modified in the performance of 
services shall remain the property of the City of Hays. 

 

 

207



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

10 

Exhibit A 

 

 

208



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

11 

 

 

209



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

12 

 

210



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

13 

 

211



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

14 

 Exhibit B 

PROJECT SCOPE 

 

The selected firm shall adhere to the requirements and expectations detailed in 
the City of Hays Policy “Guidelines and Expectations Policy to Develop 
Engineering Scope of Services for New Development”, revised 11/29/06, as it 
applies to this project.  In case of conflict between the RFP and the Policy, the 
RFP shall take precedence.  The requirements of the selected firm shall 
include, but not necessarily be limited to: 

1. Provide weekly reports to city staff of progress throughout the design 
stage. 

2. Meet with City Staff to review project scope and design strategy 

a. Coordinate with Hays Fire Department Staff for Fire Hydrant 
Locations. 

b. Coordinate with City Utilities Maintenance Staff for location of 
existing utilities and proposed alignment of new pipeline. 

c. Coordination with Service Division Superintendent regarding 
curb and pavement to be replaced. 

3. All necessary field survey to complete accurate design plans.  
Clarification: Right of Way to Right of Way topo survey along the 
alignment. 

  Further Clarification:   

• Current GIS information along with checking block and 
property corners found will be sufficient to establish right 
of way.  No need to research plats, deeds, etc.  

• Right of Way does not need to be established for each 
block.  A survey baseline down the centerline of the street 
or back of curb will suffice. 

• Survey needs to be done in state plane coordinates.  The 
City does not have control points or bench marks.  

4. Engineering design based on:  

a. City of Hays design standards 
b. Economy of construction 
c. Minimum interruption of water service for customers 
d. Minimum disruption to neighborhoods and traffic 
e. Maximum Fire Protection after completion of project – 

regarding location/spacing of fire hydrants. 
f. Maximum Fire Protection availability during construction 

5. Complete plans, specifications, and bid documents utilizing the City’s 
existing standard specifications and contract documents. 

212



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

15 

a. The City would like to consider the use of HDPE on this and 
future waterline projects.  In the past, the City has only used 
Ductile Iron or C-900 PVC.  The selected firm will be expected 
to assist the City in developing or utilizing existing 
manufacturer specifications for material and installation to be 
included in the bid documents for this project as well as for use 
on future projects the City may let utilizing HDPE pipe. 

6. Identify any utility relocates necessary for construction. 

7. Identify any requirements for additional right of way or easement 
necessary.  Additional services related to property or easement 
acquisition beyond those specifically identified in the “Project 
Description” would be negotiated under separate contract. 

8. Complete application and all necessary requirements for KDHE permit 
approval. 

9. Prepare Engineer’s Estimates for Construction. 

10. Provide both reproducible adobe (.pdf) files and original editable 
digital source files (MS Word and AutoCAD) for all bid documents to 
allow the City to produce biddable documents and solicit bids in 
various phases in future years as construction funding becomes 
available. 

Bid Solicitation, Award of Bid, Construction Management and Inspection will 
be performed by City Staff.  

 

Project Descriptions 

A. Waterline upgrade-Fort Street, 13th to 20th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Replace with new 8” waterline and appurtenances.  Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.  Brick Streets are to be restored.  Directional 
drilling may be appropriate.  

d. Fort Street is a one-way street southbound and shall remain 
open to traffic during construction, but may be closed for 
limited periods of time to allow for street crossings, etc.  Local 
access to driveways should be considered where and when 
possible. 

213



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

16 

B. Water line upgrade- Fort Street, 20th to 27th Street  

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenance. 

b. Replace with new 8” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Fort Street is a one-way street southbound and shall remain 
open to traffic during construction, but may be closed for 
limited periods of time to allow for street crossings, etc.  Local 
access to driveways should be considered where and when 
possible. 

C. Water line upgrade- 26th Street from Fort to Ash 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenance. 

b. Replace with new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. 26th Street may be closed to through traffic during construction, 
but access to local residences should maintained where 
practical. 

D. Waterline Upgrade – Oak Street, 20th to 26th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Oak Street may be closed in 2-3 block sections during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

214



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

17 

E. Waterline Improvement-Hickory Street, 27th to 29th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 6” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Hickory Street may be closed to through traffic during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

F. Waterline Improvement-Ash Street, 27th to 29th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 6” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Ash Street may be closed to through traffic during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

G. Waterline Improvement – 6th Street, Riley to Vine Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind curb where 
allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor condition 
adjacent to waterline work should be considered for 
replacement.   

d. 6th Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, but 
may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary. 

H. Waterline Improvement – Riley, from 6th to 8th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

215



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

18 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind curb where 
allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor condition 
adjacent to waterline work should be considered for 
replacement.   

d. Riley Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, 
but may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary. 

I. Water line looping-Elm Street, 1st to 4th Street 

a. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances along Elm Street.  
Connect to existing water lines at 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th Streets. 

b. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

c. Elm Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, but 
may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary.   

J. 10-inch Sanitary Sewer Force Main Replacement, US-183 bypass 

a. Rehab/Replace approximately 2000 LF of existing 10-inch ductile 
iron sanitary sewer force main from the west side of 240th Avenue, 
east to approximately Big Creek.  Install air release valves and other 
appurtenances as required. 

b. Alternative construction methods (pipe bursting, lining, 
trenchless technologies) shall be considered for this project.  
Options for maintaining sanitary sewer service throughout 
construction must be considered. 

c. US-183 By-pass shall remain open to traffic during 
construction of this project. 

 

Addition notes related to all projects: 

1. All water mains shall be Ductile Iron, C-900 PVC, or HDPE based on 
an evaluation process involving the engineer. 

2. Replace, relocate, or add fire hydrants to provide improved fire 
protection capability in the area.  City staff will evaluate existing fire 
hydrants for the feasibility of reuse.  

3. Add gate valves as necessary to provide the isolation necessary to 
complete construction and allow for efficient future maintenance.  
Consider and balance the costs versus convenience. 

4. Provide new poly service lines to existing meter locations and evaluate 
the existing meter assemblies for replacement.   All existing service 
taps and meter assemblies will be replaced with the City’s standard 

216



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

19 

pre-plumbed meter can assemblies and new poly service lines to the 
right of way line. 

5. Provide for reconnection to all adjacent water lines. 

6. Replace pavement, curb and sidewalk necessary for waterline work, 
and consider the replacement of failed pavement, curb and sidewalk in 
the vicinity of waterline work. 

7. Minimize the necessary removal of healthy trees.  Trees whose root 
structure is damaging to pavement may be considered for removal if 
no alternative exists. 

Deliverables to be provided by the Consultant to the City at no extra cost: 

1. Attend on-site kick-off meeting to gather preliminary data and review the 
project scope. 

2. Assist the City in evaluating the use of HDPE pipe in the City’s water and 
sewer systems and the impact that would have on inventory, operations, 
construction cost, future maintenance, etc.  Develop standard details and 
specification or adapt existing manufacturer specifications for materials 
and installation on this project and future projects. 

3. Preliminary Design Plans and Cost Estimates – two (2) copies full size 
plans for City staff review.  Should include any potential utility conflict or 
additional right of way/easement required.  Attend on-site preliminary 
design review meeting. 

4. Utility Conflict Plans – Provide utility conflict plans for the use of the city 
in coordinating with franchised utilities for utility clearance. 

5. Application and other required submittals to successfully obtain KDHE 
permits for construction of improvements. 

6. Final Draft Design Plans, updated construction cost estimate, and Contract 
Documents – two (2) copies full size plans for City Staff review.  Attend 
on-site final design plan review meeting.  Design Plans shall include Plan 
and Profile Sheets. 

7. Final Plans, Engineers Estimate of Construction Cost, and Bid Documents 
– two (2) paper copies to City, and reproducible digital files to allow City 
to provide bid documents to potential bidders. 

8. Electronic File of the contract documents and specs – in both MS Word 
and Adobe PDF format to City 

9. Electronic File of the Plan Set – in both AutoCAD and Adobe PDF format 
to City. 

10. Digital files of any legal descriptions, location maps, drawings, Bid 
Tabulation Forms listing bid items and quantities (in MS Excel format) or 
any other submittals listed above when requested by the City. 

 

 

217



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

20 

The City will furnish, as required for the project and not at the expense of the 
Consultant, the following: 

 

1. Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Storm Sewer utility information including size 
and locations in vicinity of project. 

2. Access to previous engineering studies, as-built plans, and other 
information available to the City to assist the consultant in preparing the 
design plans. 

3. Ortho Imagery and any other GIS data currently maintained by the City. 

218



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

21 

Exhibit C                 

PROPOSAL 

COH PROJECT NO. 2012-22 

Waterline Upgrades 

 

1. The undersigned declares he/she has examined the Request for Proposals and all 
attached documents, has examined the site of work, and has determined for 
himself/herself the conditions affecting the work.  The Consultant hereby proposes to 
do the work called for in the RFP and attached documents at the following not-to-
exceed prices: 

 

2. The undersigned, in compliance with your Request for Proposals (RFP), dated November 26, 
2012, hereby proposes to do the work called for in said RFP at the following price: 

 

 

    Total Dollars ($_____  ______) 

 

 Consultant shall provide two copies of a detailed breakout of the cost assigned to each 
of the various projects associated with this proposal. 

 

3. The Undersigned further agrees that if the proposal is accepted by the City, he/she will 
commence work within the timeframe set out in Section 13 - Projected Schedule of Events 
and shall complete the work as specified within the RFP and attached Exhibits; and that 
he/she shall pay liquidated damages in the amount of Fifty Dollars ($50) for each calendar 
day, that the work remains uncompleted after expiration of Contract time.   

 

 

Required Documents Attached            (Yes / No) 

 

 Executive Summary-         

 Company Background -         

 Responses to Functional Requirements – (if any) Project Approach    

 Client References -         

 Contract Terms and Conditions – (Draft Engineering Service Agreement)      

 Detailed Cost Breakout -          

 Proof of Insurance     ________  

 Acknowledgement of Addenda    ________  

 (If Any  # ____, # ____, # ____) 

 

 

 

 

  

219



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

22 

List of exceptions to the scope of services: 

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

Dated this _____day of ______________________, 2012. 

 

Signature of Proposer 

 

      

By 

 

      

Title 

 

      

Firm 

 

 

 

 

220



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

Agreement for Engineering Services 
2012 Waterline Upgrades 

COH Project 2012-22 
 
 

This “Agreement”, made this           , day of                                     , 2013, by and between the  City of 
Hays, Kansas  (hereinafter “Owner”), and Kaw Valley Engineering, Inc. (hereinafter “Consultant”), for 
the performance of professional services necessary to complete pavement replacement design for the 
proposed work on 2012 Waterline Upgrades, COH Project 2012-22 (hereinafter “Project”); 
 
WHEREAS, the Owner is responsible for furnishing to the Consultant copies of previous engineering 
studies and as-built plans related to the Project, available information regarding the size and location of 
utilities, existing right-of-way and easement data, and the City of Hays’ latest digital orthographic 
imagery in electronic format within the Project’s vicinity; 
 
WITNESSETH that for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises between the parties 
hereto, it is hereby agreed that the Consultant shall provide the following services to the Owner as set 
forth below; 
 

PROJECT SCOPE 

 
The final constructed product intended by this Project is as outlined in “Exhibit B” of the City of Hays’ 
Request for Proposal issued on November 26, 2012 with revised versions on December 6, 2012 and 
December 12, 2012, and included as a part of this Agreement as Attachment I. 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
Upon execution of this Agreement, the Consultant shall provide the services and finished deliverable 
product as outlined in “Exhibit B” of the City of Hays’ Request for Proposal issued on November 26, 
2012 with revised version on December 6, 2012 and December 12, and included as a part of this 
Agreement as Attachment I.  Additionally, the Consultant shall provide to the Owner upon delivery of 
Final Plans a compact disc containing electronic files of all documents, reports, estimates, photos, 
renderings, CAD drawings and any other beneficial electronic data produced as a result of this 
Agreement. 
  

COMPENSATION 

 

For the purposes of this Agreement, the maximum not to exceed amount due to the Consultant upon 
successful completion of the Scope of Services shall be $46,904.00.  The basis for incremental payments 
shall be per the itemized hourly rates outlined in the “Fee Breakdown” included as Attachment II.  The 
Consultant shall not be awarded payments totaling more than 60% of the contract maximum prior to 
submitting Preliminary Plans, and shall not be awarded payments totaling more than 95% of the contract 
maximum prior to the submittal of Final Plans & Bid Documents.  The Consultant shall invoice the 
Owner for completed services and encountered direct expenses on a monthly basis.   An invoice shall be 
drafted by the Consultant at the end of each month and submitted to the Owner, with the amount of said 
invoice being due upon receipt by the Owner and considered past due if not paid within thirty (30) days of 
the invoice date.  In the event that services are requested by the Owner which are considered by both 
parties to be above and beyond the Scope of Services, those additional services shall be compensated in 
accordance with the hourly rates indicated within the “Fee Breakdown” included as Attachment II.  
 

221



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

TIME SCHEDULE 

 

The Consultant shall begin work on the date of execution of this Agreement and shall complete all work 
as outlined in the Scope of Services for Project B & Project J by April 1, 2013, with all work on the 
remaining project areas to be completed by May 31, 2013.  Services to be provided under this Agreement 
do not allow for delays due to abnormal weather, inefficient or non-responsive review by the Owner 
and/or review agencies, or unforeseen circumstances not under the direct control of the Consultant. 

 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

 

All claims, disputes, and other matters of controversy between Owner and Consultant arising out of, or in 
any way related to, this Agreement or the services performed by Consultant will be submitted to non-
binding mediation as a condition precedent to litigation.  If a dispute arises from matters related to the 
services provided under this Agreement and that dispute requires litigation, then the claim shall be 
brought and tried in a judicial jurisdiction located within Ellis County, Kansas. 
 

TERMINATION BY CAUSE 
 
This Agreement may be terminated by the Owner upon ten (10) days written notice in the event of 
substantial failure to perform in accordance with the terms set herein, or due to desire by the Owner to 
abandon the Project.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Consultant shall be paid for any and all work 
performed through the effective date of termination as per the compensation arrangement set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 

INDEMNIFICATION 

 

The Consultant shall indemnify and hold the City of Hays and its officers, agents, employees and assigns, 
harmless from any liability imposed for injury whether arising before or after completion of work 
hereunder, or in any manner directly or indirectly caused, occasioned or contributed to, or claimed to be 
caused, occasioned or contributed to, in whole or in part, by reason of any act or omission, including strict 
liability or negligence of firm, or of anyone acting under firm's direction or control or on its behalf, in 
connection with or incident to, or arising out of the performance of this Agreement.  

 

CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

 
A. Records and Audits 
 
 The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, and financial 

records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Agreement, and such records 
as may be deemed necessary by the Owner to assure the property accounting for all project funds, 
both Federal and non-Federal shares.  These records will be made available for audit purposes to the 
Owner or any authorized representative, and will be retained for three years after the expiration of this 
Agreement, unless permission to destroy them is granted by the Owner.  It is understood that all 
pertinent records shall be accessible to the Kansas Department of Transportation and the Federal 
Highway Administration. 

 
B. Consultant Compliance with Local, State, and Federal Laws 
 
 1. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, no person shall, on the grounds of race,  

color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be  
subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

222



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

 
 2. Section 109 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, and the  

regulations issued pursuant thereto (24 CFR Section 570.601). No person in the United States  
shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age or disability be excluded from  
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or  
activity funded in whole or in part with Federal Funds. 

 
 3. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Pub. L. 83-112) as amended and implementing  

regulations when published for effect. No otherwise qualified individual shall, solely by reasons  
of his or her disability, be excluded from participation in (including employment), denied  
program benefits of or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving  
Federal funds. 

 
 4. Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (Pub. L. 94-135), and implementing regulations  

when published or effect. No person in the United States shall, on the basis of age, be excluded  
from participation in, be denied the benefits or, or be subjected to discrimination under any  
program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

 
 5. Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, which prohibits discrimination in housing on the basis  

of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, disability or familial status (including children under  
the age of 18 living with parents or legal custodians, pregnant women and people securing  
custody of children under 18). 

 
 6. Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259 and implementing regulations  

as 24 CFR Part 107. No person shall, on the basis of race, color, religion, or national origin, be  
discriminated against in housing (and related facilities) provided with Federal assistance or  
lending practices with respect to residential property when such practices are connected with  
loans issued or guaranteed by the Federal Government. 

 
 7. Kansas Act Against Discrimination of 1992.  It is declared to be the policy of the State of Kansas 

to eliminate and prevent the practice or policy of discrimination against individuals in 
employment relations, in relation to free and public accommodations or in housing by reason of 
race, religion, color, sex, physical disability, national origin or ancestry. 

 
 8. Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 170Iu.  

Provides that to the greatest extent feasible, opportunities for training and employment shall be  
given to lower-income persons residing within the project area and the non-metropolitan county  
in which the project is located and that contracts in connection with the project, be awarded to  
eligible business concerns located or owned in substantial part, by residents of the project area. 

 
 9. Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Orders 11375 and 12086 and implementing  

regulations issued at 41 CFR Chapter 60. A contractor will not discriminate against any  
employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 

 
 10. Section 912 of the Cranston-Gonzales National Affordable Housing Act of 1990, as amended  

Section 109(a) of the HCD Act to prohibit discrimination on the basis of religion. 
 
 11. Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, provides for the  

nondiscrimination in contractor employment. 
 

223



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

 12. The Consultant will also concede to provide access to project records and will agree to maintain 
said records for a period of at least three (3) years beyond project completion and shall also 
follow copyright regulations where appropriate. 

 
 13. The Consultant shall not discriminate in the employment of persons engaged in the performance 

of this Agreement on account of race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, sex, marital status, 
physical handicap, or medical condition, in violation of any federal or state law. Contractor shall 
comply with all requirements of the City of Hays pertaining to affirmative action with regard to 
employment while this Agreement is in effect. 

 
 14. The Consultant will, in all solicitation or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 

the Consultant, state all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without 
regard to race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. 

 
C. Interest of Members of the Owner 
 
 No members of the governing body of the Owner and no other officer, employee, or agent of the 

Owner who exercises any functions or responsibilities in connection with the planning and carrying 
out of the program, shall have any personal financial interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement; 
and the Consultant shall take appropriate steps to insure compliance. 

 
D. Interest of the Consultant and Employees 
 
 The Consultant covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire interest, direct or 

indirect, in the study area or any parcels therein or any other interest which would conflict in any 
manner or degree with the performance of its services thereunder.  The Consultant further covenants 
that in the performance of the Agreement, no person having any such interest shall be employed.  

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Owner and the Consultant have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first above written. 
 

Consultant:      Owner: 

KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.    CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 
 
By:         By:        
 
Title: President      Title: City Manager     
 
Date:         Date:      
 
 

224



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

Attachment I 

 
 See “Exhibit B” of the attached Request for Proposal issued on November 26, 2012, with 

revised version on December 6, 2012 and December 12, by the City of Hays for the Project’s 
Scope of Services: 

225



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

 Exhibit B 

PROJECT SCOPE 

 

The selected firm shall adhere to the requirements and expectations detailed in 
the City of Hays Policy “Guidelines and Expectations Policy to Develop 
Engineering Scope of Services for New Development”, revised 11/29/06, as it 
applies to this project.  In case of conflict between the RFP and the Policy, the 
RFP shall take precedence.  The requirements of the selected firm shall 
include, but not necessarily be limited to: 

1. Provide weekly reports to city staff of progress throughout the design 
stage. 

2. Meet with City Staff to review project scope and design strategy 

a. Coordinate with Hays Fire Department Staff for Fire Hydrant 
Locations. 

b. Coordinate with City Utilities Maintenance Staff for location of 
existing utilities and proposed alignment of new pipeline. 

c. Coordination with Service Division Superintendent regarding 
curb and pavement to be replaced. 

3. All necessary field survey to complete accurate design plans.  
Clarification: Right of Way to Right of Way topo survey along the 
alignment. 

  Further Clarification:   

• Current GIS information along with checking block and 
property corners found will be sufficient to establish right 
of way.  No need to research plats, deeds, etc.  

• Right of Way does not need to be established for each 
block.  A survey baseline down the centerline of the street 
or back of curb will suffice. 

• Survey needs to be done in state plane coordinates.  The 
City does not have control points or bench marks.  

4. Engineering design based on:  

a. City of Hays design standards 
b. Economy of construction 
c. Minimum interruption of water service for customers 
d. Minimum disruption to neighborhoods and traffic 
e. Maximum Fire Protection after completion of project – 

regarding location/spacing of fire hydrants. 
f. Maximum Fire Protection availability during construction 

5. Complete plans, specifications, and bid documents utilizing the City’s 
existing standard specifications and contract documents. 

226



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

a. The City would like to consider the use of HDPE on this and 
future waterline projects.  In the past, the City has only used 
Ductile Iron or C-900 PVC.  The selected firm will be expected 
to assist the City in developing or utilizing existing 
manufacturer specifications for material and installation to be 
included in the bid documents for this project as well as for use 
on future projects the City may let utilizing HDPE pipe. 

6. Identify any utility relocates necessary for construction. 

7. Identify any requirements for additional right of way or easement 
necessary.  Additional services related to property or easement 
acquisition beyond those specifically identified in the “Project 
Description” would be negotiated under separate contract. 

8. Complete application and all necessary requirements for KDHE permit 
approval. 

9. Prepare Engineer’s Estimates for Construction. 

10. Provide both reproducible adobe (.pdf) files and original editable 
digital source files (MS Word and AutoCAD) for all bid documents to 
allow the City to produce biddable documents and solicit bids in 
various phases in future years as construction funding becomes 
available. 

Bid Solicitation, Award of Bid, Construction Management and Inspection will 
be performed by City Staff.  

 

Project Descriptions 

A. Waterline upgrade-Fort Street, 13th to 20th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Replace with new 8” waterline and appurtenances.  Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.  Brick Streets are to be restored.  Directional 
drilling may be appropriate.  

d. Fort Street is a one-way street southbound and shall remain 
open to traffic during construction, but may be closed for 
limited periods of time to allow for street crossings, etc.  Local 
access to driveways should be considered where and when 
possible. 

227



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

B. Water line upgrade- Fort Street, 20th to 27th Street  

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenance. 

b. Replace with new 8” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Fort Street is a one-way street southbound and shall remain 
open to traffic during construction, but may be closed for 
limited periods of time to allow for street crossings, etc.  Local 
access to driveways should be considered where and when 
possible. 

C. Water line upgrade- 26th Street from Fort to Ash 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenance. 

b. Replace with new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections with new service lines. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. 26th Street may be closed to through traffic during construction, 
but access to local residences should maintained where 
practical. 

D. Waterline Upgrade – Oak Street, 20th to 26th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in park area between curb and 
sidewalk where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Oak Street may be closed in 2-3 block sections during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

228



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

E. Waterline Improvement-Hickory Street, 27th to 29th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 6” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Hickory Street may be closed to through traffic during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

F. Waterline Improvement-Ash Street, 27th to 29th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 6” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 6” waterline and appurtenances. Connect to 
existing distribution lines and reestablish all service 
connections. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

d. Ash Street may be closed to through traffic during 
construction, but access to local residences should maintained 
where practical. 

G. Waterline Improvement – 6th Street, Riley to Vine Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 
waterline and appurtenances. 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind curb where 
allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor condition 
adjacent to waterline work should be considered for 
replacement.   

d. 6th Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, but 
may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary. 

H. Waterline Improvement – Riley, from 6th to 8th Street 

a. Abandon in place and remove where feasible the existing 4” 
waterline and appurtenances. 

229



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

b. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances. 

c. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind curb where 
allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor condition 
adjacent to waterline work should be considered for 
replacement.   

d. Riley Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, 
but may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary. 

I. Water line looping-Elm Street, 1st to 4th Street 

a. Install new 8” waterline and appurtenances along Elm Street.  
Connect to existing water lines at 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th Streets. 

b. Consider installing waterline in right of way behind the curb 
where allowable.  Existing pavement and curb in poor 
condition should be considered for replacement.  All necessary 
pavement cuts should be full panel (approx.12’x12’) 
replacement.   

c. Elm Street shall remain open to traffic during construction, but 
may be closed for limited periods of time if necessary.   

J. 10-inch Sanitary Sewer Force Main Replacement, US-183 bypass 

a. Rehab/Replace approximately 2000 LF of existing 10-inch ductile 
iron sanitary sewer force main from the west side of 240th Avenue, 
east to approximately Big Creek.  Install air release valves and other 
appurtenances as required. 

b. Alternative construction methods (pipe bursting, lining, 
trenchless technologies) shall be considered for this project.  
Options for maintaining sanitary sewer service throughout 
construction must be considered. 

c. US-183 By-pass shall remain open to traffic during 
construction of this project. 

 

Addition notes related to all projects: 

1. All water mains shall be Ductile Iron, C-900 PVC, or HDPE based on 
an evaluation process involving the engineer. 

2. Replace, relocate, or add fire hydrants to provide improved fire 
protection capability in the area.  City staff will evaluate existing fire 
hydrants for the feasibility of reuse.  

3. Add gate valves as necessary to provide the isolation necessary to 
complete construction and allow for efficient future maintenance.  
Consider and balance the costs versus convenience. 

4. Provide new poly service lines to existing meter locations and evaluate 
the existing meter assemblies for replacement.   All existing service 
taps and meter assemblies will be replaced with the City’s standard 

230



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

pre-plumbed meter can assemblies and new poly service lines to the 
right of way line. 

5. Provide for reconnection to all adjacent water lines. 

6. Replace pavement, curb and sidewalk necessary for waterline work, 
and consider the replacement of failed pavement, curb and sidewalk in 
the vicinity of waterline work. 

7. Minimize the necessary removal of healthy trees.  Trees whose root 
structure is damaging to pavement may be considered for removal if 
no alternative exists. 

Deliverables to be provided by the Consultant to the City at no extra cost: 

1. Attend on-site kick-off meeting to gather preliminary data and review the 
project scope. 

2. Assist the City in evaluating the use of HDPE pipe in the City’s water and 
sewer systems and the impact that would have on inventory, operations, 
construction cost, future maintenance, etc.  Develop standard details and 
specification or adapt existing manufacturer specifications for materials 
and installation on this project and future projects. 

3. Preliminary Design Plans and Cost Estimates – two (2) copies full size 
plans for City staff review.  Should include any potential utility conflict or 
additional right of way/easement required.  Attend on-site preliminary 
design review meeting. 

4. Utility Conflict Plans – Provide utility conflict plans for the use of the city 
in coordinating with franchised utilities for utility clearance. 

5. Application and other required submittals to successfully obtain KDHE 
permits for construction of improvements. 

6. Final Draft Design Plans, updated construction cost estimate, and Contract 
Documents – two (2) copies full size plans for City Staff review.  Attend 
on-site final design plan review meeting.  Design Plans shall include Plan 
and Profile Sheets. 

7. Final Plans, Engineers Estimate of Construction Cost, and Bid Documents 
– two (2) paper copies to City, and reproducible digital files to allow City 
to provide bid documents to potential bidders. 

8. Electronic File of the contract documents and specs – in both MS Word 
and Adobe PDF format to City 

9. Electronic File of the Plan Set – in both AutoCAD and Adobe PDF format 
to City. 

10. Digital files of any legal descriptions, location maps, drawings, Bid 
Tabulation Forms listing bid items and quantities (in MS Excel format) or 
any other submittals listed above when requested by the City. 

 

 

231



Water Line Upgrades RFP 

November 26, 2012 (revised December 11, 2012) 

The City will furnish, as required for the project and not at the expense of the 
Consultant, the following: 

 

1. Water, Sanitary Sewer, and Storm Sewer utility information including size 
and locations in vicinity of project. 

2. Access to previous engineering studies, as-built plans, and other 
information available to the City to assist the consultant in preparing the 
design plans. 

3. Ortho Imagery and any other GIS data currently maintained by the City. 

232



 

 
KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING, INC.  2012 Waterline Upgrades/City of Hays, KS 
Agreement for Engineering Services – E12D0603   

Attachment II 

 
Fee Breakdown 

 

233



Task: Employee Hours Hourly Rate Extension

Project Research & Design Survey - Project Manager 26.0 $104.00 $2,704.00
Registered Land Surveyor 28.0 72.00 2,016.00
2-Person Survey Crew 118.0 108.00 12,744.00
Drafting Technician II 78.0 55.00 4,290.00

$21,754.00

Preliminary Plans & Cost Estimates - Project Manager 25.0 $104.00 $2,600.00
Senior Design Engineer (QA/QC) 5.0 94.00 470.00
Senior Drafting Technician 56.0 70.00 3,920.00

$6,990.00

Preliminary Plan Revisions - Project Manager 10.0 $104.00 $1,040.00
Senior Drafting Technician 20.0 70.00 1,400.00

$2,440.00

KDHE Permit Applications - Project Manager 10.0 $104.00 $1,040.00
Senior Drafting Technician 20.0 70.00 1,400.00

$2,440.00

Final Draft Plans, Updated Cost Estimate
& Draft Contract Documents - Project Manager 20.0 $104.00 $2,080.00

Senior Design Engineer (QA/QC) 10.0 94.00 940.00
Senior Drafting Technician 40.0 70.00 2,800.00
Administrative Assitant II 20.0 34.00 680.00

$6,500.00

Final Plans, Bid Documents
& Engineer's Estimate - Project Manager 20.0 $104.00 $2,080.00

Senior Design Engineer (QA/QC) 10.0 94.00 940.00
Senior Drafting Technician 20.0 70.00 1,400.00
Administrative Assitant II 20.0 34.00 680.00

$5,100.00

Subtotal = $45,224.00

Direct Expenses - Survey Truck Mileage (12 trips x 180 mi. @ $0.50/mi.) $1,080.00
Delivery/Postage 120.00
Copying/Printing 480.00

Total = $46,904.00

2012 Waterline Upgrades

COH Project 2012-22

City of Hays, Kansas

TOTAL FEE BREAKDOWN for PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES

234



  

COMMISSION INFORMATIONAL MEMORANDUM 
TO: City Commission 

FROM: Toby Dougherty, CPM 
 City Manager  

 

DATE: January 17, 2013 

 
 

Attached are the following items: 
 

1. The minutes of the October 17, 2012 meeting of the Ellis County Wellhead Protection 
Committee. 

 
2. The minutes of the November 5, 2012 meeting of the Fort Hays Municipal Golf Course 

Advisory Board. 
 

3. The minutes of the November 8, 2012 meeting of the Sister Cities Advisory Board. 
 
4. The minutes of the November 14, 2012 meeting of the Hays Area Board of Zoning 

Appeals. 
 

5. The minutes of the December 3, 2012 meeting of the Airport Advisory Committee. 
 

6. The minutes of the December 14, 2012 meeting of the Downtown Hays Development 
Corporation Board. 

 
7. The minutes of the December 19, 2012 meeting of the Hays Recreation Commission 

Board. 
 

8. The Great Lakes On-Time Report for January 2013. 

If you have any questions regarding this information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
aw 

City of Hays 
Office of the City Manager 

235



 

236



Minutes of the Ellis County Wellhead Protection Committee Meeting 
October 17, 2012 

 

Members Present:    John Heinrichs, Hendratta Ali, James Leiker, Bill Wilson 

Non-Voting members: Karen Purvis- Recording Secretary. Matt Windholz- City of Ellis 

Guests- None present  

 

John Heinrichs, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 7:19 PM. 

 

Minutes- There was one spelling error.  With that one correction it was moved and seconded that we accept the 

minutes as written.  Motion carried. 

 
Treasurer’s Report-  The treasurer was absent.  Previous balance was $979.40. 

 

Old Business- 

a) Events- Water festival- October 20-  Everybody had things going on, so John will let Stacie know 

that nobody from the WHP committee will be helping at the water festival at the mall. 

       World Water Monitoring Day-  There isn’t any surface water to test.  We discussed moving 

the event to the spring.  Need to talk to Stacie about tying it into Stacie’s Earth festival event that is 

held in April. 

    FHSU Sustainability Project- John discussed this project. 

b)  Education-    Status of Sternberg Outdoor Classroom/trail- They still need to run electrical lines to 

the gazebo.  James stated that an eagle scout plans to put in a dig pit on the trail.  

c)  Legislative-  A discussion was had about the candidates at the forum and their answers.  Other things 

that were discussed were water rights, and having a representative from the committee go to city and 

county commission meetings on a regular basis to discuss water issues. 

d)  Membership-  Elections are in January.  We need to think about new committee member to fill the 

vacant spots.   

e)  Research-  Pet waste efforts- John hasn’t found a student to work on the pet waste project.  City of 
Hays sign grant- John will check with Jude to see if she cut a check for the two pet waste stations. 

F)  Other-  Midwest Energy and other grants-  Karen stated that she received the letter from Midwest 

energy awarding the $660.00 grant.  She mailed the check to Jude, the treasurer. 

A discussion was had about having another educational tour.  It was agreed that a tour of the pack tower 

stripper would be a good tour.  Karen will ask Bill Heiman if we can tour this at our next meeting. 

New Business- None 

 

Date for Next Meeting-  The next meeting will be moved to November 14, 2012.  This is because the third 

Wednesday is the day before Thanksgiving.     

 

It was moved and seconded that we adjourn the meeting.  The meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

Submitted by Karen Purvis,  Recording Secretary 

237



 

238



Fort Hays Municipal Golf Course 
Advisory Board Meeting 

November 5, 2012 
 

In Attendance: 
Bill Bieker, President    Jeff Boyle, Director, Parks Department     
Karen Schueler, Secretary   Travis Haines, Parks Superintendent    
Doug Huston     Mike Cure, Golf Course Superintendent    
Ron Speier      
Jim Krob          
Ron Augustine, Men’s Association  (absent) Bob Wilhelm, Historical Society       
Janet Schmidt, Ladies Association    Rich Guffey, ProShop Manager, Tournament Chair   
 
Guest:  Dan McMillan, FHGC member 
 
 The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by President Bill Bieker.     
 

1.  Approval of the minutes from October 1, 2012, meeting:  Approved.    
 
2.  Board membership:  current status  -  appointed members (3 year terms)  
Bill Bieker  07/01/15   (4th term)    Ron Speier, 07/01/13   (1st term) 
Karen Schueler 07/01/15   (5th term)  Doug Huston 7/01/14  (4th term, non consecutive) 
      Jim Krob  07/01/14   (1st term) 
 
 3.  Historical Fort Hays:   
Shelter House by #3 Tee Box:  Bob Wilhelm reported that he and Karen had met and looked at the site by #3 tee 
box as a potential location for a shelter.  There should not be a problem with interfering with anything of 
historical importance.  He contacted the state historical office, and they requested more information regarding the 
size, type of structure and foundation.  Karen shared a few ideas of possible designs.  The group discussed more 
about the location and historical issues.  Rich, Mike and Bob will measure the area.   
 

4.  Old Business:      
Junior Golf Fee:  With input from Rich Guffey, there was discussion on how such a fee would be administered, 
what kind of rules might be needed, and other variables.  Rich feels that if a child or young golfer is playing a full 
round, they are taking up the same space and time as an adult.  Younger ones might even be slower.  The current 
fee has been working, with no parents protesting the cost.  Jeff will check with other courses on how they handle 
this.   
 

 5.  New Business:   
Election of Officers, tabled from October meeting:  Bill Bieker will continue as President, and Karen Schueler as 
Secretary.  Jim Krob was elected Vice President.   
 
(6:05 pm:  Bill Bieker and Doug Huston excused themselves from the rest of the meeting, due to other 
commitments.  Karen Schueler then chaired the rest of the meeting.)   
 
 6.  Pro-Shop report:  Rich Guffey provided the following: 
 
 Rounds Played  Year‐to‐Date 

Rounds Played 
Green Fees  Total Green Fees for Year 

October 2012  1504  22,067  $ 4,967.00  $ 112,652.00 
October 2011  1697  22,418  $ 6,471.00  $ 101,127.00 
October 2010  2397  23,860     

239



 2

September 2012  2328  20,563  $ 13,271.00   
September 2011  2854  20,721     
September 2010  2859       
August 2012  3665     $ 15,324.00  $ 98,458.00 
August 2011  3457     $ 16,720.00   
August 2010  3584       

 
July 2012  3110  14,570     
July 2011  3515  14,410     
July 2010  3936  15,020     

 
 January, 2012  23          
 February, 2012  474          
 February 2011  0        
March 2012  2139    $ 11,648   
March 2011  1313       
March 2010  984       
April 2012  2564    $ 15,313   
May 2012  3203    $ 17,221   
May 2011  3279    $ 15,152   
May 2010  3430       
June 2012  2980    $14,717   
June 2011  3545    #14,927   
June 2012  3583       

 
Rounds are down for October due to colder weather, and the back nine being closed.  Rich shared a letter inviting 
a representative to attend the Annual Meeting of Kansas Golf Association Member Clubs the end of November in 
Topeka.  Karen volunteered.  Jeff asked to check further on this.     
     Rich asked if a mailbox could be put by #2 tee box to replace the current box for score cards, which leaks 
water. He suggested that box be moved to the outside of the club house, so that players can easily access cards, 
rather than having to come back inside.  Mike will look for a different box for #2, but would rather not have a 
mailbox.   
  
 7.  Tournament report:   Nothing to report. 
 
8.  Course report:  Mike’s monthly report indicated that the greens are starting to go dormant, and are being 
mowed two to three times a week.  Tees, fringes and fairways are growing more that the greens but are starting to 
slow down as well.  They have over seeded the areas on the back nine with rye grass, where the mounds were 
removed.  This will provide a cover crop and let the blue grass emerge in the spring.  If the weather stays 
reasonably warm, there should be time for some more growth.  The tee markers will come off the boxes this 
week.  He plans to open the back nine this week, with the intentions of keeping it open all winter, depending on 
the weather.  They want to keep it open this winter, if possible, cart paths only.  There is a lot of new grass on the 
back nine in locations where it has never grown, and it is a responsibility of the golfers to be careful and not cause 
damage.  The front nine is showing a lot of stress on the fairways, due to cart traffic.   If there is too much wear 
and tear on the new grass on the back nine, they may have to shut it down, again.   
 
9.  Parks Department update:  Jeff Boyle:  nothing to add that has not already been discussed.   
  
10.  Women’s Association report:    Inactive, no report. 
 
11.  Men’s Association report:  Inactive, no report. 
 
Add-ons:    
Rich:  Asked if it might be a good idea to limit the number of carts in a group to no more than three.  Quite often, 
four or five player use four and five carts, rather than riding with someone.  This contributes to wear on the 

240



 3

course, unless it is cart paths only.  It was decided this would be difficult to enforce with members who have their 
own carts, and who pay cart path fees.  It was suggested that Rich post a sign asking players to ride two in a cart, 
and make an effort to reduce the number of carts.  This should also be discussed within the Men’s and Ladies 
Associations in the spring.   
 
Janet:  asked about the stile that used to be on the fence line by #4 men’s tee box, where golfers could step up on 
to see down the fairway.  That was removed due to being unsafe.   
 
Jeff:  stated that Rich’s contract is up the end of the year.  He is recommending a four year extension, giving some 
time for the whole course to be opened again, and more accurate data gathered by the time the contract expires 
again.   
 
   
 Adjourned:  7:50 pm.  Submitted by Karen Schueler, Secretary   November 15, 2012 

241



 

242



Hays Sister Cities Advisory Board Agenda 
        Thursday November 8, 2012  

Commerce Bank – Noon 
 

Call to Order –Meeting was called to order at 12:06 pm in the Commerce Bank conference 
room by Ann Leiker.  

 
Members Present:  Ann Leiker, Mehran Shahidi, Ed Stehno, Greg Sund, Armando 
Orozco, Carol Solko-Olliff, Max Maximov and Jenny Jiang  

 
Members Absent: Tom Thomas and Pat Austin 
 
Before the meeting started, Ms. Kelly Nuckolls, Coordinator of the Global Leadership 
project talked about what the Global Leadership office does and a community service 
project abroad over the upcoming 2013 spring break.  Ms. Nuckolls had talked to Marianna 
Beach about Paraguay and the history and connection that Hays has with our sister city in 
Paraguay and if a service project might be possible there.   Given the amount of time and 
organization it would take to coordinate a trip to Paraguay for spring 2013, the Global 
Leadership group decided to pursue a different route for this year.  The group will go to 
Guatemala City and is working with Cross Cultural Solutions who does all the organization 
and coordinating.  The reason Guatemala City was chosen is that it was the most 
affordable and closest option.  There are seven (7) students who were selected to 
participate on the trip.  This will give the Global Leadership group an opportunity to learn 
how to plan their own sponsored trip in the future.  Ms. Nuckoll’s indicated that the cost per 
student was $2,775.00 which includes travel, lodging, food and other expenses, for a total 
of $19,425 for the group and that the Global Leadership office had raised some, but not all 
the funds through the Student Government Association and other departments and offices 
on campus.  It was hoped that students would not have much “out of pocket” expense to 
participate on the trip.  This was also a reason for Ms. Nuckolls to visit with the Sister 
Cities Board, to see is some financial support might be available. Based on the experience 
and what they learn, the Global Leadership group would like to build a coalition with the 
Sister Cities committee and maybe pursue a project with Sias International University and 
our Sister City in China next summer since we already have some connections in place 
and perhaps Paraguay in the future.    Ed S. suggested that the group may want to contact 
the Kansas Partners Program as they may have funds available to support projects that 
work with and/or benefit Kansas Sister Cities.  After Kelly finished her presentation and 
left, the board discussed the merits of supporting the service project to Guatemala City.  It 
was moved by Ed S. and seconded by Armando O. to provided $500.00 to help support 
this initiative.   
  
Minutes:  Carol S. presented minutes from the October 11, 2012 meeting.  It was moved 
by Greg S. and seconded by Mehran S. to approve the minutes.  Minutes were approved.   

 
Treasurer’s Report:   Armando O. passed out the current financial statement for Tom T. 
who could not be at the meeting.  The balance as of October 31, 2012 is $15,700.80.               
It was moved by Mehran S. and seconded by Greg S. to approve the treasurer report.  
Treasurer’s report was approved.    

 

243



Additions to the Agenda – No additions were made 
 

Old Business 
 
FHSU International Student Report –  Carol S. reported about the International 
Education Week (IEW) activities that would be held during the week of November 12-16 on 
campus.   Armando O. asked that the schedule be sent to him to be posted on the Sister 
Cities Facebook page.      
 
Ross Beach Memorial –  Sternberg project -  Ed S. reported that Hays Public Library 
has been directing people to the YouTube video or website to view the Paraguay video.  
Sternberg Museum is also currently using the web to display the video but is working on a 
adding a station or monitor in the lobby that will contain the video in the future.   
 
New German Partner City – Max M. reported that he had researched the possible cities 
in Germany that might be a good match for us to explore.  Max M. passed out to the 
committee a map of Germany with three (3) possible cities along with information about 
each of them.  Max discussed the merits of each of the cities he proposed for 
consideration.  The cities are Essen, Mulheim and Velbert.   He will continue to review 
possible cities and on one of his next trips to Germany and do some additional research.  
Max would like the committee to again think about what we can bring to a new Sister City 
and what we would hope to benefit from it.     

 
Hispanic Celebration:  Ann L. and Armando O. are working on this project.   Armando will 
contact Fr. Fred Gatschett at the Catholic Campus Center and set a time up to discuss the 
best way to approach working with the Hays Hispanic community. 
 
Web-site and Facebook Page – Armando O. reported that the Facebook page is up and 
ready to post events or activities so please send them to him.  He also said for those who 
have a Facebook account you and “like” the Sister Cities page. 
 
New Business 
 
Renewal of Advisory Board Members -  It was noted that Ann Leiker, Pat Austin and 
Mehran Shahidi terms will expire in January, 2013.   Ed S. moved and Carol S. seconded 
a motion to ask them to submit an application to remain on the Sister Cities Advisory 
Board.  Motion carried.    

 
Next Meeting Date – It was discussed to change our meeting time to 4:30 pm to better 
accommodate those who have limited time over the lunch hour.  A December meeting will 
not be held, with the next meeting being January 10, 2013 at 4:30 pm.  At this time a 
regular meeting time will be established.   
 
Meeting was adjourned at 1:10 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted by: Carol Solko-Olliff 
 
 

244



 

 1

HAYS AREA BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS  
 COMMISSION CHAMBERS IN CITY HALL  

MINUTES  
NOVEMBER 14, 2012 

8:15 A.M. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER:      The Hays Area Board of Zoning Appeals met at the regularly 
scheduled meeting on Wednesday, November 14, 2012 at 8:15 a.m. in Commission 
Chambers of City Hall.  Vice-Chairman Lou Caplan declared that a quorum was 
present and called the meeting to order. 
 
Present:       Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson                 Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort  
   
City Staff Present: Jesse Rohr, Superintendent and Linda Bixenman, Administrative 
Secretary of Planning, Inspection and Enforcement 
                                 
2. MINUTES:  There was a motion by Jerry Sonntag with a second by Gerald Befort 
to approve the minutes from the September 12, 2012 meeting. 
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
3.      CASE #18-12     L & J RENTAL     EXCEPTION    LOT 2, BLOCK 9, GOLDEN BELT 8TH    ZONED “C-0”  
Jesse Rohr presented the newly platted property located at 17th and Harvest Road on 
the overhead.  He explained that the property has been replatted from one lot to 
twenty-four lots with an alley on the south end. Property owners abutting the subject 
property were notified of this public hearing.  
 
Laverne W Schumacher, owner of L & J Rental, presented the application to request 
an exception for a special use permit to allow multi-family housing, specifically 
duplexes within a “C-O” Office and Institution District on the above property.  The 
property has remained vacant for 40 plus years.   The property is currently surrounded 
by multi-family housing to the west, commercial office space to the south, a park to 
the east and single family housing to the north.  The development will compliment the 
mixed use area and add more affordable housing. 
 
Bill Wilson asked if there were any comments from the neighbors.  Jesse Rohr answered 
that there were no public comments on this request and there were no public 
comments during the platting process.  
 
Lou Caplan asked if there were any comments from the audience. 
 
Sonci Lasley, representative of Oak Park Medical Complex at 2501 E 13th Street, came 
before the commission with several questions.     She asked about the alley and what 
the setback would be from the medical complex property to the subject property.  
She also asked about the stormwater drainage if a hard surface is established on the 
subject property. 
 

245



 

 2

Jesse Rohr answered that this would be a public alley primarily for access.  The 
medical complex property would be 35 feet away from the new development.  It 
would include the 20 foot alley and 15 foot building setback.  An approved 
engineering plan that consists of the stormwater drainage is required before utilities 
and streets can be constructed.   
 
Ms Lasley asked for the setbacks for the medical complex property to construct a six 
foot fence to the north from Augusta to Harvest Road.  Jesse Rohr explained that a 
fence is allowed on the property line.  
 
Lou Caplan explained the considerations and factors to be considered by the board 
for this special use request. 
 
There was a motion by Bill Wilson with a second by Jerry Sonntag to grant the 
exception for the special use permit to allow multi-family housing, specifically 
duplexes in a “C-O” Office and Institution Zoning District on the property of Lot 2, Block 
9, Golden Belt 8th Addition based on the required considerations and factors.  
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
4.      CASE #19-12   THOMAS COKER JR & JANZEN LIVING TRUST    EXCEPTION  1300 MAIN    ZONED “C-2”  
5.      CASE #20-12   THOMAS COKER JR & JANZEN LIVING TRUST    EXCEPTION  1300 MAIN    ZONED “C-2”  
Jesse Rohr presented the above property on the overhead.    The applicant is 
requesting a special use permit for a plumbing shop on the north side and residential 
use on the south side of the building at the above address that is allowed within a “C-
2” General Commercial and Service zoning district with a special use permit.  Because 
the owner was unaware a special use permit is required, it is currently being used for 
both of those uses.   Property owners abutting the subject property were notified of the 
public hearing.   There are two separate applications. 
 
Since the property is a listed historical property, staff contacted the State Preservation 
Office in Topeka.  The Kansas Historical Society sent a letter of approval of the 
respective uses.    
 
Jesse Rohr read the conditions required by staff to include if the exceptions are 
approved. 
 
Thomas Coker Jr., applicant, presented the applications requesting the exceptions for 
the special use permit within the “C-2” General Commercial and Service District.  
 
Jerry Sonntag asked if green space would be required.  He asked if he had attained 
the proper permits necessary to meet the fire rated codes for the separation wall 
between the plumbing shop and the residence.  Jesse Rohr answered that no green 
space would be required.  A concrete block separates the two uses to meet the four 
hour fire rated wall.  There were only cosmetic changes on the side of the residential 
use.   
 

246



 

 3

Gerald Befort asked Mr. Coker if he resides in the residence.   
 
Mr. Coker answered that he does reside in the residence.     
 
Lou Caplan asked if there were any comments from the audience.   
 
George Vitztum, owner of Carpet One of Hays, 113 E 13th Street, came before the 
commission to explain that he would like the property to remain commercial.  He was 
not opposed to the plumbing shop; although he was opposed to the residential use.  
He pointed out this was spot zoning; it would not be in the best interest of the business 
property owners along 13th Street.   
 
Stan Dreiling, owner of James Motor Company, 107 and 108 E 13th Street, came before 
the commission to concur with George Vitztum.  He was not opposed to the plumbing 
shop; although he was opposed to the residential use.   
 
Bill Wilson asked if there was adequate parking for the residential side. He also asked 
Mr. Coker if he is the owner or in the process of purchasing the property from Janzen.   
Tom Coker answered that he is in the process of purchasing the property from Janzen 
and that the owner had signed off on the application.  There is adequate parking.   He 
emphasized the care he has taken with the property to keep it neat and clean and 
free from pipe laying around.   Because of the expense to start a new business, this 
would benefit him for his business and his residence. 
 
Lou Caplan explained that the first motion would be to approve or disapprove the 
exception of the plumbing shop and the second motion would be to approve or 
disapprove the residential use. 
 
There was a motion by Jerry Sonntag with a second by Gerald Befort to grant the 
exception for a special use permit to allow a plumbing shop in a “C-2” General 
Commercial and Service District on the north side of the building at 1300 Main based 
on the required considerations and factors subject to the following conditions: 
 
1.  No outdoor storage of materials from the business is allowed on site.   
2.  No physical changes to the exterior of the structure are allowed. 
3.  All building/fire codes must be met for the residence/business. 
4.  Approved by the Kansas Historical Society (has been pre-approved) 
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
Lou Caplan entertained a motion on the exception for the owner-occupied 
residence. 
 
There was a motion by Bill Wilson with a second by Gerald Befort to disapprove the  
special use request for the south side of the building to be owner-occupied based on 
the considerations pointed out by the comments from Mr. Vitztum and Mr. Dreiling. 
 

247



 

 4

Tom Coker Sr., father of the applicant, spoke up from the audience emphasizing that 
his son has done an amazing job fixing up that building.  He addressed the two citizens 
in opposition to the exception to explain that this would make their businesses look 
better because of this improvement to that area.  He pointed out that there are many 
residential uses on the top level of many businesses downtown.   One audience 
member with Mr. Coker said they had some pictures of the improvements; although 
they did not have them at the meeting. 
 
George Vitztum pointed out that they had no problem with the plumbing shop; his 
concern was the rezoning classification to residential use downtown would devalue his 
business property.   Jerry Sonntag and Jesse Rohr explained that this was not a 
rezoning classification but just an exception within the “C-2” zoning district.  If the 
applicant vacates the premises, the exception automatically goes away.   
 
George Vitztum stated that he had no problem with it if the zoning classification 
stayed as “C-2”.   
 
Bill Wilson asked Mr. Vitztum and Mr. Dreiling that voiced opposition to the request, if 
they were no longer opposed to the exception knowing that the property will remain 
zoned “C-2”.   Both Gerald Vitztum and Stan Dreiling stated that they had no problem 
with the request knowing that the zoning classification would remain “C-2”. 
 
Bill Wilson withdrew his motion. 
 
There was a motion by Jerry Sonntag with a second by Gerald Befort to grant the 
exception for a special use permit to allow an owner-occupied residential use in a “C-
2” General Commercial and Service District on the south side of the building at 1300 
Main Street based on the required considerations and factors subject to the following 
conditions. 
 
1.  No outdoor storage of materials from the business is allowed on site.   
2.  No physical changes to the exterior of the structure are allowed. 
3.  The living unit must remain owner/occupied and not be allowed as a rental. 
4.  All building/fire codes must be met for the residence/business. 
5.  Approved by the Kansas Historical Society (has been Pre-approved) 
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
6.      CASE #21-12     THOMAS L ZIMMERMAN       520 W 21ST       VARIANCE  ZONED “R-3”  
Jesse Rohr presented the property on the overhead.   Per Jesse Rohr’s notes in the 
agenda packet, there is no alley access to the lot and no parking on Hall Street.  There 
should not be any impact on adjacent property including the City Right-of-Way along 
Hall Street.  Property owners abutting the subject property were notified of the public 
hearing.  
 

248



 

 5

Thomas Zimmerman presented the request for a 14 foot variance to reduce the west 
side yard building setback from the required twenty-five feet to eleven feet to 
construct an attached carport or enclosed garage. 
 
There were no particular questions other than inquiries of the lot.  Jerry Sonntag said he 
did not see any problems since there would not be any street widening in that 
direction.   
 
Lou Caplan asked if there were any comments from the audience.  There were none.   
 
There was a motion by Jerry Sonntag with a second by Gerald Befort to grant the 
fourteen foot (14’) variance to reduce the west side yard building setback from the 
required twenty-five feet (25’) to eleven feet (11’) based on the consideration it does 
meet the five statutory requirements.  
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
7      CASE #22-12     4-STAR LLC      3301 HWY 183 ALT       EXCEPTION       ZONED “A-L”  
Jesse Rohr presented the property on the overhead.  He explained that the site was 
formerly the Bahl Mobile Home Park that is currently vacant.   Property owners abutting 
the subject property were notified of the public hearing.  
 
Jesse Rohr stated that prior to this request, someone had tried to rezone the property 
to “Commercial and Service District”.  The Planning Commission and City Commission 
denied the rezoning request because of the inherit risk of the flood plain on 
commercial land uses.    
 
Bob Swift and Troy Weigel, owners, presented their application to request an 
exception for a special use permit to allow construction of a recreational vehicle 
campground within an agriculture zoning district on the above property to 
accommodate all sizes of recreational vehicles going up and down interstate.  This 
would include accommodations for recreational vehicles that are valued at 
$100,000.00 to $300,000.00 or more.  They explained that the development does have 
an existing maintained street with curb and gutter.  They felt this was an ideal plan and 
logical location close to the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex and the Fort Hays State 
University College.       
 
They plan to abandon the private sewer and water wells and hook up to city sewer 
and maybe city water.   
 
Gerald Befort asked if the property was in the flood zone.   Jesse Rohr answered that 
the property was in the flood plain.  Bill Wilson asked if there is a concern for the RV’s 
parked on this property because of it being in the flood plain.   Bob Swift answered 
that because the vehicles are mobile is the reason the RV’s are allowed to park on 
property in a flood plain.   
 

249



 

 6

Jesse Rohr emphasized that any building and the utility connects would have to be 
built out of the 100 year flood plain.   He explained that the owners have hired a 
consultant whose main job is to design recreational vehicle campgrounds.  They have 
met with him on the proposed plans that do meet the city’s regulations.    
 
There are not many viable uses for this property in the flood plain; this could be one of 
the uses that could work.   He provided a list of factors for the board to consider on this 
request.  He also provided a list of conditions that would be required if the exception 
was approved.  
 
Bill Wilson asked if there were any comments from the nearby property owners.  
 
Jesse Rohr answered that a property owner to the south with their land for sale was 
opposed to the exception.     
 
The developer proposing a development to the south and east across Alternate 183 is 
aware of this request and had no problem with it. 
 
Mrs. Victor Eddy, neighbor on 230th Avenue, had called stating that she did not feel it 
was appropriate use near residential properties.  She was concerned a recreational 
park campground would draw transients and pose a safety risk.   
 
Jerry Sonntag explained that there is a misconception of the difference between a 
mobile home park and a recreational vehicle campground.  In his traveling 
experience throughout the country, the concern for transients is very low in an RV 
park.    He expressed that this property would be ideal for an RV park.  
 
Lou Caplan pointed out that mobile homes would not be allowed per the zoning 
regulations. 
 
Bill Wilson asked if there was an allotted amount of time for parking at the RV park.  
Bob Swift stated that the allotted time would be on a case by case bases; no skirting is 
allowed to prevent permanent parking.  There may be work crews on jobs that may 
need an extended stay.   
 
Lou Caplan noted that the comprehensive plan reflects this area as Urban Reserve for 
possible future residential development; he asked if screening would be required for 
this project. Jesse Rohr answered that it would require screening if the nearby 
properties are ever rezoned to residential land uses. It does not apply now because all 
the surrounding property is in the agriculture zoning classification.   
 
Lou Caplan entertained a motion. 
 
There was a motion by Jerry Sonntag with a second by Gerald Befort to grant the 
exception for a special use permit to allow the construction of a recreational vehicle 
campground within an “A-L” Agriculture zoning district at 3301 Hwy 183 Alternate  

250



 

 7

based on the required considerations and factors subject to the following restrictions 
listed as follows: 
 
1.  KDOT approval of the change in use for the driveway entrance off of Highway 183 
Alternate. 
2. Adequate public water and sewer are supplied to the site. 
3. Road maintenance issues are in agreement between Ellis County and the Owners. 
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
8.      REORGANIZATION TO VOTE FOR CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN FOR THE HAYS 
AREA BOARD OF ZONING: 
 
There was a motion by Gerald Befort with a second by Bill Wilson for Lou Caplan to be 
Chairman and Jerry Sonntag to be Vice-Chairman of the Hays Area Board of Zoning  
 
Vote:  Ayes:    Lou Caplan             Bill Wilson             Jerry Sonntag                Gerald Befort 
 
The board adjourned at 9:03 a.m.  
 
Submitted by: Linda K. Bixenman, Administrative Secretary, 
                         Planning, Inspection and Enforcement  
 

251



 

252



Airport Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 
December 3, 2012 
 
Members Present; 
Gary Wentling 
Errol Wuertz 
Mike Konz 
Don Benjamin 
Ron Mellick - guest 
I.D. Creech - guest 
Bob Johnson 
John Braun - guest 
Chris Springer 
Dan Stecklein 
Lyle Noordhoek 
 
1.) Call to order. 
 
2.) Approval of the November 5, 2012 minutes. 
Minutes showed wrong date for next meeting, I should have been December 3, 2012. 
 
3.) Discuss Handbook for Committees. 
Members will read the handbook and discuss at the next meeting if necessary. 
 
4.) Discuss proposed Airport Capital Plan. 
John Braun presented the proposed capital plan for the airport.  The proposed FAA funded 
projects and time line were discussed.  The snow blower project is almost approved but will not 
be available till next year.  Next is the terminal building rehabilitation project.  At this time it has 
not been decided if the terminal changes will be an FAA funded project or a City funded project. 
 
After the project time line was discussed, a motion by Don Benjamin was made to present the 
plan to the FAA.  Gary Wentling seconded the motion and it passed with all members voting 
favorably. 
 
5.) Discuss FAA Part 139 Inspection Results. 
During the inspection there were a few minor findings.  Examples of findings were some of the 
runway markings needing changes and a fuel truck having a leaking gasket problem.   
 
6.) Discuss FAA Flight Standards. 
The FAA had inspected the runway approach and PAPI lights.  Everything passed inspection. 
 
7.) Discuss Christmas Open House. 
The activity was a success again this year with over 300 people attending.  There were plenty of 
volunteers to help the event go smoothly.  This event is one of three public events during the 
year that the City sponsors.   
 

253



 
8.) Discuss Update on the 2013 Fly-In. 
A date has not yet been set for the event.  It is being planned for the next Fly-In to be more 
aviation related instead of a multi-activity event.  It might be planned to coincide with the 
completion of one of the capital projects. 
 
9.) Discuss Snow Removal. 
If Hays has a major snowfall, Bob Johnson will be on 24 hour call.  If someone needs to get their 
airplane out, Bob will do everything he can to help remove snow.  However he will not be 
moving snow for hangars where no aviation activity is planned.  The FBO is considering getting 
some snow removal equipment but is not certain at this time if they will be able to get enough 
work to pay for it. 
 
10.) Discuss Rules and Regulations; Minimum Standards. 
The rules and regulations that were examined and commented upon by the committee will be 
presented to the City Manager for approval. 
 
11.) Add-On’s 
Ron Mellick - Encouraged the minutes to be published timely so that City Commissioners have 
time to examine them. 
 
I.D. Creech - City is working on securing funding from FAA to get projects started. 
 
Dan Stecklein - Hangar sales are now required to be recorded by the Register of Deeds before 
the County Appraiser will assign correct owner to property tax records. 
 
12.) Schedule Next Meeting. 
January 7, 2013. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Errol Wuertz 
 

254



Downtown Hays Development Corporation 
Board of Directors Meeting 

December 14, 2012 
4:00 – Welcome Center 
Attendees:  Board Members/Staff:  Traci Konrade, Andy Rupp, Michele Flax, Sandy Jacobs, Michael 
Billinger, Bill Overbey, Chris Wente, Eddie Perrett, Pam Joy, Paul Briseno, Elodie Jones, Henry Schwaller, 
and new board members Karen Dreiling and Sara Cearley 

Absent:  Jeff Wick, Stacey Smith 

Public Comment:  None 

Approval of Minutes:  Upon motion made by Sandy and seconded by Eddie, the November 2012 
meeting minutes were approved as presented. 

Treasurer’s Report:  Eddie presented the financials prepared by Henry.  Current assets include 
checking/savings accounts, money market accounts and certificates of deposits ($91,435.79), A/R 
contributions ($1,312.00) and undeposited funds.  Expenses include staffing, operations and overhead, 
etc. There are still outstanding receivables from Wines & Steins. Henry joined the meeting and added 
that events have been looked at differently, and each event makes money. He stated how important this 
is for the organization to continue to move forward.  Financials were moved for acceptance by Eddie 
and seconded by Henry and passed unanimously. 

Current Business:  Karen Dreiling and Sara Cearley were introduced as new Board members to begin 
their time in January, 2013.  Ballots to approve their appointment were sent to all persons who donated 
during 2012. Traci reported approximately 30% off the ballots were returned. 

New Business:  The list of prospective donors for the Partnership Program was passed around for the 
Board to designate who they would like to contact before the letters were mailed.  The letters are ready 
to mail.  The goal is $19,000 and $5,600 has already been collected to date.   This amount includes the 
annual pledges.  Articles of Incorporation were approved as presented and adopted after a motion by 
Michele and seconded by Sandy.  The Articles can now be sent to Dave Herl, our accountant, so he can 
complete preparation for our change to a 501C3. Welcome Center Occupancy Renewal:  There are no 
changes in the renewal contract which will extend the lease until 2014.  This is a month‐to‐month 
contract with a 90‐days cancellation notice.  Motion to approve was made by Bill and seconded by Andy.  
Motion carried. 

Committee Up‐dates:   Michele had no up‐dates on the pavilion.  A new site is being looked at.  Traci 
will be sending a letter to all those who have donated explaining the delay.  A few presentations to 
various civic groups are helping get the facts out to the general public.  It was suggested to start working 
with the university.   

 

255



Events/Fundraising:  FrostFest 2013 was deemed VERY successful.  There were 40 entries and the 
streets were crowded with parade watchers.  It was suggested to get FHSU more involved, but the 
timing is not good for the students.  Traci announced that the downtown sponsored FHSU game is 
January 10, 2013, and she is hoping for great participation by the Board. 

The meeting was adjourned. 

 

256



HAYS RECREATION COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
December 19, 2012 

 
Chair called the meeting to order at 11am. 
Roll Call   
Chair   Todd Lynd 
Vice-Chair  Jeff Briggs 
Secretary  Mark Junk 
Commissioner Nancy Jeter 
Commissioner Lynn Maska 
Superintendent Roger Bixenman 
 
Commissioner Nancy Jeter arrived at 11:05am.     
Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Mark Junk to approve the agenda. Second by Lynn Maska.  Motion carried 4-
0. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
Motion by Mark Junk to approve the minutes of the regular meeting for November 20, 
2012.  Second by Lynn Maska.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
Audience Participation 
Melissa Romme with ABB&B was present to answer any questions concerning the 
financial statement. Melissa visited with the board about projections for the end of the 
year and recommendations for retiring more debt on the building payment before the 
end of 2012 and amount of budget authority left for 2012.    
 
Written Communication 
Thank you letters were shared with the board.   
 
Finances 
Financial Statement 
Motion by Lynn Maska to approve the financial statement for November 2012.  Second 
by Nancy Jeter.  Motion carried 5-0.    
 
 Staff Reports 
Sports Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning sports. 
Program Director 
Information concerning all programming was shared with the board.  
Aquatics Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning aquatics. 
Wellness Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning wellness. 
 

257



 
Sports Complex Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning the sports complex.    
Superintendent 
Information was shared with the board concerning HRC time clock issues and 
evaluating a new time clock system.  Information on participation numbers were shared 
with the board.  The board was reminded of the joint meeting with the City of Hays will 
be held Thursday, December 20, 2012 at 6:30pm.    
    
Unfinished Business 
No Unfinished Business 
 
New Business 
Approval of 2013 Staff Raises 
Motion by Jeff Briggs to approve staff raises for 2013 as recommended by the 
Superintendent.  Second by Mark Junk.  Motion carried 5-0.   
 
Consideration of Retiring Debt for 2012 
Motion by Mark Junk to encumber the remainder of the budget authority in the General 
Fund Budget to the City of Hays for the building lease payment out of the 2012 budget 
after payment of all liabilities per the Purchase Order Number 38746.   Second by 
Nancy Jeter.  Motion carried 5-0.   
.   
 
Board Member Reports 
None 
 
Other Action 
None 
 
Executive Session  
Motion by Mark Junk to move in to executive session to discuss personnel for a period 
not to exceed 40 minutes.  Second by Lynn Maska.  Motion carried 5-0.  Board went in 
to executive session at 11:40am.   
 
Board returned to regular meeting 12:20pm.     
   
Adjournment 
Motion by Lynn Maska to adjourn the meeting.  Second by Jeff Briggs.  Motion carried 
5-0.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Roger Bixenman CPRP 
Superintendent 
 

258



Great Lakes Airlines On-Time Report

 
 

Jan-13 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Under 
15 Min  

On-Time

15-44 
Min 
Late

45-74 
Min 
Late

75 -104 
Min 
Late

105 
Min 
Late 
or 

more Canceled

Mon-Fri
630 C x x x x x x x C 78% 22%
645 C x x x x x x x C 78% 22%

1016 x x L L x x L L L 44% 33% 11% 11%
1026 L L L L x x L x L 33% 33% 22% 11%
1311 x x x L L x x C C 56% 22% 22%
1321 x x x L L x x C C 56% 11% 11% 22%
1425 L x x L C x x C C 44% 22% 33%
1435 L x x L C x x C C 44% 22% 33%
1626 x L L x L x x C L 44% 33% 11% 11%
1636 x L L x L x x C L 44% 33% 11% 11%
2156 x x x x x x x C L 78% 11% 11%
2206 x x x x x x x C L 78% 11% 11%

Saturday
715 x x 100%
725 x x 100%

1250 x x 100%
1300 x L 50% 50%
1406 x x 100%
1416 x x 100%
1931 x L 50% 50%
1941 x L 50% 50%

Sunday
845 x x 100%
855 x x 100%

1250 x x 100%
1300 x x 100%
1626 x x 100%
1636 x x 100%
2156 x x 100%
2206 x x 100%

Average 64% 16% 4% 0% 3% 13%
No time logged =na
Late=L Total Flights - 140 90 22 6 0 4 18
On Time=x
Canceled=C Percentage of flights delayed or canceled 36%

On time means </= 15 minutes

259


	1-24-13 City Commission Meeting Agenda 
	1-10-13 City Commission Meeting Minutes
	December 2012 Financial Statement
	Mayoral Appointment Recommendation - Sister Cities Advisory Board 
	Request by Ellis County - Support for Sales Tax Legislation
	Restriping of 27th Street between Plum and Hall
	Bike Hays Master Plan
	Transportation Enhancement Grant Application - Hike and Bike
	Developer Agreement - Wheatland Lots
	Engineering Agreement - Waterline Design
	Commission Informational Memorandum
	10-17-12 Ellis County Wellhead Protection Committee Minutes
	11-5-12 Fort Hays Municipal Golf Course Advisory Board Minutes
	11-8-12 Hays Sister Cities Advisory Board Minutes
	11-14-12 Hays Area Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes
	12-3-12 Airport Advisory Committee Minutes
	12-14-12 DHDC Minutes
	12-19-12 HRC Board Meeting Minutes
	Great Lakes Airlines On-Time Report - January 2013



